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Friday, March 30, 2007

     --- Upon commencing at 9:31 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rodger.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  First, to update the Board as to the progress made by the parties since the Board rendered its decision yesterday.  We now collectively have had several discussions over the afternoon, evening and this morning, and I think with respect to what documents are irrelevant and should be removed from the record, I think essentially we're there or just about there.  


What we're proposing is that we proceed with the AMPCO evidence and Dr. Murphy's testimony this morning, and then over the lunch hour together put forward one consolidated document of all the views of the parties as to what should be removed, and then table that with the Board this afternoon.  And that way we're not holding up the process this morning. 


As I say, it appears like we're just about there on agreement of what should be removed, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. MARK:  Mr. Chair, just to expand a bit, we have an agreement with respect to the oral evidence you will hear and what oral evidence you won't hear.  Mr. Rodger has indicated now that he is not calling Mr. Clark and Mr. White.  His sole witness will be Dr. Murphy.


With respect to the IESO case, we still intend to call, hopefully more briefly than originally planned, our three ‑‑ the panel of our three witnesses.


With respect to the expert witnesses, it's been agreed that Dr. Fuss's report goes into evidence as tendered and there's no need for Dr. Fuss to attend for examination.  Mr. Rodger has no cross‑examination for him.


Mr. Falk will testify and will be subject to cross‑examination, and then my friends, who were also calling evidence, will still be tendering their evidence.


So we're hopeful we should be able to get through this today, in light of what the scope of the issues now are.  I know I've certainly tried to truncate things with my witnesses.  I think everybody understands there's prefiled evidence, and hopefully we'll be able to proceed on that basis.


Just with respect to Dr. Murphy, as part of these arrangements that we've agreed to with respect to the witnesses, there were going to be objections to Dr. Murphy's testimony because of the extreme lateness of his report, which only came to us on Monday evening, despite the Board's previous orders with respect to filing of evidence.


We've agreed that we won't object to Dr. Murphy being called so we can get through this proceeding with a minimum of fighting, but we're reserving the right, obviously, for purposes of weight, to address the issue of the nature and tardiness of the report when it comes to final argument.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  And perhaps I should just respond before we introduce Dr. Murphy.  AMPCO's position is that we did advise my friend last week that we were contemplating this report, and that's reflected in the correspondence.  AMPCO's view is that until we had complete production, we really couldn't make a final decision on what evidence we wouldn't produce, in any event.  So the timing may not be perfect, but in this case that was the situation we were dealt with.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  With that, Mr. Chairman, perhaps Dr. Murphy could ‑‑


MS. DeMARCO:  I don't want to interrupt, Mr. Rodger, but just to voice APPrO's position on this point, to note for the record that our expert economic witness did not have the benefit of the report in providing his advice by March 9th, and we also wish to reserve our right to argue as to weight.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


AMPCO ‑ PANEL 1


Dr. Larry Murphy; Sworn

EXAMINATION-IN‑CHIEF BY MR. RODGER:  

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, there's two documents that I'll be referring to in Dr. Murphy's evidence-in‑chief.  The first is a four‑page report prepared by Dr. Murphy, dated March 26th, 2007, entitled "Economic aspects of the 3X ramp rate decision."  And we have extra copies if anybody's in need of them.


And we have also filed Dr. Murphy's biographical notes.


Dr. Murphy, if I could first start with your CV.  I understand that you have a Ph.D. in economics from McMaster University and a Bachelor of Commerce from McGill, and over your career you've been an associate professor of finance and economics at the University of Toronto; director of corporate planning, Gulf Oil Canada; a vice‑president of economic research and forecasting for the Conference Board of Canada; and an economic advisor with the Department of Finance, Government of Canada.


Is that correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And I also understand that over the past 20 years, in your consulting practice, you have focussed on the electricity sector in Ontario for most of that period; is that correct?


DR. MURPHY:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Could you give us a little flavour of the range of projects that you have been involved in over that period?


DR. MURPHY:  Oh, it goes back to the beginning.  I was involved with the market design committee, chaired the retail technical panel, sat on the wholesale panel, and they were the organizations that came up with the first set of codes and market rules, as a matter of fact, and were taken over by the OEB and by the IMO at the time that established the initial sets of rules and the first sets of codes.


So that was the work that we did with that organization.


Then I was on the technical panel from its inception until April of '05, and various working groups with the IESO and the OEB over that period.


MR. RODGER:  And you also have indicated that you advise industrial, institutional and commercial companies in the design and negotiation of hedge contracts and other aspects of operating in the restructured Ontario electricity sector.  Could you just expand on that work, please?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes, industrials, commercials, hospitals and some other industrial ‑‑ institutional, rather, clients, we help them.  They were ‑‑ this is a new market.  They weren't used to how to buy power in this environment.  So we help them with decision‑making in the types of contracts that they needed, how to assess prices that were being offered and that sort of thing.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, given Dr. Murphy's specialized knowledge in the Ontario electricity sector, I would ask to have Dr. Murphy qualified as an expert witness in the area of electricity sector economics.


MR. KAISER:  Any objection, Mr. Mark?


MR. MARK:  None, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. DeMarco?


MS. DeMARCO:  None, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  Proceed.


MR. RODGER:  Dr. Murphy, could you please summarize your understanding of the economic rationale that has been provided by the IESO in moving to a 3X ramp rate.


DR. MURPHY:  Well, in my understanding, the market surveillance panel identified problems having to do with the issue of uneconomic exports, and the feeling of the IESO, as far as I can determine, is that a way of attempting to resolve at least part of this is to increase domestic prices that would decrease the difference between HOEP and the shadow price in the exporting region, and that would have the effect of discouraging exports.


So it seems to me that's one of the prime motivations for the proposed move to 3X ramp rate.


MR. RODGER:  And what is your view of the impact of moving to 3X ramp rate on any distortions that may exist in the current market?


DR. MURPHY:  Well, I guess the first question is:  Is moving to 3X ramp rate an improvement in the first place?


I guess I need to go back to the beginning and take a look at why 12X was introduced in the first place.  I sat on the technical panel at the beginning, before the market was opened, and just before we were about to open the market, we were - I say "we"; I mean the IESO - was doing various tests.  And during that testing period they found that they were having a terrible time getting any set of reasonable prices coming out of solution of the model during the tests.  And part of the problem, I think the heart of the problem was myopic pricing, that it exaggerated prices upwards and downwards, created for very unstable prices.  It was really unknown if the average price that was being produced was an efficient price.  That was the real concern.


And so you were bringing, you were opening this model into this environment, where prices were very volatile, and it could undermine the credibility of the market itself.


So various fixes were looked at, and the one that was settled at was 12 times ramp rate, which settled prices.  Prices still had some variability but they were reasonable and it was sufficient for the market-opening.


And the idea was that once the market opened, if we had time we'd take a closer look at what was going on behind this tremendous variability in prices.  And I think the presumption right off the bat was, it was probably related to myopic pricing.  And myopic pricing forces you to look at just a five-minute slice and not look at any other information that may be relevant to the decision in that five-minute price.  So if you knew the demand was going increase in subsequent periods, that was irrelevant inside the five-minute determination.  


So the linear programming problem was taking that information, giving you an optimal solution slice by slice.  That's not what an operating system manager would do.  Obviously they would take a look at what was coming next and come up with a rational decision overall.


So that seemed to be at the heart of the problem, and generators were certainly complaining because they were being cranked all over the system.  The LP would solve a solution here, a solution there.  It may mean starting up the generator, closing it down five minutes later, that sort of thing, which was playing havoc with the generators.


So there was a general consensus that we would take a look at a solution to the problem, and the -- one of the possible solutions was the multi-interval optimization.  So a working group was put together.  


I sat on that working group, and I must say that was probably the most collegial working group that I've had experience with at the IESO.  There were others that were not quite so collegial.  But in any case, it worked well, and they came up with a solution.  Not the ideal solution; some were proposed that would take a look further out, for example, out over the full 12 intervals, and see if you couldn't come up with a solution for an hour.  But it turned out that it was just far too sophisticated for the machinery that we had, so a truncated version of that was introduced.  And it worked well.


And the conclusion of that was, This looks like it makes sense.  We should turn our attention next to how we deal with prices because this is all done in the constrained run.  Okay?  Separately done is the determination of prices in the unconstrained run.


So that's where we left it, where I left it.  It was handed over to the market pricing working group, which I was not a member of.  Ken Snelson was there.  And my presumption was they were going to move along that path toward an integration of MIO in the unconstrained and MIO in the constrained.  And I think there was fairly broad support for that as I take a look at some of the background material, for example, the NERA report that was done --


MR. RODGER:  And Dr. Murphy, which NERA report are you referring to, please?


DR. MURPHY:  May 16th.  It's referred to as being in tab 28.  And I believe that's the supplementary material that was submitted by IESO, Volume 1, section 4, tab 28.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.


DR. MURPHY:  Where he says:

"By switching to multi-interval optimization and including the actual ramp rates and minimum loads constraints, the optimization algorithm should give an accurate indication of what energy is really worth, for the simple reason that this algorithm is closest to the algorithm that system operators actually use."


Okay?  So if you want to get the true value of the resource, then you should line up the pricing algorithm with the physical algorithm, and that is both of them using MIO.


So that's where this thing seemed to be going.  My impression was that both IESO and NERA seemed to be in support of that.


Now then, there was a study that was done by IESO to see just what prices would meet that criterion.  If you were to use MIO, what would the prices look like?  So there was a study that was done internally at IESO that did a run using 3X ramp rate and MIO.  The result of that was probably surprising, in that the prices that came out of that showed that the MIO and 3X looked almost exactly like the 12X ramp rate prices.  So if 12 --


MR. RUPERT:  Excuse me, Dr. Murphy, is it 3X or 1X?


DR. MURPHY:  It says 3X on the document I had.  I had initially thought it was one time, but it was actually 3X.  That's documented.

MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.


DR. MURPHY:  And I should give you the reference to that.  It's also in the -- I'll find it later on and give it to you, but it's also in the subsequent material that was submitted by IESO.


So where are we now?  IESO is the best way to do it.  It takes into consideration not just the five-minute information but a breadth of information about future periods.  If you do a price run using MIO, what do you get?  You get a set of prices that look to be almost identical to the 12X ramp rate.  So one would conclude that if NERA's right, if they do give you the real cost, then probably you're closest to the real costs with 12X.  


Now, what happens if you reintroduce 3X ramp rate now again with myopic pricing?  Obviously this has got to be a distortion to the real-time prices that you've just shown.


If in fact you're using that to increase the HOEP for the purpose of reducing exports, you're also exposing the entire domestic market to those higher prices, with all of the distortions that could come from that.  And we're talking about distortions on top of distortions, because that market is nothing like a competitive market.


You have any number of distortions that have been introduced, and we know them all.  The regulated price plan.  Market power.  We had to have a mitigation agreement to try to manage that.  OPA contracting prices, which eliminates the need for the scarcity pricing that's provided by high prices.  And on and on and on.  All of these distortions.


So you're introducing another distortion on top of a very distorted market, just for the purpose of getting rid of uneconomic exports.


Well, where do these uneconomic exports come from in the first place?  The market surveillance panel is fairly clear.


MR. RODGER:  And which report are you referring, to Dr. Murphy?


DR. MURPHY:  I'm referring to their June 6th report.


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, June 6, what year?


DR. MURPHY:  June of '06, sorry.


MR. RODGER:  And do you have a reference, Dr. Murphy?


DR. MURPHY:  It's on page 68.


MR. RODGER:  But of the exhibits?


DR. MURPHY:  What the name of it is?


MR. RODGER:  No, where the document can be found in the record before the Board.


DR. MURPHY:  Oh.  I'm sorry, I don't -- it's been referred to by the IESO and by myself on several occasions.  I don't know where it would appear in the...


MR. RODGER:  We'll get that reference, Mr. Chairman.  


In the effort to expunge documents, Mr. Chair, I think we're having a little bit of trouble locating what is left.


Well, perhaps we can just proceed, Dr. Murphy, and when we find the reference we'll put it on the record.


DR. MURPHY:  Okay.


I'm referring to page 68, where the MSP is dealing with so‑called other anomalous events, and specifically inefficient net exports over the New York interface.  And it says:

"Further analysis points to the uniform pricing model employed in Ontario as the cause of this inefficient trade."


And the explanation for that is that exports pay the HOEP.  Let's assume that there are no constraints on the interface.  Then if an exporter wants to export, it pays the HOEP any transaction costs and sells it in New York.


But the real cost of producing that is the cost of production in the closest region to New York - that is, the Niagara region -- and the cost of producing there is given by the shadow price in that region.  


When the shadow price is higher than the HOEP, you're selling at HOEP and the cost is the shadow price.  And the difference is the amount of the uneconomic export.


So that's what the MSP is pointing to as being an anomalous condition.  And presumably you don't get rid of that problem until you get rid of the difference between the two, and that's why the MSP has been pushing for locational pricing.


If I go on further, there's another quote that says -- dealing with the same thing, that refers to a possible involvement of 12X ramp rate, and it says, in effect, if it does have the impact of lowering HOEP, then it may simply lead to more exports than otherwise would be indicated, the inference being a contribution towards the uneconomic export problem.


But that's immediately followed by:

"Our analysis in this section focuses on one of the inefficiencies that are caused by uniform pricing.  The uniform price regime by its very nature also distorts consumption and generation decisions within Ontario."


So we have this problem of uneconomic exports, and presumably what this policy is trying to do is ameliorate that problem by increasing the price of oil.  Anything that would increase the price of HOEP would reduce the reduction, notwithstanding that it's creating distortions in the rest of the market, okay?


So if you wanted to get rid of the entire problem, you would have to have HOEP at the same level as the shadow price minus transaction costs.  Now the whole domestic economy would be paying the New York shadow price, which doesn't seem to be a sensible solution.


So -- and that's not their intent.  They're saying We're going push up the price, and that will at least partially get rid of these uneconomic exports.


But that's kind of a peculiar solution.  Here we started down a track of ramp rate problems, and my association with the ramp rate issue was that it had to deal with things like mismatch between ramping and pricing, overuse of ramping facilities, non‑payment for those ramping capabilities, that sort of thing.  Now we're solving an export problem.


I mean, maybe there are different ways to solve the export problem that have no impact on prices in the rest of the domestic economy.  I don't know.  We haven't looked at that.  It has not been identified as an issue by the market price working group at all.  It simply came up as a byproduct of looking at this ramping issue.


I mean, there may be solutions that are focussed on just the difference between HOEP and the shadow price.  And it's not the first time we've done that.  I mean, in this system, if I recall correctly, we have only two locational prices, and they are the export prices.  On both exports and imports, we add ICP, if I can remember that, intertie congestion price. 


When there's congestion on the interface, you have a different import and export price than you have in the rest of the economy.  And we have also the IOG, which is an adjustment on import prices to deal with a special problem.


So maybe it's possible to come up with a special adjustment to exports that deals with the gap between HOEP and the shadow price at Niagara.  I mean, if you had such a solution, it wouldn't affect the rest of the prices, or at least marginally, in the rest of the economy, and you wouldn't have to deal with these wealth transfers.


MR. RODGER:  So Dr. Murphy, just to be clear:  In your opinion, the move to a 3X ramp rate, is that an efficient way to reduce this problem of uneconomic exports?


DR. MURPHY:  No, it's not clear that 3X moves you towards a better pricing.  I discussed that earlier in the results that came out of the simulation of using MIO plus 3X.  It's not obvious that 3X with myopic is a better price and moves you towards marginal costs.


It causes all kinds of potential distortions in the rest of the market, and it solves only partially the uneconomic export problem, if at all.  The real solution there gets ‑‑ you would have to get to the heart of the difference between HOEP and the shadow price to really solve that problem.


MR. RODGER:  So could you summarize what other economic conclusions might the IESO have come to regarding the 12X ramp rate?


DR. MURPHY:  Well, one possibility is just, since we know that the 12X option leaves you close to what the IESO simulation has shown has been the true price, why not just leave it there until you deal with some other problems, like the day‑ahead market, possibly locational pricing or whatever?  That would at least limit the scope of this problem.


The difficulty arises because when you increase the price under 3X, you increase it to the rest of the economy, and you create the potential for all kinds of distortions there.  I know that the initial estimate was $200 million, and then it disappeared after a bunch of assumptions.  But the initial impact is at least in the order of ‑‑ that order of magnitude.


So it's not a trivial amount that you're talking about.  I also know that the IESO says, Well, you shouldn't consider wealth transfers.  So here we have a situation where you're gaining 9 million from a savings in exports, and it's costing you 200 million in wealth transfers to do it.  But by virtue of your cost benefit calculus, you exclude wealth transfers between parties within the economy.


So, presumably, you could have a $1 billion transfer and you exclude that, too.  I don't think that's reasonable at all to exclude wealth transfers from the decision-making, and I think there are other solutions that are probably far more efficient.


MR. RODGER:  Are you also concerned about any free rider issues that the 3X solution raises?


DR. MURPHY:  Well, that's the heart of the wealth transfer, isn't it, that when you increase prices, they're typically related to the offer prices of particular generators?  But all the marginal generators get that, too, under our system.  So effectively they're all free riders and they're part of the wealth transfer.


MR. RODGER:  Do any particular form of generation benefit from others under this arrangement, this free ridership?


DR. MURPHY:  Well, mostly based on the generators.  I mean, they're really not contributing anything to solving the ramp rate problem, and of course they are beneficiaries.


Now, there is that great recycling of money that occurs under the regulated prices.  They weren't designed for this purpose, obviously, but that happens.


But they're not there all the time.  They do disappear.  The OPG rebate, for example, is scheduled to disappear in April of 2009.  That's about 20 percent of the overall protection.  So it's not an insignificant amount of protection that disappears by that time.


MR. RODGER:  And, Dr. Murphy, is it your view that these wealth transfers that you've talked about, when the Board's considering this matter - that is, the Ontario Energy Board - should those wealth transfer issues be irrelevant to the Board's consideration of this matter?


DR. MURPHY:  No, I don't see how they can be ignored.  They're so big that they have to be part of the calculus.


MR. RODGER:  And then, Dr. Murphy, finally, if you could just, please, summarize the opinions you want to present to the Board.


DR. MURPHY:  I have questions with the conclusions that the IESO has come to, the justification for the particular measure they have proposed.  


I have questions with respect to the presumption that the 3X leads to improvements in pricing as opposed to a deterioration in pricing.  


I have questions about the total ignorance of the other economic impacts that it may have in other parts of the economy.  


And I think there are far more effective ways to deal with the export problem that have not been explored as part of this process.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Dr. Murphy.  


That concludes our evidence in-chief, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  Just a clarifying question, Dr. Murphy, going back to an earlier question.


Your report, your evidence on page 4, the first full paragraph, starts out and states:

"The IESO's analysis shows that the introduction of a 1X ramp rate plus MIO would result in prices that are essentially the same as under the 12X approach with myopic pricing."


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. RUPERT:  And I think you said just now that that comparison -- that had the same prices was myopic plus 3X.  
DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. RUPERT:  Sorry, MIO plus 3X, excuse me.


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MR. RUPERT:  And your report says MIO plus 1X.  I just wanted to clarify.  Does this mean that your report should  read 3X?


DR. MURPHY:  It should read 3X.  My recollection is --I think there must be another report, because my recollection from being on the MIO group was there was a study that used 1X, but the report that was actually submitted by IESO said 3X.  So I should have to -- I should say 3X, because that's the evidence that I have right now.


MR. RUPERT:  And I would take it, then, that assuming it is MIO plus 3X, that if one were to move -- What's your view if one were to move to a MIO and 1X, then?  If MIO and 3X is equivalent to what we have today, I think is what you're saying, if you then change to MIO with 1X, would that result in a higher or a lower price?


DR. MURPHY:  I don't know, Bill.  You would really have to run that and see what it would do.  I would think there wouldn't much difference between the two, between 3X and 1X.  But that's just my conjecture.  You would have to run that case.


MR. KAISER:  Dr. Murphy, you said several times this morning that there are more effective ways to solve this problem which haven't been explored.  What are those?


DR. MURPHY:  Well, I just gave one example.  I would like to explore ways of just getting rid of the difference between HOEP and shadow price, just by a surcharge or something of that sort, in the same way we've used IOG.  All we've done is to recognize they're different, put in a fix, and that did it.


MR. KAISER:  Is there any legal impediment to putting a surcharge on?


DR. MURPHY:  I'm not aware of any.  I mean, we managed to do it in the case of IOG.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Mark.


DR. MURPHY:  But that's just one possible solution that comes off the top of my head.  This particular group was not focussed toward solving that problem so people weren't raising alternatives.


MR. MARK:  May I just have a moment, Mr. Chairman?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  While Mr. Mark is... has this particular problem surfaced in any other jurisdictions or is it unique to Ontario?


DR. MURPHY:  I think it arises only because we have uniform pricing.  In the other jurisdictions they have locational pricing so that problem doesn't arise.


MR. KAISER:  Does that mean if we go to locational pricing the problem goes away?


DR. MURPHY:  Yeah.  And the MSP has been advocating that from day one.


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chair.  We are just struggling to try and actually find report that Dr. Murphy is referring to.  I'm wondering if my friend could be of assistance, Mr. Rodger, in directing us to the specific reference so we can ensure that our experts are appropriately considering that.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we take a 10-minute break and that will allow you the freedom to consult with each other and find this document.  Or do you have it?


MR. RODGER:  It's certainly referenced in the IESO's prefiled materials of... I'm looking for the date.  I assume it's March 9th, but it's tab -- no, the tab isn't marked.  But behind the first tab, page 18 of 39, paragraph 75.


MR. KAISER:  But I think they're looking for the actual document, aren't they?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, I have that reference.  Let's take a 10-minute break, see if we can find the document.


--- Recess taken at 10:07 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:37 a.m. 

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Mark.


MR. MARK:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MARK:

MR. MARK:  Dr. Murphy, how long have you been doing work for AMPCO?


DR. MURPHY:  About 17 years.


MR. MARK:  And you are, I gather, a paid external consultant?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  Sorry, you have to answer yes or no.


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  Right.  And since when have you been advising and consulting AMPCO with respect to the ramp rate issue?


DR. MURPHY:  On the ramp rate issue, I came into this discussion only at the end of the process, at the end of the work of the market working group.  When they came to their conclusions, then I was asked to take a look at the results.


MR. MARK:  Yes.  My recollection is some time around August or September you got involved; is that right?


DR. MURPHY:  That's right, yes.


MR. MARK:  And you had a pretty regular dialogue with Dr. Rivard and the others at the IESO for some time after that?


DR. MURPHY:  We had a couple of meetings after that; two meetings, I believe.


MR. MARK:  Two meetings.  And you had a rather lengthy series of e‑mails exchanges, did you not, with Dr. Rivard about his calculations?


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MR. MARK:  And that culminated in October when AMPCO, your client, presumably in consultation with you, sent a letter to Dr. Rivard indicating that their analysis of the global adjustment and OPG rebate issue was, in fact, correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  And throughout -- since the IESO set up its process to look at the alternatives in early '06, to your knowledge, has AMPCO or anyone else suggested that the IESO look at this proposal you floated a few moments ago of putting a surcharge on exports?


DR. MURPHY:  No, that was not part of the discussion, as far as I know.


MR. MARK:  So as far as you know, no one involved in the market power working group raised that as a feasible option?


DR. MURPHY:  Not that I know of.


MR. MARK:  And nobody in the stakeholders' advisory committee did; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  I don't know about that.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, excuse me for interrupting, but it seems to me that what Mr. Mark is referring to is stakeholdering process, and from your decision yesterday that's now irrelevant.


MR. MARK:  Oh, please, Mr. Chair, I'm going at the basis of his ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  I don't think he's talking about the actual process, it's a question of whether this particular concept was raised.


MR. MARK:  And to your knowledge, has the market surveillance panel ever suggested this as an option?


DR. MURPHY:  No.


MR. MARK:  And have you undertaken any examination, Dr. Murphy, as to the compliance of this tax suggestion with NAFTA?


DR. MURPHY:  No.


MR. MARK:  Have you undertaken any analysis of the impact of this taxation scheme on FERC and what their view of it would be?


DR. MURPHY:  No.


MR. MARK:  And I take it from your extensive involvement in the Ontario system, Dr. Murphy, you're aware that the intertie arrangements with New York are an essential element of the system -- reliability of our system; right?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  And I take it you would be loathe to interfere with those arrangements unless it was a concept which was fully articulated, fully investigated and fully vented?


DR. MURPHY:  Absolutely.


MR. MARK:  Now, on the subject of market surveillance panel, you gave us some references to, I take it, what you say is the gist of the market surveillance panel's criticism, and that is that it is the uniform price which is the problem?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  Sorry, I'm going to ask you, again, Dr. Murphy, to say "yes" or "no" for the record.


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  Thank you.  Now, you suggested, Dr. Murphy, that the IESO ‑ I took this from your evidence ‑ was not recommending that the 12X ramp rate multiplier be removed, other than in the context of a move away from uniform pricing.  Do I have your evidence on that right?


DR. MURPHY:  Say again, please?


MR. MARK:  I took your evidence as suggesting that the market surveillance panel was not recommending a move away from 12X, except in the concept -- in the context of a move away from uniform pricing altogether.


DR. MURPHY:  No.  I interpreted that as it being an adjustment within the framework of uniform pricing.


MR. MARK:  All right.  Well, that's my point.  I mean, to continue with the market surveillance panel issue, are you aware, Dr. Murphy, that in its December 2004 report, the market surveillance panel said this:

"The analysis above demonstrates that a significant portion of the difference between the constrained and unconstrained real‑time prices is due to the 12X ramp rate assumption."


Do you recall that and is the market surveillance panel correct?


DR. MURPHY:  I don't recall that, no.


MR. MARK:  Does the statement sound correct?


DR. MURPHY:  I would have to take a look at the circumstances.  It could be due equally to transmission constraints at that particular zone.


MR. MARK:  Well, so you don't accept as correct the market surveillance panel's conclusion, when they say:

"The analysis above demonstrates that a significant portion of the difference between the constrained and unconstrained real‑time prices is due to the 12X ramp rate assumption."


DR. MURPHY:  I would have to read that to reach that conclusion.


MR. MARK:  And they say also:

"It follows that a significant portion of the remaining difference between the HOEP and the unconstrained pre‑dispatch price must also be due to the 12X ramp rate assumption."


DR. MURPHY:  Under their assumption, that would be true.


MR. MARK:  Then they say:

"The panel is of the view that the continued understatement of the HOEP leads to inefficient decisions by both loads and generators in both the short term and the long term.  This takes the form of an inefficient load profile and of under-investment in both conservation and generation."


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  Are they correct in that statement?


DR. MURPHY:  See, that would be true if the 12X price could be proved to be wrong in the first place.


MR. MARK:  Well ‑‑


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, is there a copy of this document that the witness could at least refer to?  Is it in evidence?


MR. MARK:  We have filed a brief of excerpts from the market surveillance panel, and you should have that, and it was filed on March 27th.


MR. MILLAR:  So it's the March 27th filing?


MS. FRIEDMAN:  That was the day we sent with the letter the CVs.


MR. MILLAR:  And affidavits?


MS. FRIEDMAN:  No, the CVs of the parties and said who our panels were, and the attached excerpts of the market surveillance panel reports that the parties had cited.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry.  I have it.


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, if I could also be of assistance here.  We filed this morning a compendium of documents to support everything, every reference in our experts' direct evidence.  It's included -- the actual market surveillance panel reports and excerpts are included at tab 9, tab 10, tab 11, tab 12, tab 13 of that document.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I don't believe you have copies of that yet, but perhaps this would be a good time to circulate that.


MS. DeMARCO:  It may well be, and it perhaps should be marked as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that is what I was going to suggest.  So we will call that K2.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.1: MARKET SURVEILLANCE PANEL REPORT, DECEMBER 2004

MR. MARK:  I'm glad my friends are doing so well with my cross‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger, have you been able to get Ms. Friedman's letter of March 27th?


MR. RODGER:  I believe I can access the materials from the compendium of documents that Ms. DeMarco just handed out.  Thank you, sir.


MR. MARK:  Dr. Murphy, do you now have the page in front of you?


DR. MURPHY:  I don't think I do.


MR. MARK:  It should be page 66.


DR. MURPHY:  I'm on 1; 1 of 12.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Chairman, I've got an extra copy I'm happy to give to the witness.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Mark, which document again are we referring to, which market surveillance?


MR. MARK:  This is the December 2004 market surveillance panel report, at page 66.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you. 

MR. MARK:  If you're looking at the APPrO compendium 

-- I'm not sure if people have that yet -- it is at tab 10, the very last page.


DR. MURPHY:  This is based on the notion that there's an understatement of the HOEP.


MR. MARK:  I think we all understand that there's an understatement of the HOEP, and we all understand that market surveillance --


DR. MURPHY:  No, we don't understand that there's an understatement of the HOEP.  This is based on a premise that there is.


MR. MARK:  I take it, Dr. Murphy, that in all of its reports over several years the market surveillance panel has concluded that there is an understatement of HOEP and it would like to see that understatement be reversed, and anything that contributes to its reversal they consider to be useful and efficient?


DR. MURPHY:  I would like to see evidence that, in fact, there is an understatement of the HOEP.  We have any number of distortions in the market that I've referred to.  I have seen no evidence that identifies what a competitive HOEP would be and what the size of the distortion between that and the HOEP that we have is.


MR. MARK:  Would you agree with me, Dr. Murphy, that it is axiomatic that the use of the 12X multiplier understates the price that results from the pricing algorithm relative to the price that you would get if you didn't have that constraint?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  And it produces a price signal which does not reflect and is lower than the price that is actually paid as a result of the dispatch algorithm?  The cost that's actually determined --


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  -- from dispatch?


DR. MURPHY:  That's all.  That does not mean that that is a lower than competitive price.  It just means it's different, that's all.


MR. MARK:  Well, there is a misalignment of dispatch and pricing algorithm.


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  So you're not prepared to accept the conclusions of the market surveillance panel and others who have said that that is an inefficiency which should be rectified?


DR. MURPHY:  That is correct.  I would say that's one among many inefficiencies.


MR. MARK:  Is that because, Dr. Murphy, you don't think that is directionally appropriate or is it because of this notion you say that we don't know what other impacts we may get from this, so maybe there's a risk in doing it?  Is that the nature of the objection?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  You agree that there's a difference.  You agree, all other things being equal, it would be wise to reverse it.  You're concerned about other impacts.  Have you got a study about other possible impacts?


DR. MURPHY:  No.  I can identify the major impacts, but I can't tell you what the sum total of the effects of those impacts are.


MR. MARK:  Returning back to the market surveillance panel report that we were talking about at page 66.  Let me take you to one other quote and see if you agree with this one.  It says at the bottom of page 66:

"The panel strongly recommends that actual ramp rates be used to determine the HOEP.  The panel understands that this is being considered by the IMO pricing working group but that no progress has been made.  The panel observes in this connection that while stakeholder consultation is important, no stakeholder should have an effective veto over changes in market rules that make the market more efficient."


Do you agree with what the MSP, market surveillance Panel is saying about a pretty strong imperative to change the ramp rate?


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MR. MARK:  You don't agree with them there?


DR. MURPHY:  No, I agree with them.


MR. MARK:  You agree with them.


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  And you talked in your evidence-in-chief about some other what you call distortions.  One of them, if my note is correct, you said, is the issue of market power.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  Are you talking there about the conditions that may cause market power to arise sometime or are you saying that there actually is market power being improperly exercised by any of the market participants?


DR. MURPHY:  I'm saying the conditions are there, and the market power surveillance group agrees with that, and they have identified instances where market power has been used.


MR. MARK:  Aren't you aware, Dr. Murphy, that the market surveillance panel has actually concluded that, from the available evidence, it appears that there was no generator who was withholding capacity?


DR. MURPHY:  They say they haven't had -- they have had discussions with entities who appear to have been using market power and have resolved those issues.


MR. MARK:  You're aware, Dr. Murphy, that this, of course, is one of the fundamental issues that the market surveillance panel addresses in the course of its work?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  And I've handed up to you, Dr. Murphy, an excerpt from the December 2003 market surveillance report, and I want to direct your attention particularly to page 110.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, should we give this a number?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I believe it's part of the prefiled evident.  If you would like, we can mark it just for convenience, but I'd leave that to you.


MR. KAISER:  That would be helpful.


MR. MILLAR:  We'll call it Exhibit K2.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  MARKET SURVEILLANCE PANEL REPORT, DECEMBER 2003

MR. MARK:  Mr. Chairman, it appears that I should more regularly turn to my friend Ms. DeMarco and asked her where to find things.  In their compendium filed today at tab 9 you will find this excerpt. 


In the middle of the page, Dr. Murphy, they say as follows:

"Insofar as dispatch is concerned, we are satisfied that that domestic dispatch has been efficient.  That is, having regard to transmission and other constraints, Ontario's available generating capacity is being dispatched in merit order.  This implies that there has been no physical or economic withholding of capacity by Ontario generators."


You understand that that is their conclusion and that has never changed?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.  That's only one aspect of the exercise of market power.  The other is to increase prices.  They differentiate between the two.  They don't comment on that here.


MR. MARK:  Right.  They don't comment.  You don't have any report from them on that, do you?


DR. MURPHY:  What I do have is their framework that's been announced recently indicating that they feel that their work in that area is not adequate and they want to develop a framework that more carefully examines the potential and the actual occurrence of both types of market power, and they're looking for input from people to help them set that procedure up.


MR. MARK:  Right.  And we all look forward to that.


In your report, Dr. Murphy, and again in your evidence this morning, you refer to this concept of a wealth transfer.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  Is the size of a wealth transfer determined by how much more consumers will be paying?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  It's whether there's an increase in their bills; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  And I take it you understand, Dr. Murphy, that the evidence from the IESO is that consumers will not be paying $225 million; they won't be paying anything close to that?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes, that's their evidence.


MR. MARK:  Right.  Now, it's got a few components in it, Dr. Murphy, and maybe let's look at it.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  If you look at -- just give me a moment.  Thank you.


Mr. Chairman, I'm going to introduce another group of documents at the moment.  Hopefully, this will make it simple.  I have a small compendium of four documents that I was planning to use and will use in my examination‑in‑chief of my witnesses.  It has one of the documents I'm going to put to Dr. Murphy now, so, with leave of the Panel, maybe we can file this now and give it an exhibit number, and it would make the reference to Dr. Murphy easier.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  What number, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  K2.3, and this is the IESO book of materials.


EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  IESO BOOK OF MATERIALS

MR. MARK:  And there is an index, Mr. Chairman, which will give you the location of the original documents in the record.


Sorry, Mr. Millar, what's the number?


MR. MILLAR:  K2.3.


MR. MARK:  And I'm going to ask you to turn up tab 4, Dr. Murphy, which is the actual market rule amendment proposal relevant to this proceeding.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  And to turn up to page 4 of 5 --


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  -- which has a table on it headed, "Net payments 3X ramp rate and distribution from transmission rights clearing account."


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MR. MARK:  And you've seen this table before, I trust?


DR. MURPHY:  I have.


MR. MARK:  You're familiar with it and you understand what it represents?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  And if we look at the first line, it says:

"Wholesale market price impact of change to 3X multiplier."


You understand that to be the upward pressure put on rates by this change, absent any behavioural changes or any other phenomenon which would act to offset that upward pressure?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  And then we see it expressed in a $/MWh figure, and then we see a 50 percent figure which is labelled as the "reduced impact due to arbitrage."  


Now, Dr. Murphy, I take it you agree that there will be arbitrage and there will be a reduction in inefficient exports because of this change?


DR. MURPHY:  I have two comments here.


First of all, you're using 2006 prices, which are exceptionally low prices.  Let's say we were talking about 2009, because this is ‑‑


MR. MARK:  I just want you to answer my question, that if I am correct that as a result of this change you will get arbitrage and you will get a reduction in exports.


DR. MURPHY:  Of some amount, yes.


MR. MARK:  Right.  And to the extent you do get a reduction in exports, you understand, I take it, that that will tend to reduce the HOEP?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  And you understand that this 50 percent was, at the time this was prepared and was explained as being, the most conservative possible outcome as the IESO considered it at the time?


DR. MURPHY:  That's what the IESO said, yes.


MR. MARK:  So on this table, then, if we continue down, you see they indicate the HOEP increase after the arbitrage, and they put that as being 64 cents/MWh; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  And then we move down.  It puts it in gross dollars.  So they say after arbitrage, on the worst possible scenario, you would have an initial price impact of $98.74 million; right?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  And then we see an entry for global adjustment reduces impact by 80 percent, and that reduces the upward price pressure from the $98 to $19.75; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  And the 80 percent figure, by the way, is the 80 percent figure that you confirmed as being accurate in your October 2006 letter from AMPCO?


DR. MURPHY:  Well, we agreed the procedure was correct.


MR. MARK:  Right.  You agreed that the price impact effects of the global adjustment and the rebate was 80 percent; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  I believe that the NERA calculation is actually closer to the truth, and that's 75 percent.


MR. MARK:  Did you not in your October letter say to Dr. Rivard, after AMPCO and you and he had a very lengthy exchange, including meetings, that after that you were satisfied that their analysis of the impact of the rebate and the global adjustment was correct, and that number was 80 percent?


DR. MURPHY:  We understood how they got to their 80 percent.


MR. MARK:  Now, let me read to you from that letter, Dr. Murphy.  It is in the volume 1 of the IESO February 26th filing at tab 61.  I'm supposed to tell you that's in section 4.  It's very close to the back of the binder, Mr. Chairman.


MR. RUPERT:  Which tab is it?


MR. MARK:  At section 4, tab 61.  Now, don't tell me it's in the compendium?  I promise you, Ms. DeMarco and I have not spoken about documents to put to the witnesses in cross.


MR. KAISER:  You're going to owe her a good lunch, Mr. Mark.


MR. MARK:  Absolutely.


MR. RUPERT:  Just so I'm clear ‑‑


MR. MARK:  As long as I can send a bill to my client.


MR. RUPERT:  This is an October 24th letter from AMPCO?


MR. MARK:  Yes.  So that's in the compendium, in Ms. DeMarco's compendium, at -- I'm told that it has been slip‑sheeted in at the very back of the book.


DR. MURPHY:  "As much as 80 percent".


MR. MARK:  Right.  And you concluded in the third paragraph from the bottom:

"As a result of this new information and our deeper understanding of the issues, we are now satisfied that the IESO's methodology of calculating the net financial impacts of electricity price increases is sound."


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  And that is the method that they use to come up with the 80 percent?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  And then we go down to the line of CMSC, which is congestion management settlement credits, and OIG savings, OIG being, I believe, intertie offer guarantee, and you have a further offset of just over $13 million; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  And I take it you understand and agree, and again this is axiomatic, that as the difference between the HOEP and the shadow price decreases, there will be decreases in these payments resulting in a decrease in customer appeals?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  Sorry, I didn't ‑‑


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  And using that analysis, then, at the end of the day we get a net cost for customers, before even looking at the transmission rights account distribution, of 4/1000ths of a cent per kilowatt hour.  You understand that's the result of the IESO analysis?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  Now, on that subject, Dr. Murphy, you juxtapose in the penultimate paragraph of your report, on page 4 -- and you did again in your evidence this morning -- put up the juxtaposition of the $225 million wealth transfer as against the 6.6 million in system efficiency savings; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  Based upon the discussion we've had for the past few moments, I take it there is no dispute that the amount of $225 million is not going to be the amount of the wealth transfer.  Correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Of the actual wealth transfer; that's correct. 


MR. MARK:  Right.  So, when you say here, "When it involves a wealth transfer of $225 million," that's just not right.


DR. MURPHY:  It's an initial wealth transfer of that amount that is mitigating.


MR. MARK:  Is anybody actually going to pay that, Dr. Murphy?  Is anybody actually going to pay that?


DR. MURPHY:  Some people will.


MR. MARK:  Pay the 225 million?


DR. MURPHY:  Not the total 220 million.


MR. MARK:  Well, that's my question.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  This doesn't work as if people are paying the 225 and getting a cheque back.  In fact, just as the IESO's table shows, the bill impact using their calculations is, worst-case scenario, according to them, 4/1000ths of a cent; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  No, that's not the worst-case calculation.


MR. MARK:  According to them.


DR. MURPHY:  Let me give you an alternative, okay, using the same procedure.


MR. MARK:  Sorry.  Dr. Murphy.  You haven't filed or performed any analysis of your own on this.  My question to you is:  You must agree with me that whatever the initial upward price pressure is --


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  -- it will be mitigated, it will be offset, and nobody is going to pay $225 million?


DR. MURPHY:  That's correct.


MR. MARK:  Now, let's look at the juxtaposition of the 225 and the 6.6 million.  Even if we accept, for the purpose of the next few questions, that there is a wealth transfer of at which $225 million, I take it, Dr. Murphy, that the 225 million and the 6.6 million in fact would never co-exist?  


DR. MURPHY:  That's correct.


MR. MARK:  Right.  Because, if you had a wealth transfer staying at the $225 million mark, that would imply there were no behavioural changes, and therefore no efficiency gains; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  That there would be no redistribution.


MR. MARK:  Right.  So, aside from any problems with the $225 million, this is a juxtaposition that will never appear; it's, in fact, it's a fictitious juxtaposition, isn't it?


DR. MURPHY:  I'm sorry, the juxtaposition of what?


MR. MARK:  The juxtaposition of a wealth transfer of 225 million versus a system benefit of $6.6 million, those two numbers will never exist together.


DR. MURPHY:  No, but there will exist a wealth transfer that is compared to the so-called benefit.


MR. MARK:  But it won't be these numbers.


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.  Neither one.


MR. MARK:  Now, Dr. Murphy, in your report you also refer to... in your paper, your report, Dr. Murphy, you refer to the work of NERA.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  On page 3 in particular, in the second full paragraph, you make this statement.  You say:

"In a presentation to the market pricing working group on the subject of ramp rate options, NERA cautioned 'changes to improve one aspect of a system may make the overall system worse' and cited the theory of the second-best."


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  (Reading):

 “This theory says that where not all of the conditions for optimality in the competitive model are satisfied, the belief that it is better to fill some of them rather than none is false."


Now, the sentence that says:

"This theory says that where not all of the conditions for optimality in the competitive model are satisfied, the belief that it is better to fill some of them rather than none is false."


Is that a correct statement of the theory of second-best?


DR. MURPHY:  It is.


MR. MARK:  So you say that the theory says that you should never make an incremental change unless it's in the context of resolving every distortion or inefficiency in the market.


DR. MURPHY:  It says that you can't be sure, when you are making a change, whether you're going to improve the situation or worsen it.


MR. MARK:  But that's different than what you stated here, Dr. Murphy.  Doesn't the theory merely say that you have to be cautious because there may be circumstances where there will be other impacts?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  Because you do have, as most markets have, various imperfections, correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm, mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  It doesn't say you don't do it, it says be cautious, turn your mind to see if you could identify any.  But if you don't and you believe there's an incremental improvement with your proposal, you proceed; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.  But it says that "the conditions for being sure of an improvement are extremely complex."


MR. MARK:  We should in Ontario eschew any efforts to gaining any incremental improvements of an efficiency?  We should just stick with the status quo regardless?


DR. MURPHY:  No, it doesn't say that.


MR. MARK:  Well, that's what you just said, isn't it, Dr. Murphy?


DR. MURPHY:  No.  No, I'm saying that if you want to be sure that you've actually improved things, you have to define all the other distortions and show that in fact they are being improved.  That's what the theory says.


MR. MARK:  You have to define them or you have to consider them?


DR. MURPHY:  You have to define them because you have to be able to show they're improved.


MR. MARK:  All the other distortions are improved?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  So your test is that the efficiency I'm proposing to solve, problem A, must be proven to solve or improve problems B, C, D, E, F, and G?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  Thank you.  It won't surprise you to note, will it, Dr. Murphy, that NERA, in particular Dr. Falk, the author of that statement, will disagree with you on that definition?


DR. MURPHY:  Not at all.


MR. MARK:  No, it won't surprise you at all.  I'm wondering why you quoted him as being authoritative on that.


Now, all of which, I think, Dr. Murphy, leads us at the end of the day, as we just said, that you say, regardless of whether there are identified inefficiencies in the given market we have, you don't think this is worth the effort.


DR. MURPHY:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MARK:  At the time of market opening, the status quo immediately before the change was that this system was going operate with a 1X multiplier; right?  Correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.  Yes.


MR. MARK:  And I take it your theory, then, would have dictated at that time that they should simply not change that, because nobody could predict with accuracy what all the impacts of that would be, given other problems in the market?


DR. MURPHY:  No.  We knew we had a gross inefficiency, and it was obviously better to introduce a lesser inefficiency.


DR. MURPHY:  Your definition of the rule of second best doesn't apply when you don't think it should apply?


DR. MURPHY:  It's pretty well constrained to that one issue.


MR. MARK:  That's the only exception we should have, is when it went from 1X to 12X and reduce the volatility, which was so important to your clients.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.  Mm-hm.


MR. MARK:  Right.  Now, let me try you with a couple of other propositions, Dr. Murphy, and see what you have to say.  Just give me your indulgence a moment, Mr. Chair.  I just have to find a reference.


Would you agree or disagree with this statement, Dr. Murphy:

"The spot market has a central role to play in ensuring that consumption, investment and dispatch decision on Ontario's new hybrid market are efficient."


DR. MURPHY:  I would say a refined spot market has a role to play, as you've described.


MR. MARK:  Well, can we agree that the spot market has an important role to play even in a hybrid system?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  And what you're telling me is that there's a vision of that spot market which you care for, but that's the only one?


DR. MURPHY:  Say again?


MR. MARK:  Well, do you not agree -- do you agree or disagree that improvements in the efficiency of the spot market are beneficial to Ontario?


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MR. MARK:  Regardless of the fact that we have a hybrid system?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  All right.  Good.


Now, what about this proposition:

"Spot market design, even with the hybrid market, should be such as to allow spot market prices to provide an accurate reflection of underlying supply and demand conditions."


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  What about this proposition:

"There are changes in the design of the spot market which would increase the quality of the signals it can provide to planners and regulators as well as producers and customers, and that now is a good time to make these changes."


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  You will be interested to note, Dr. Murphy, that those propositions were quotes from the market surveillance panel's December 13th report, where they continue to advocate these changes.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  Now, in your evidence this morning, Dr. Murphy, you referenced this study which you says ‑‑ which you say -- I apologize for that -- which you say compares, as I understand it, 3X myopic and 12X?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  Sorry, 3X MIO and 12X.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  We have the same problem, Mr. Rupert.


Now -- and your counsel had located that reference and told us it is at the IESO February 26 filing, volume 2, section 8, tab 9.


Do you have that?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  And I'm advised, Dr. Murphy, that this, in fact, has nothing to do with MIO.  Do you agree with that?


DR. MURPHY:  I was under the understanding that did have to do with MIO.


MR. MARK:  You'll agree with me as you read it there's nothing in there that talks about MIO?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  And it appears to be simply a comparison of a 3X interval and the 12X?


DR. MURPHY:  So it would suggest that there's no difference between 3X and 12X?  Then how would we get a difference in price using one over the other?


MR. MARK:  Because the -- and the reason for that, of course, is set out in the last paragraph of the text; correct? 


MR. RUPERT:  Sorry, I want to make sure, Mr. Mark, I've got the right documents.


MR. MARK:  It's an e‑mail dated January 12 from Andy Hee to Paul Murphy.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, and I just want to understand that this memo, so I make sure I understand this, is talking about a particular hour, 12 five-minute intervals in a single hour.  it is not a general study of --


MR. MARK:  No, this was a run on one particular 

hour --


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thank you.


MR. MARK:  -- of one particular day under particular conditions.  Do you understand that's what this was, Dr. Murphy?


DR. MURPHY:  Seems like that, yes.


MR. MARK:  Yes.  And for this hour, under those conditions, there was a similarity between the simulated price and the 3X price?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes, but there was a simulation of 3X ‑‑ no, 1X under MIO ‑‑


MR. MARK:  No, I agree with you.  I mean, I think we're in agreement.  My advice is that this isn't the MIO comparison.  The MIO comparison was a 1X MIO compared to 12X ‑‑


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MR. MARK:  ‑‑ unconstrained.


DR. MURPHY:  Right.  And the conclusion of that was that there was no difference between the MIO price -- that they ended up with the same MIO price.


MR. MARK:  Well, but let's be clear.  That was a comparison against 12X unconstrained --


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  -- which is not what we have in our system.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. MARK:  Our dispatches run on a 12X constrained ‑‑ pardon me, on a 1X constrained.


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MR. MARK:  Right.


DR. MURPHY:  But the point was to replicate in unconstrained what was being done in constrained.


MR. MARK:  I know, but let's be clear.  It wasn't a comparison of 1X MIO versus the dispatch costs under the system we have today.


DR. MURPHY:  Right.  And the conclusions were that if you get prices that are the same as 12X, then they are representing the true costs.  That was the point of the simulation.


MR. MARK:  Sorry.  The true costs, Dr. Murphy, are the actual costs that are derived from the actual dispatch by our dispatch algorithm?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MR. MARK:  And our dispatch algorithm is constrained; correct?


DR. MURPHY:  Right.  And the closer you can align the unconstrained to the constrained, the closer you're getting to the true costs.


MR. MARK:  No, the closer you're getting to a different cost.  But it's not the cost --


DR. MURPHY:  The true costs.


MR. MARK:  Well ‑‑


DR. MURPHY:  That's precisely what NERA says.


MR. MARK:  Well, we'll agree to disagree on that one.


Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are my questions.


MR. RUPERT:  Could I -- just before you leave, is there a reference for the study that you have just been questioning Dr. Murphy on somewhere, and what is the right reference that I should look at for the study that is referred to on page 4, which I gather now is a 1X MIO versus 12X myopic?


MR. MARK:  We'll get you that.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.  I don't need it now.  If you could get it for me at some point.


MR. MARK:  I'm sorry, I think we have it now.


MS. FRIEDMAN:  Mr. Chair, the MIO simulation calculations that are being referred to can be found in volume 1 ‑‑ in volume 1 of the IESO filing of February 26, section 3, tab 4.  Those simulations are attached ‑‑ contained within the minutes of the January 20, 2006 market pricing working group meeting.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. DeMarco, do you have questions of this witness?


MS. DeMARCO:  I do, Mr. Chair.  I think I can substantially eliminate significant numbers, so I wonder if it's an appropriate time to break so I can achieve some efficiency for the Board and hopefully not stand between my expert witness and his vacation.


MR. KAISER:  All right, let's take 15 minutes.  


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:28 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 11:53 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


MR. MARK:  Before my friends continue, Mr. Chairman, when I told you what our agreements were this morning with respect to the conduct of the proceeding, I neglected to mention that we had spoken about an agreed subject of the Board's direction regarding argument, and the agreement we have - again, subject to the Panel's view, obviously - is that Mr. Rodger would submit written argument on Monday, and the other parties would submit written argument on Wednesday, and if Mr. Rodger has any reply, on Thursday.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll consider that.  Ms. DeMarco.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Murphy, in one of your responses I've written down that you indicated:

"There are no studies to support that 12X ramp rate understates the market price."  

Did I get that right?


DR. MURPHY:   Yes.  I'm not aware of any.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to tab 10 of my compendium of documents and --


DR. MURPHY:  Which one is that?


MS. DeMARCO:  This is in response to the compendium of documents to support the examination of Cliff Hamal.


That was at tab 10.


DR. MURPHY:  Okay.


MS. DeMARCO:  Starting at page 63.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MS. DeMARCO:  This is an excerpt from the market surveillance panel report outlining a study that they did to examine the price depression impacts of the 12X ramp rate.  If I can take you to the second-last paragraph, can we read together?  It says that:

"Since the price difference is higher during the peak hours, the difference between the weighted average HOEP for those 15 days should be greater.  The weighted average sandbox HOEP was $53.38, assuming 12X ramp rate, while the weighted average sandbox HOEP was $61.93 when ramp rates are set at their actual values, a difference of $8.55."


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that a study was done?


DR. MURPHY:  Okay.


MS. DeMARCO:  I have some very brief questions for you in relation to the overreaching nature of the hybrid electricity market, and specifically on page 2 of your evidence, you refer to the Government's stated policy objectives --


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MS. DeMARCO:  -- in creating a hybrid market.  Can I ask you to turn to page 17 of the compendium of documents that you now have before you.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Tab 17 includes the speech from Minister Duncan outlining his vision for the hybrid market, entitled:  "Choosing what works for a change."  If I can ask you --


DR. MURPHY:  I'm sorry, what page again?


MR. HOWE:  Page 3 of that document.


DR. MURPHY:  Okay.


MS. DeMARCO:  Tab 17.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Starting at the second paragraph of that document, the Minister indicates:

"Today I will outline a plan for the electricity sector that will encourage the development of a new reliable supply, promote a culture of conservation, lessen the environmental footprint of our undertakings, produce stable prices for small consumers, afford large consumers the benefits of a competitive market, and enhance Ontario's competitiveness in electricity pricing."


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say, then, encouraging the development of new reliable supply is an objective in the hybrid market?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Fair to say, then, promoting a culture of conservation is also an objective for that hybrid market?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Lessening the environmental footprint, also an objective?


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MS. DeMARCO:  Producing stable prices for small consumers, also an objective?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Affording large consumers the benefits of a competitive market, also an objective?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And enhancing Ontario's competitiveness in electricity pricing, also an objective?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.  The whole series of non-competitive measures leading up to a competitive market.  I agree.


MS. DeMARCO:  Moving along, then, to the fourth full paragraph on that page, the Minister indicates:

”Finally, the plan I will outline recognizes that ratepayers must pay the true cost of the electricity they consume."


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say, then, that that's also a very important objective?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And to this end Ontario is currently installing thousands of Smart Meters across the province?  Is that fair?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Those Smart Meters are installed so that customers know the price of electricity, the market price of electricity; fair?


DR. MURPHY:  At some point in the future, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And then, further along in that speech, down in the - one, two, three, four – fifth full paragraph, the Minister indicates:

"Our policy will not be bound by ideology but rather by what works."


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would you agree that it's fair to say that the Minister's vision of a hybrid market is not based on the ideology of something perfect, but rather a pragmatic view of what works?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  If I can ask you to turn to -- and I'll apologize, it is not in my book of materials. 


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Volume 1, subsection 3, tab 10 of the IESO's evidence.  What that is is the minutes of a meeting of the stakeholder advisory committee on May 24th, 2006.


MR. RODGER:  Could we have a reference again, please, Ms. DeMarco?


MS. DeMARCO:  Sure.  Volume 1, section 3, tab 10.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.


MS. DeMARCO:  Again, those were the minutes of a May 24, 2006, stakeholder advisory committee, wherein the vision of the Ontario electricity market was being discussed.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MS. DeMARCO:  If I can take you to --


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  -- pages 7 and 8 of that document, where we see AMPCO's vision of that electricity market, specifically, on page 8, the second paragraph.  AMPCO states:

"AMPCO is strategically working towards a desired endstate.  There is a need to be pragmatic now.  It is not all or nothing."


Is that fair?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is if fair to say, then, that AMPCO shares the Minister's vision of a pragmatic, not-perfect, not purely ideological model?


DR. MURPHY:  Absolutely, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Those are my questions.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm-hm.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Mr. Buonaguro, did you have any questions?


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Any questions?


MS. ERZETIC:  No, we have no questions, sir.


MR. KAISER:  TransCanada?


MS. AVERY:  We do have a few questions.


MR. KAISER:  All right, please go ahead.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. AVERY:

MS. AVERY:  I'll try and be brief with you, Dr. Murphy.  If I can go back to what you originally said when you were being examined by your counsel, I understand you told us it was the perception of price volatility that caused the introduction of the 12X ramp rate multiplier; is that right?


DR. MURPHY:  I'm sorry, I can't hear.


MS. AVERY:  I'll try a little closer to the mike.  If I can understand the evidence you gave in-chief today, sir, it was the perception of price volatility that led to the introduction of the 12X ramp rate.


DR. MURPHY:  That's correct.


MS. AVERY:  Is that right, sir?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. AVERY:  It wasn't anything to do with export issues that led to the actual introduction of the ramp rate multiplier?


DR. MURPHY:  That's correct.


MS. AVERY:  Sorry, Madam Reporter, I’ll try my best to go slower, or more slowly.


And it was the intent from the change from a 1X multiplier to a 12X multiplier to dampen volatility; is that right?


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MS. AVERY:  Would you agree with me, then, the introduction of a 12X multiplier was a distortion from the original vision of the markets?


DR. MURPHY:  That's correct.


MS. AVERY:  I've looked at AMPCO's application, and I'm certain you have as well, sir.  Would you agree that the 12X ramp rate multiplier was only ever meant to be a transitional measure?


DR. MURPHY:  That's right.


MS. AVERY:  And AMPCO's application, they indicate that the change to a 3X ramp rate assumption is essentially an arbitrary decision from going from 12 to 3; would you agree with that?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm, yes.


MS. AVERY:  And would you agree that the number 12 in itself is somewhat arbitrary?


DR. MURPHY:  It is.  It worked.


MS. AVERY:  And would you agree with me, sir, that the only number that wouldn't be arbitrary in connection with the multiplier would be the number 1?


DR. MURPHY:  Okay, yes.  I see what you mean.  Mm‑hm.


MS. AVERY:  Now, I want to just briefly address some of the evidence you also gave in‑chief concerning what I believe you called the free riders in the market.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MS. AVERY:  And to do that, I think we need to look just briefly at how the markets operate.  Would you agree with me, sir, that all of the generators in Ontario are expected to be able to change their dispatch on a five-minute interval?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm, yes.


MS. AVERY:  So generators that can't ramp very quickly either up or down have to bid to account for that inability; is that right?


DR. MURPHY:  Correct.


MS. AVERY:  Is that "yes" on the record, sir?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. AVERY:  And so would you agree with what the applicant has said in its application, that different types of generators have these different capabilities and, therefore, generators such as nukes, or nuclear facilities, have to normally bid their energy prices to avoid ramping; is that right?


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MS. AVERY:  And they bid that to avoid ramping by bidding at a lower rate; would you agree with that?


DR. MURPHY:  Right.


MS. AVERY:  So would you agree with me that the effect of this bidding strategy, which is to bid at a low rate so that they're constantly running, is one that results in lower prices setting the market price in hours of non‑ramping than would normally be expected by generators that could ramp more quickly?


DR. MURPHY:  It depends upon who's at the margin and who's setting the price, but, generally speaking, if you're at low levels of demand, that might be correct.


MS. AVERY:  So the base load generators are bidding at a low rate so that they won't be ramped up or down.  And you agree with me, then, that they sometimes do set the market prices in the periods where ramping isn't taking place?


DR. MURPHY:  That's correct, yes.


MS. AVERY:  Can you tell us today what some of the examples of this base load generation would include?  We understand from the record that might include nuclear, but are you aware of any other generators that might be included within this base load category?


DR. MURPHY:  We've always referred to the base load generators as being the ones that we were concerned about, big volumes, low prices, susceptible to windfalls.


MS. AVERY:  But the windfall language you're speaking about are those hours during which ramping would be taking place; is that right?


DR. MURPHY:  That's correct, yes.


MS. AVERY:  And so that would be at times when other generators would be setting the market price?


DR. MURPHY:  That's right.


MS. AVERY:  And so it wouldn't be these other generators setting the market price during these other hours when ramping wasn't taking place?


DR. MURPHY:  Sorry, say again?


MS. AVERY:  So I think we've established on the record today that sometimes it's the base load generators that set the price and that they have to bid in a defensive way ‑‑


DR. MURPHY:  Well, the base load generators never set the price.  If you're talking about nuclear, they never set the price.  So it's the next ones up.


MS. AVERY:  And what generation would that be, sir?


DR. MURPHY:  That would be presumably base load 

coal --


MS. AVERY:  And do you have any ‑‑


DR. MURPHY:  -- or hydro.


MS. AVERY:  Have you provided ‑‑ or, pardon me.  Strike that.


Just one moment, please.


Would you agree with me that the bidding behaviour of some of the business load generation has the effect of dampening the overall HOEP?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes, could.


MS. AVERY:  Thank you, sir.


Now, if I can move more directly into the report that was filed late on Monday, would you agree that the IESO itself is created by the Electricity Act?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MS. AVERY:  And would you agree with me that the markets themselves were created by virtue of the Electricity Act?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MS. AVERY:  And do you agree with me that the IESO obviously still calculates an hourly Ontario energy price?


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MS. AVERY:  And do you agree with me that generators still bid into that market?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. AVERY:  Now, you've had some discussion in your report where it seems to me the upshot of it is that the markets were created, things have happened to make the market a hybrid, and IESO is still essentially playing from the old play book.  Is that a fair summary of your first page?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. AVERY:  Now, if we can start looking at some of the differences between this hybrid model and the competitive model, I guess the difference between what you perceive to be the reality today and what the IESO seems to be trying to fix.


DR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MS. AVERY:  If I can take you to page 2 of your report, you say -- in the second full paragraph, you talk about the demand side.  And you say that:

"For the most part, prices are regulated."


Would you agree with me, sir, that you're speaking in terms of retail prices, not wholesale prices?


DR. MURPHY:  Both, actually.  Formal regulation at the retail level through the regulated prices of OPG and the OPG rebate, and then effective regulation in the sense that a free hedge has been created for all customers by virtue of the fact they participate in that rebate.


MS. AVERY:  But that's in connection with retail customers, right, rather than wholesale customers; is that right?


DR. MURPHY:  Well, the RPP is connected with the retail customers.  The others are on their own, but they get the effect of that.


MS. AVERY:  Now, you next say that:

"Conservation is encouraged through separate programs administered by the OPA."


Is it also the case that the IESO has created load response programs?


DR. MURPHY:  The IESO?  Yes, they have.  Yeah. 


MS. AVERY:  Now, in your next paragraph you conclude with this:

"The combination of market power and demand that is made even more unresponsive to price by government pricing policy..."


And that's what we've just talked about:

"...creates the potential for prices considerably higher than the competitive benchmark."


Have you provided any analysis to show that this has, in fact, taken place?


DR. MURPHY:  No.


MS. AVERY:  Now, would you agree with me that going from a 12X ramp rate multiplier to a 3X ramp rate multiplier will reduce CMSC payments?


DR. MURPHY:  Will reduce CMSC payments?  I guess it depends upon how you did.  If you stayed with the current system, you would have one effect.  If you went with the MIO system, you would have something else.


MS. AVERY:  And when you are talking about going with the MIO system, you are talking about adding MIO to the pricing part of the schedule, because it's already obviously been added to the dispatch part of the schedule; is that right?


DR. MURPHY:  That's right, yes.


MS. AVERY:  So if we were to go from 12 to 3, without adding the MIO optic to the pricing side, would you agree that that would reduce CMSC payments?


DR. MURPHY:  That's correct, yes.


MS. AVERY:  And you agree that these payments are a form of uplift?


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. AVERY:  And do you agree with the position your clients have taken in their filed evidence, and they quote I believe paragraph 48 of their application, that any kind of ramp rate solution should not include any kind of uplift?  Would you agree with that assertion?


DR. MURPHY:  That a ramp rate solution...


MS. AVERY:  I can take you to paragraph 48, if that would be easier for your to comment on.


DR. MURPHY:  Yes.


MS. AVERY:  It says that at paragraph 48:

"On February 7, 2007, AMPCO wrote to Mr. Ken Kozlik, the director of market evolution, to propose that the IESO consider five market criteria for any new ramp rate mechanism.  The first one was that any mechanism should be transparent in sending the correct signals to the market, and that such a mechanism should not increase uplift, which is opaque in terms of price signals and cannot be hedged."


DR. MURPHY:  I think that comment was related to particular types of solutions to the problem that Ken was recommending that would create additional payments to generators who had ramping capability and their receiving side payments.  They would be picked up by uplift payments by everybody else.


MS. AVERY:  But would you generally agree that any kind of payment for ramp that is opaque is less beneficial to a competitive market than one that is transparent?


DR. MURPHY:  That's correct.


MS. AVERY:  And I just have one final question, sir, and that's in connection with this theory of second best. And you've answered a number of questions for my friend, Mr. Mark, this morning in connection with that, but I'm just wondering, sir, if this theory of the second best, as you formulated this morning, was one that was used in the 150- to 200‑odd market rule amendments that have been completed by the IESO since the inception of the market?


DR. MURPHY:  It has never been used in all that period.  It's quite a devastating theory, really, in its pure statement.  It says if you don't get everything, then you can't get anything.


If there are distortions to the basic set of assumptions, then moving one of them close to the efficient level tells you nothing about whether you're better off or worse off.  And you can think of circumstances where that's true.  I won't get into that now, but it has been quite a devastating theory to welfare economics.


MS. AVERY:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Dr. Murphy.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have anything?


MR. MILLAR:  Nothing from me, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Mark, are your witnesses ready?  Oh, I'm sorry.


MR. RODGER:  Just a couple of reply questions, sir.


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Dr. Murphy, in your exchange with Mr. Mark you had a discussion about the export surcharges.  Is it your evidence that this is the only option that the IESO should consider?


DR. MURPHY:  No, not at all.  I wasn't raising this as a proposal.  I was saying that the working price group has not considered alternatives.  I just threw that up as an example, that's all.


MR. MILLAR:  You also had a discussion with Mr. Mark  about major impacts to HOEP but you didn't get a chance to complete your answer as to what these major impacts were, in your view.  Could you tell us them now, please?


DR. MURPHY:  Sure.  The IESO made a series of assumptions in coming up with their estimates, but I thought it would be reasonable to take a look at some alternative reasonable assumptions, if I can find them.  Bear with me just one sec.  So much paper here.


Here it is.  What the IESO did was to take their 2.6 percent, which was the extent of the price increase that came out of the simulation, and they applied it to the average price that existed in 2006, which happened to be the lowest price that we've seen in quite some time.


I said, well, this thing exists for indefinitely, so why not take 2009 and assume that it was at 2005 prices.


2005 prices averaged $69.50.  If I take 2.6 percent of that – do that again; my scribbling is a mess - now I get 1.70.


MR. MARK:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  Could I interject for a moment, please?  The witness is now reading from an analysis that he's prepared.  It's not part of his report.  When Mr. Rodger and I spoke the issue of whether you should have a Technical Conference or not, Mr. Rodger confirmed to me, and it's confirmed in the correspondence, that he would not through his witnesses be tendering any analysis, calculation, forecast, model, econometric study.  Now we're getting this for the first time on re-examination.


MR. KAISER:  I thought all the witness is doing, Mr. Mark, is redoing these calculations assuming he was using 2005 prices instead of 2006.  Am I wrong?


MR. MARK:  He said 2009 prices, I think.


MR. KAISER:  This 69.50, I thought he said it was a 2005 price.  Am I wrong?


MR. MARK:  I don't know.  I don't have the calculation.


MR. RODGER:  Perhaps Dr. Murphy can clarify.  The intent of the question was just to ask what were the other major impacts that he would identify on the price...


MR. KAISER:  I think the question here is whether this is some study that hasn't been produced or whether -- I understood the point of your examination to be to do the calculation as the IESO had, but to use prices - I don't know whether 2009 or 2005 - instead of 2006.  Is that what you're asking your witness to do?


MR. RODGER:  Essentially, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chair --


MR. MARK:  With respect, behind those numbers there's no formula on those pages.  For this witness to be giving that evidence, he must have run a model to have done a series of calculations or modelling calculations, mathematical equations, and that's what Mr. Rodger told me that he wasn't going to put up.  And especially to put it up in re-exam -- I've had no chance to look at it.  I don't know what it's based on.


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, if I could also voice.  I don't know that 2005 prices have been put in evidence and probed accurately.  I don't know that 2009 estimated prices have been put in evidence and probed.  So, really, the basis for that calculation hasn't been presented at all.


MR. KAISER:  Well, we can figure out what the 2005 or 2009 price is without having a big argument about it.  But let me understand.  I had thought that if you substituted the $49 with $69.50 - I thought it was 2005, maybe it's 2009, we'll find out - that if you’re simply reducing you the impact due to arbitrage by the same 50 percent, that's not some econometric model, that's just straight arithmetic, isn't it?


MR. MARK:  No, if he's just substituting that number, that's fine.


MR. RODGER:  That was my understanding of the extent of it.  I don't think there is any independent study or analysis that Dr. Murphy has done, as I indicated to my friend.


MR. MARK:  I had assumed that we were going to get into a question of changing the assumption of 50 percent.  If that's where we're going, that's way out of bounds.


MR. KAISER:  No; I understand.  I didn't assume that.


MR. MARK:  Okay.


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, I do have a remaining challenge with that because as you change the price, according to footnote 4 of tab 2 of our documents, the CMS/CMIOG savings vary with that price.  You would have to do an assorted analysis to make that number accurate as well.  We simply don't have that analysis before us.


MR. KAISER:  But do they vary directly with price or is that just another piece of arithmetic?


MS. DeMARCO:  I’m not certain that’s the case.  Certainly, we would love the ability to examine that. 


MR. KAISER:  What is it your witness is calculating? What was the last question, Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  I wanted to clarify the discussion, Dr. Murphy, you had with Mr. Mark about, on the general topic of major impacts that affect the HOEP, and you started to give a list of the major impacts in your view, but you didn't get through them all.  I wanted to make sure the record reflects all of the major impacts that you think exist that impact HOEP under the current hybrid system.


DR. MURPHY:  I was just looking at alternative situations and saying, this is going to last for quite some time.  Suppose that we had the prices of 2005 which were $69.50, compared to $49.  And when it comes to the arbitrage impact, that's a judgmental.  I've looked through the MSP information on that to see what their view was.  If I can find it.  There it is.  This goes to the issue of arbitrage, and in the IESO calculation, what they're saying is, half the price increase that you might expect is being arbitraged away through exports and imports.


The MSP looked at this same issue, and it concluded, talking about a price difference:

"This dynamic adjustment process would continue to the point that, in equilibrium, absent any constraints on the intertie, all arbitrage opportunities would dissipate.  The key point here is that, at least in theory, there should be no inefficient trade flows."


It defines that there are inefficient trade flows and examines possible reasons for it, finally concluding:

"This apparently inefficient arbitrage is extensive and contrary to our theoretical expectations."


So, suppose I say that I take, instead of half that the IESO's put in, a quarter of that. 

MR. MARK:  Mr. Chairman, this is exactly what wasn't supposed to happen.  The witness is now saying -- giving his expert testimony as to what a different number than the 50 percent may be.  That was a calculation we have done.  AMPCO has had it four months.  It's not in his prefiled. 


Mr. Rodger told me he was going to present no analysis through this witness, and now we get it on re‑exam.  He's read a passage of the market surveillance panel report that I can tell you has nothing to do with the conclusion he just talked about.  This is not appropriate re-examination.


MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Mark ‑‑


MR. MARK:  If what we want, which is, I think, Mr. Rodger suggested was going to be the question, is:  What is the mathematical result on this table if you change the input price, if you look in the box below, Mr. Chairman, under the footnotes, you'll see we've given you that.  


If you change the price to those prices, there's the result of this table, of this model.


But what this witness is now saying is, I want to change ‑‑ I want to change the 50 percent assumption.  I want to challenge the econometric analysis that was done by Mr. Rivard, with the assistance of the folks from the University of Toronto and Mr. Falk, and suggest to you that it should be another number.  


It's not in a report, didn't disclose it in months; not in the report, not in his chief, and he can't do it now.  This is sandbagging of the highest order.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I'm not sure that it's sandbagging.  You took him through this calculation.  It's true he didn't question the 50 percent in his answers to you.  It's come up in reply.  


Let's proceed on this basis.  Let's hear his answer.  If you need to ask any questions about his answer or Ms. DeMarco does, we'll allow you to.  It's an important point.  We'd like to know whether the 50 percent can be relied on or not relied on.


MR. RUPERT:  Before we carry on, let me just ask one further question going back to this morning.  There was a letter, the October 24th letter from AMPCO to Mr. Rivard, which had the conclusion that said:  

"We are now satisfied that the IESO's methodology for calculating net financial impacts on electricity price increases is sound."


And I just want to make sure I understood the answers this morning.  I took it - maybe I was wrong, I guess - that that letter was intended to say that the AMPCO folks had accepted the 50 percent calculation.  Am I wrong on that?  I just want to make sure I understand where we're going here. 


Are we saying the 50 percent calculation is now in question?


MR. RODGER:  As I understand it, AMPCO is saying that the IESO did the math correctly.  That doesn't mean that AMPCO has accepted the analysis or basis upon which that is concluded.


MR. RUPERT:  Well, I read the methodology to be more than arithmetic, but maybe I am wrong.  I just want to understand whether you're saying, if you do alternative calculation, you have different numbers, which I can appreciate, or whether you're saying that the 50 percent itself is a number that you believe is suspect.


MR. RODGER:  I wonder if it would be helpful for Mr. White ‑ it's his letter ‑ just to clarify it.


MR. KAISER:  This is the letter of October 24th?  By the way, does this have an exhibit number, now that we're into it?  I know it was slipped into some other document, but it's now floating around.


MS. DeMARCO:  It was tab 61, I believe, volume 2, section 8, tab 61, subject to check.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Okay, what number is the ‑‑ Ms. DeMarco's compendium?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Well, let's give it a separate number, anyway, because it was just put in loose.  This is Mr. White's letter of October 24, 2006.  What number would this be?  


MR. CAMPBELL:  It would be K2.4, Mr. Chair.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  LETTER FROM MR. WHITE DATED OCTOBER 24, 2006.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. White?


MR. WHITE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


As was discussed earlier, Dr. Murphy and I spent some time with IESO staff in the weeks preceding this letter, during which time, for example, we reviewed the Order in Council that sets out how the IESO will settle ‑‑


MS. ERZETIC:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  Should Mr. White be sworn?  Is he giving evidence now?


MR. KAISER:  Well, it's getting pretty close to that, I admit.


MR. RODGER:  I thought it might be helpful for Mr. White to clarify the specific issue with Mr. Rupert.


MR. MARK:  If counsel wants to tell us whether Mr. Rupert's understanding is correct or incorrect, I'm content.  I don't want Mr. White giving evidence.  He's not under oath.  He was not going to testify.


MR. KAISER:  I think you're right about that, Mr. Mark.  Why don't you take time to talk to Mr. White?  We'll...


MR. RODGER:  That's fine, sir.


MR. KAISER:  We can come back after the lunch break, if that's what you want to do.


MR. RODGER:  I just had one final area.  Perhaps what we could do is I could just ask Dr. Murphy my final question, and then at the break get this clarified.  Then after lunch you could start with the IESO's panel.


MR. KAISER:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Mark?


MR. MARK:  That's fine, sir.


MR. RODGER:  Dr. Murphy, you also had an exchange with some of my friends concerning a conclusion you had made on page 4 of your report.  This has to do with the wealth transfer and your statement that reads:

"Is it reasonable to attempt to achieve an uncertain $6.6 million in system benefit when it involves a wealth transfer of $225 million?  In my opinion, this is not a reasonable outcome."


Now, has your conclusion changed on this in discussion with your friends, or this still stands?  Is this still your position?


DR. MURPHY:  It's still my position.  And even if you allow for the rebates, as we'll go through in the arithmetic exercise in a sec, it comes out to be about 100 million, so you have a wealth transfer of about $100 million to save a questionable $6 million, and you can only justify that if you say that wealth transfers account for zero.  


But as a practical matter, it seems to me to make not much sense, particularly when you haven't explored other opportunities that could create no wealth transfer and have the same effect.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll come back at 1:30.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m. 


‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:39 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.  Just before the lunch break there was a question of interpretation about Mr. White's October 24th, 2006, letter to Mr. Rivard.  The sentence in question reads as follows:

"As a result of this new information and our deeper understanding of the issues, we are now satisfied that the IESO's methodology for calculating the net financial impacts of electricity price increases is sound."


If you go to the net payments 3X ramp rate table that my friends referred to, in the IESO compendium of materials at tab 3, what this sentence refers to is the 80 percent figure, the global adjustment.  OPG rebate reduces the impact by 80 percent.   


There was discussion between --


MR. MARK:  I acknowledge that.  I haven't checked with my clients, Mr. Chairman, but I think we're agreed that that is a reference to the method that was used to come up with the 80 percent figure.


MR. RODGER:  That's right, the 80 percent was calculated correctly.  AMPCO agrees with that.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MARK:  Ready for my panel, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have anything, Mr. Millar, or did I ask you?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Mr. Chair.  You've asked.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  All right, please proceed.


MR. MARK:  Asking Mr. Campbell, Mr. Kozlik, and Dr. Rivard to come forward.


Mr. Chair, while they're settling in, we had initially, yesterday or the day before, filed an errata --


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  -- with certain changes to our evidence.  As a result of your ruling yesterday and our discussions amongst counsel, a lot of that, I think virtually most of it, anyways, becomes irrelevant.


What I'd like to do is withdraw the errata, and what we have are a few amended pages for our main submission, which is changes in the material which appears at tab I of our evidence filed on February the 26th.  There are four typographical errors that these pages will  correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I suppose we should mark this as an exhibit, since it's changes to the prefiled.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, please.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K2.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  CORRECTIONS TO COST BENEFIT ANALYSIS


MR. MILLAR:  This, and Mr. Mark can correct me if I am wrong, appears to be corrections to the cost benefit analysis.  Is that right, Mr. Mark?


MR. MARK:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MR. MARK:  I ask that the witnesses be sworn.


IESO - PANEL 1

Bruce Campbell; Sworn


Brian Rivard; Sworn


Ken Kozlik; Sworn


MR. MARK:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, in the interest of expediting proceedings and in the hope of finishing today, counsel have agreed to dispense with reviewing the curriculum vitae of the witnesses, as they've been filed, and counsel have also agreed that Dr. Rivard is qualified to testify as an economist, particularly in relation to markets, including electricity markets.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. MARK:

MR. MARK:  Mr. Campbell, let me start with you, please.  Can you tell me briefly what is your position with the company, and what is your role with respect to the proposed market amendment.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm vice-president, corporate relations and market development, and my role in relation to this amendment flows from one of my responsibilities, being the market development area of the IESO's business.  And I am responsible for taking recommendations on those matters forward to the Board.


MR. MARK:  And, Mr. Kozlik, how about yourself?  What's your position with the company?  What role have you played in this?


MR. KOZLIK:  I'm the director of market evolution.  As such, I'm the Chair of the market pricing working group, which is the forum where most of the technical analysis was performed.


MR. MARK:  And, Dr. Rivard, yourself.


DR. RIVARD:  I'm the manager economics, and manager of the market evolution analysis and research group.


MR. MARK:  And --


DR. RIVARD:  Sorry.  I guess my involvement in this file was to manage the economic analysis.


MR. MARK:  Now, Mr. Kozlik, let me turn to you to discuss some background with regard to the proposal.  What is the HOEP?


MR. KOZLIK:  The HOEP is the hourly Ontario energy price, and it represents the hourly average of the five-minute market clearing prices that come from the pricing algorithm.


MR. MARK:  What is the pricing algorithm?


MR. KOZLIK:  The pricing algorithm is a computer program that's run every five minutes by the IESO that calculates the energy price, which is the basis for the charge in payment of energy in Ontario.


MR. MARK:  How does the pricing algorithm compare to the dispatch algorithm?


MR. KOZLIK:  The pricing algorithm and the dispatch algorithm use exactly the same logic in their calculations.


The differences are that the pricing algorithm does not respect all the physical constraints that the dispatch algorithm must in order to maintain reliability of the system.


MR. MARK:  Is this difference between the two algorithms a desirable state of affairs?


MR. KOZLIK:  No.  It's not.  The preference is that the prices match exactly the costs of the dispatch.


MR. MARK:  What implications does this difference have for the price signal which is sent to market participants?


MR. KOZLIK:  The price signal is a trigger for actions for all participants that are not being dispatched by the IESO.  So, when the price signal is not reflecting the actual costs of dispatch, then actions can be taking place that are not consistent with the actual costs of dispatch that those actions result in.


MR. MARK:  And how does the term which we've heard much about so far, "efficiency," relate to this phenomenon?


MR. KOZLIK:  To the extent that actions are taken that are not consistent with the costs that are being incurred in running the system, then they are inefficient actions.


MR. MARK:  Now, mention has been made, I know you are aware, Mr. Kozlik, of the issue of Ontario having a hybrid market.  And let me ask you this.  Is the price signal relevant in the context of the hybrid market we have in Ontario?


MR. KOZLIK:  The price signal is still very relevant in the hybrid market.  It's relevant to the supply side in Ontario.  It's relevant to the consuming side in Ontario, and it's very relevant to the arranging of imports and exports to and from Ontario.


MR. MARK:  Do you have any estimate, Mr. Kozlik, of how much of the load consumed in Ontario is exposed directly to the HOEP?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, I do.  The portion of the load that is not exposed is the regulated price plan, and that's just under 50 percent; therefore, it's over 50 percent of the load is exposed to the hourly Ontario energy price.


MR. MARK:  What has the market surveillance panel had to say about the issue of efficient price signals?


MR. KOZLIK:  In every report that the market surveillance panel has produced they've commented on what they refer to as the wedge between the Hourly Ontario Energy Price and the actual costs of dispatch, and the extent that that is creating inefficiencies in the market.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Chairman, I'm reminded by a note from my colleague that I've done the unmentionable and I've forgotten to have the witnesses adopt their prefiled testimony.  I'm just going to interrupt the flow at this point and ask each of these gentlemen if for the purpose of appearance today they adopt the prefiled testimony as their own.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, I do.


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, I do.


DR. RIVARD:  Yes, I do.


MR. MARK:  Thank you.  I'm indebted to my colleague.  
Now returning, Mr. Kozlik, to the market surveillance panel and if they had anything to say about the timing of any changes which are contemplated to address inefficiencies.


MR. KOZLIK:  The market surveillance was commenting from its first report and it continues to comment even in its latest report despite the introduction of the hybrid market.


MR. MARK:  Now, let's turn to the ramp rate in particular, Mr. Kozlik.  What is the ramp rate?


MR. KOZLIK:  Ramp rate is a term that is used to define how quickly a facility can change its output, specifically with a generator, how quickly it can change its output from one level to another, and it's usually expressed in megawatts per minute.


MR. MARK:  And what role does ramping play in the Ontario system?


MR. KOZLIK:  Ramping is critical to ensure that the supply/demand balance can be maintained over time, especially in the changes in demand throughout the day.  As you can imagine, the demand for electricity increases at a very high rate as we're going through the morning.  We need generators to be able to change their output from one level to another in order to keep up with that change of demand. 


It's critical to the maintaining of supply/demand balance.


MR. MARK:  And what is the ramp rate multiplier and why is it used?


MR. KOZLIK:  The ramp rate multiplier is a multiplier that exists only in the pricing algorithm, and it is a multiplier to change the way in which the pricing algorithm looks at the ramp rates of the facilities it has available to choose from.  


It effectively takes the ramp rate that those facilities have and multiplies them by a factor.  In the current case, at this point, it's a factor of 12.


MR. MARK:  And why do you have the ramp rate multiplier?


MR. KOZLIK:  Leading up to the market opening, there were extensive tests that were conducted, and when we got to the phase called coupled operational dry run, the prices that were being produced from those tests were volatile, much more volatile than people had expected, and unpredictable, and it was agreed by all that this was not a circumstance that was amenable to market opening; and it was agreed at that time, by the IMO board, to institute the ramp rate multiplier in the pricing algorithm.


With the pricing algorithm seeing generators that could actually ramp 12X more quickly than they actually can, it effectively dampened the prices to align them better with the expectations.


MR. MARK:  What ramp rate was used at that time?


MR. KOZLIK:  It was a 12X ramp rate multiplier.


MR. MARK:  And why was 12X selected?


MR. KOZLIK:  In those test results, the pre‑dispatch prices that were being produced, which are prices produced one hour in advance of actual operation, were judged by all involved as somewhat reasonable outcomes relative to the supply/demand situations that appeared to exist in those tests.


The pre‑dispatch, being an hourly calculation, is a longer interval than the pricing algorithm, which has to set price every five minutes.  Given that there are 12 five‑minute intervals in an hour, it was felt that by using a 12X multiplier, we would then have real‑time prices that more closely emulated the pre‑dispatch prices.


MR. MARK:  Was this intended as a permanent solution to the volatility you spoke of before?


MR. KOZLIK:  No, it was put forward as a transitional measure and it was recognized as such both in the rule amendment document and in the memo from Paul Murphy to the IESO ‑‑ pardon me, the IMO board at its ‑‑ at the time it was adopted.


MR. MARK:  And why was this viewed as only a temporary measure?


MR. KOZLIK:  Well, even then it was realized that this was going to result in an inefficient outcome that would create the gap -- it would reinforce the gap between the actual prices of the HOEP and the actual costs of dispatch.


MR. MARK:  Now, Mr. Kozlik, can you indicate for us in general terms -- and I'll get more information from Dr. Rivard, but can you indicate to us in general terms the consequence of this wedge between the dispatch algorithm and the pricing algorithm from this multiplier on export sales?


MR. KOZLIK:  On export sales.  The market surveillance panel did an extensive review of what it referred to as inefficient exports in its June 2006 report.  Effectively, an inefficient export is one that occurs when the cost of producing the power for the export in Ontario is actually higher than the value of the power in New York.  


Those prices would suggest that ideally, without barriers, the power should have, in fact, flown in the reverse direction.


MR. MARK:  Now, Dr. Rivard, I want to turn to you, please, for a discussion of those export sales.  Mr. Chair, I'm going to hand around, and we have a large copy to display, a chart which I'm going to ask Dr. Rivard to refer to.


Now, Dr. Rivard, does this ‑‑ sorry, there's more to be handed out.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, would you like this marked as an exhibit?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, please.


MR. MILLAR:  This will be Exhibit ‑‑ I think we're at K2.5 -- 2.6.  Pardon me, I missed one, K2.6, and which is a chart from the IESO relating to inefficient exports.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.6:  CHART FROM IESO RELATING TO INEFFICIENT EXPORTS

MR. MARK:  Now, Dr. Rivard, are you the one who caused this chart to be prepared?


DR. RIVARD:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  Can you put your microphone on?  Is that better?


Now, in this chart, Dr. Rivard, you have used some illustrative numbers.  How do those numbers compare to actual numbers we can see in the market?


DR. RIVARD:  They're very close to actual numbers. They're representative of the actual average numbers that could occur in the market, yes.


MR. MARK:  All right.  So let's look at one of these trades.  The $49 you have as the HOEP, I think we all understand that; and then the next figure up is $55/MWh, and that's described as neighbouring market value.  What does that represent?


DR. RIVARD:  Well, it represents the price in the New York market that the exporter would receive from exporting a megawatt, and at the same time the incremental costs of serving another megawatt of demand in New York.


MR. MARK:  And in this situation where you have the power available to be bought at $49 in Ontario and can be sold for $55 in New York, are there transaction costs that the exporter would incur in order to make that sale?


DR. RIVARD:  Yes, there are.  In this example, we point out the transaction costs of that sale would be $5/MWh.


MR. MARK:  So that would then bring the total price for that sale to the exporter to $54?


DR. RIVARD:  That's correct, yes.


MR. MARK:  And the line you have there, "trade profit," does that represent one dollar of trade profit in this example?


DR. RIVARD:  That's correct.


MR. MARK:  And in this situation, a situation such as the one depicted here, would this trade take place?


DR. RIVARD:  This looks like a profitable trade, yes.


MR. MARK:  Now, there's a couple of other numbers on this table, and I want you tell us what they represent.


At the very top we have the $67/MWh, and you've described that as the constrained on Ontario generation cost.  And can you tell us what that represents?


DR. RIVARD:  That represents the shadow price right at the border where the exporters serve, and what it means is that it represents the costs of getting another megawatt to serve ‑‑ supply to serve that export.


MR. MARK:  So does that reflect an actual cost of production of the most closely available megawatt?


DR. RIVARD:  That's correct, yes.


MR. MARK:  And then at the bottom of the chart, we see the number of $41/MWh.  What does that represent?


DR. RIVARD:  Well, that represents the offer of a generator who would be constrained-off in this situation.


MR. MARK:  You describe the difference between $49 and $67 as a constrained-on payment.  Is that a payment which is passed along to customers in the uplift charge?


DR. RIVARD:  That is a payment that would be passed on to all customers, Ontario customers as well as exporters.


MR. MARK:  Right.  And you have the difference at the other end between the 49 and the 41 described as a constrained-off payment.  Is that a payment that's made to the generators in Ontario?


DR. RIVARD:  That would be a payment made to this specific generator.  That's correct.


MR. MARK:  We have a total uplift, then, of $26; am I right?


DR. RIVARD:  That's correct.


MR. MARK:  Who pays for this?


DR. RIVARD:  The $26 is paid by all consumers, so all of the consumers within Ontario as well as exporters.


MR. MARK:  Can you give us some estimate of how much of that charge of $26 is borne by the exporter in this example, and how much would be borne by the other consumers in Ontario?


DR. RIVARD:  If we are using a typical hour of demand, where the Ontario plus export demand, is, say, 20,000 MW, this megawatt of export would pay roughly about one penny in uplift and the remaining $25.99 would be paid by the rest of the consumers.


MR. MARK:  What would happen to that $26 charge if this sale did not occur?


DR. RIVARD:  If one megawatt of export did not occur, that charge would not occur.


MR. MARK:  Do you have any estimate, Dr. Rivard, as to what portion of export sales to New York are inefficient in the sense that they cost more to produce in Ontario than they're sold for in New York?


DR. RIVARD:  The latest market surveillance panel report indicated that, for the six-month period that they reviewed, 53 percent of all exports to New York were inefficient.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Kozlik, back to you, if I might.  Has the ramp rate being an issue for the IESO since market-opening?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.  It was introduced as a transitional measure so it has been in our minds and on our list to address since the word "go."  It was addressed in the very first meetings of the market pricing working group, which were created in May of 2004.  That group addressed the ramp rate issue throughout 2004, and right up to the fall of 2005, and it stopped at that time because the IESO shifted all of its efforts at that point to develop the day-ahead commitment process to address the reliability concerns that we had in the summer of 2005.


But we then picked it up again in 2006, at the market pricing working group, and were directed to do so also by our board.


MR. MARK:  And when did your board of directors give you that direction?


MR. KOZLIK:  That was given to us from their December board meeting of 2005.


MR. MARK:  Did you then in terms of addressing that look at the possibility of changing or eliminating the ramp rate, the 12X multiplier?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.  It was certainly one of the options looked at.


MR. MARK:  You spoke at the beginning of the fact that the reason that you initially went to the multiplier was because of concerns about volatility.  Why would you then be looking at changing the system in 2006?  Was volatility no longer an issue?


MR. KOZLIK:  I'd say that there are two main reasons why we would be less concerned about volatility now than we were at the time of the market-opening.


One of them is that we've taken several steps in design of the market since then that helps to address the problem by ensuring that there's more supply available.


As an example, we've introduced programs such as the spare generation online.  We've recognized that we use control action operating reserve.  And we have created the day-ahead commitment process, which is a program to get generators and imports committed a day ahead.


The other reason why I would say that it's less of a concern to us now relates to the circumstances that existed at the time of the testing that created the actual volatile and unpredictable prices.  And that would be that the exports were not actually varying during the testing as a function of the market prices.


We've learned a tremendous amount since that point in time, in terms of the responsiveness of exports and imports to the market price that we did not know about at that time.  And we also didn't have the benefit of the test results actually reflecting changes of imports and exports to the price.


MR. MARK:  When did the market pricing working group start on this effort following the board's direction in December 2005?


MR. KOZLIK:  We started it with our meeting in January 20th.


MR. MARK:  Did you continue working on it continuously until the recommendation was made to the board?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.  It was the number one issue in the market pricing for that entire time.


MR. MARK:  Now, Mr. Campbell, if I could turn to you at this point.


What recommendation did IESO management ultimately make to the board of directors regarding the ramp rate issue?


MR. CAMPBELL:  We made the recommendation to change the ramp rate multiplier from 12X to 3X.


MR. MARK:  When was that recommendation made?


MR. CAMPBELL:  It was made by way of a memo from myself to the board of November 8th in anticipation of the November 17th board meeting.


MR. MARK:  You should have the compendium for the IESO examination-in-chief which was given Exhibit K2.3 this morning.  Is your memorandum the document which appears at tab 1?


MR. CAMPBELL:  That's correct.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Campbell, when you made that recommendation, what were the benefits that you saw from the proposed change?


MR. CAMPBELL:  The benefits that we saw in the proposed change are both laid out in that memorandum and in paragraph 4 of our evidence.  The benefits we saw were that this change would more closely align the dispatch and pricing algorithm.  It would provide more accurate price signals, both for producers and consumers.  It would reduce uneconomic exports, with significant improvement in efficiency.  It would achieve this with minimal if any impact on consumer bills, certainly, we felt at that time with minimal impact on consumer bills.


It would be very straightforward to implement, with virtually no implementation costs for either the IESO or market participants.


It would result in reduced fossil burn in Ontario.  And we felt confident that it was the superior alternative that had been developed.


MR. MARK:  Now, Mr. Campbell, it was suggested in Dr. Murphy's testimony this morning that the only reason you advanced this change was with respect to the reductions of export sales.  Is that so?


MR. CAMPBELL:  That is not so.


MR. MARK:  Dr. Rivard, I want to turn back to you just to continue briefly, again, our discussion on the export sales.  As a result of the change to a 3X multiplier, will there be upward or downward pressure on the HOEP?


DR. RIVARD:  The change to the 3X ramp rate multiplier will put upward pressure on the average HOEP.


MR. MARK:  Going back to our chart, if the upward pressure was to be at least $1, what would happen to the export sale?


DR. RIVARD:  If the upward pressure on the HOEP was to be about a dollar, as you say, then the exports that were occurring that were profitable or just profitable before the upward pressure would no longer be profitable, and those exports would go away.


MR. MARK:  Is this the concept that's referred to throughout these proceedings as arbitrage?  

DR. RIVARD:  That's correct, yeah.


MR. MARK:  And does the reduction of the quantity of export sales itself have an impact on price?


DR. RIVARD:  Well, as the exports decline, that means that the demand in the ‑‑ in Ontario declines, and the decline in the demand in Ontario puts a downward pressure on the HOEP.  So that downward pressure offsets the initial upward pressure caused by the 3X.


MR. MARK:  And have you made an estimate of how much of the upward price pressure will be offset by the downward price pressure from the arbitrage?


DR. RIVARD:  Our ‑‑ yes.  My estimates would be that there would be only minimal impact on the HOEP following the  -- following the change to 3X and the arbitrage.


MR. MARK:  And is there any change in the CMSC and IOG payments as a result of the change to the 3X multiplier?


DR. RIVARD:  Yes, there is.  Yes.


MR. MARK:  And what is that change?


DR. RIVARD:  Going to 3X would lead to a reduction in the CMSC payments.


MR. MARK:  And why is that?


DR. RIVARD:  When you use an arbitrary ramp rate, such as 12X, there will be times when the pricing algorithm will call upon supply that can't actually provide that supply.


So because it can't actually provide that supply, it will be made a constrained‑off payment.  Correspondingly, the dispatch algorithm has to have supply and demand in balance.  So it will have to find some more costly generation to make up for the constrained‑off supply.  There will be a corresponding constrained‑on payment.  


When we go to 3X, we have a better match on the actual ramp rates, and so these occurrences will be reduced and the overall uplift will decline.


MR. MARK:  And what is your expectation, Dr. Rivard, as to whether there will be any bill impacts for customers after considering the impact on prices of arbitrage and the impact on bills of the reduced uplift charges?


DR. RIVARD:  My estimate would be that it would be minimal.


MR. MARK:  And if there is some price -- upward price impact on bills after the application of the two offsetting factors we've been speaking about, will the global adjustment in OPG rebate affect that amount?


DR. RIVARD:  It will certainly affect the final bill of the consumers, yes.


MR. MARK:  And to what extent?


DR. RIVARD:  The global adjustment, as has been discussed today, the global adjustment OPG rebate essentially provides an 80 percent rebate for any dollar increase in the HOEP.  So, for example, if the HOEP goes up, 80 percent of that price increase will be ‑‑ come back as a rebate to consumers.


MR. MARK:  And do you have a view, Dr. Rivard, as to whether there will be any upward impact on customer bills as a result of this measure, taking into account all of the offsetting factors you've spoken of so far?


DR. RIVARD:  If you allow for the global adjustment, it's my estimate that there likely will be a reduction in the overall bills of consumers?


MR. MARK:  A reduction in overall bills?


DR. RIVARD:  Yes, sir.


MR. MARK:  You see that as a real possible outcome here?


DR. RIVARD:  I believe that it is a possible outcome, yes.


MR. MARK:  Now, you've told us your view that arbitrage might entirely, almost entirely, offset the upward price pressure.  Mr. Campbell, is that what was communicated to the IESO board when you submitted your recommendation on November 8th?


MR. CAMPBELL:  That was not the figure that we used for arbitrage when we spoke to the board in ‑‑ at the November meeting.  In Dr. Rivard's models, he's continued to refine his models since that time, which is reflected in his current testimony.


But, at that time, what we wanted to use as a number for arbitrage was a figure that Dr. Rivard was confident would, if anything, overestimate the consumer impact; that is, the impact on consumer bills.


And so we used a 50 percent arbitrage figure for purposes of those calculations, as I say, recognizing that in Dr. Rivard's view, at least that amount of arbitrage impact was certain.


MR. MARK:  All right.  And, Mr. Campbell, if you could turn up - and you other gentlemen, as well, please - tab 4 of the small compendium you have there.


MR. KOZLIK:  Excuse me, do you have another copy of the compendium, please?


MR. MARK:  I think we can find one for you.


And, Mr. Campbell, at tab 4 we have the document entitled, "Market Rule Amendment Proposal."  Is that the actual proposal that went before the Board?


MR. CAMPBELL:  That's correct.


MR. MARK:  All right.  And there is a description and rationale, and then we have this table.  This table was part of the ‑‑ if we look over at page 4 of 5, this table went to the board?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes, it did.


MR. MARK:  All right.  And let's look at that table for a moment.  And we've looked at it somewhat today, and I know you are familiar with it.


And we look at the third line down, see we see reduced impact due to arbitrage.  Is that the 50 percent number you referred to a few moments ago?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MARK:  Now, Dr. Rivard, Mr. Campbell has spoken of continuing analysis on your part.  Has that indeed been the case?


DR. RIVARD:  Yes, it has.


MR. MARK:  And what have you done since the amendment proposal that we see here and today?


DR. RIVARD:  We've continued to further our analysis on the elasticity estimates of the export response, and we found that our analysis now indicates a very highly elastic response, so it's quite an effective response.


We've done something called an event analysis that looks at several incidents when there was a sudden upward pressure on the HOEP relative to the New York price and studied the response of exporters, and, once again, found through that event analysis a very strong response, as well as a quick return, if you will, of the gap between the HOEP and the New York prices.


And we've also done further study of the conditions in the New York market.


MR. MARK:  And did you obtain any external assistance in doing any of those analyses?


DR. RIVARD:  We ‑‑ yes, we did.  We worked with Dr. Mel Fuss and Dr. Angelo Melino from the University of Toronto in terms of the econometric analysis that we did, yes.


MR. MARK:  And as a result of the work that you have done since then, has your opinion as to the amount of the price increase which would be mitigated by arbitrage changed since the November time?


DR. RIVARD:  I would say that the impact on the HOEP 

-- or the strength of the arbitrage impact, it would be closer to the 100 percent level than it would certainly to the 50 percent level.


MR. MARK:  And what degree of confidence do you have in that conclusion?


DR. RIVARD:  I'm particularly confident in that, yes.


MR. MARK:  And so if we go back to the chart at page 4, Dr. Rivard, and I don't think we have to go through the offsets for the CMSC reductions and the rebate in the global adjustment, but going right to the bottom line, where this says a net customer cost in cents per kilowatt hour of 4/1000ths of a kilowatt hour, what's your opinion today as to the likely impact relative to even that amount?


DR. RIVARD:  This is based on 50 percent, so I would have to say it would be a further reduction of that.


MR. MARK:  Now, Dr. Rivard, are we able to determine whether there is a direct financial benefit to the province ‑‑ people of the province of Ontario from reducing those export sales?


DR. RIVARD:  Yes, we did a cost benefit analysis that indicated there would be a $6.6 million improvement in the system efficiencies within the region, as well as a net surplus gain or a net wealth gain to all Ontarians of between 7 million and 14 million, depending on the strength of arbitrage.


MR. MARK:  So is that the number that's called an efficiency gain?


DR. RIVARD:  The efficiency gain is the $6.6 million, and that's per year.


MR. MARK:  So, I'm sorry, I may not have listened.  And what's the overall benefit to Ontario as a whole?


DR. RIVARD:  Between 7 million and 14 million, and that's per year.


MR. MARK:  What is your estimate now, aside from that, Dr. Rivard, of what the reduction will be to the CMSC payments as a result of this change?


DR. RIVARD:  I think in tab I of my evidence, if I look at the entire change in the uplifts, it's around $14 million, I believe.  Tab I is where we have the cost benefit analysis.


MR. MARK:  So that the Board has the references, Dr. Rivard, are the event analysis and the expanded econometric analysis that you did and spoke about the ones that appear at tabs G and H of the prefiled evidence?


DR. RIVARD:  Yes.  Tab G is the event analysis and tab H is the econometric work.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Kozlik, before the recommendation was made to the board of directors, did you examine alternatives to a 3X ramp rate multiplier?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.  The market pricing working group was focussing, really, on four alternatives.  One was to put the multi-interval optimization or MIO algorithm into the pricing algorithm.  Another was moving to a 1X ramp rate multiplier.  The third was the concept of retaining the 12X ramp rate multiplier but applying side payments to generators who provided ramping service or a dispatch service.  And the fourth was to maintain the status quo.


MR. MARK:  Describe for us the multiple interval optimization solution and whether it was or wasn't a solution that you looked upon favourably.


MR. KOZLIK:  The MIO is a methodology that has been included in the dispatch algorithm, whereby the program looks forward for known situations that are coming to it in terms of changes of output or changes in generator status, and it effectively prepares the system for those conditions.  It looks for 11 intervals.


We put that in place in June of 2004, and hence that's why the market pricing working group was started to look at MIO in the pricing algorithm.


That investigation was taking a long time and continued to take a long time because it's a controversial issue to decide how to model MIO in the unconstrained or pricing algorithm.


There were three methods -- actually, there were at times even five methods that were being debated in terms of how to implement MIO.


The efficiency gains that we believe were going to come from MIO varied, of course, depending on which methodology was used.  In some, we saw virtually no efficiency gains from a move to MIO.


In others we saw moderate efficiency gains, but in no instance were there efficiency gains that would have exceeded what we see coming from the 3X ramp rate change.


MIO was going to have quite an expense to implement it into the pricing algorithm, and, as a result of the relatively low efficiency gains and the costs and the multiple possible MIO approaches, we felt it inferior to the 3X option.


MR. MARK:  What about the alternative of going to a 1X multiplier?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, we looked at the simulations in terms of upward pressure on price due to a 1X ramp rate multiplier.  I think there are two things to note there.  One of them is that in many hours the 1X ramp rate multiplier was creating a price that was even higher than the costs of dispatch.  In effect, it was overshooting.  That's probably because it's not incorporating the ability to look forward.


The other is that it had definitely the most significant impact on price.  The simulations show that the pressure upward on price, it may not have had an impact on price but certainly the price pressure was in the 11 to 12 percent range.  So, in comparison to what was existing for the 3X ramp rate, that's three to four times larger.


For those reasons we felt that it was more reasonable to go with the 3X ramp rate.


MR. MARK:  What about the side payments option?


MR. KOZLIK:  There were several versions of side payments that were discussed.  In every instance, the side payments involve generators receiving payments outside of the energy price for the ramping service that they're providing.


Because those payments are outside of the energy price, two things happen.  One is that there are no efficiency gains to be had.  There is no response to price, then, because the price doesn't have those features in it.  Secondly, because they are outside of the energy price and in the uplift, these are non-transparent costs that are unhedgeable by consumers or producers, and also are unaffected by the global adjustment, or outside of the global adjustment --


MR. MARK:  Given --


MR. KOZLIK:  -- in the OPG rebate.


MR. MARK:  Given those factors, why was this even an option on the table?


MR. KOZLIK:  It was an option on the table because at one point it looked like both consumers and generators were willing to go in this direction.  As we could see, people on the opposite side of an issue coming to a possible mutual answer, we certainly wanted to give that fair justice and plenty of time for full analysis.


MR. MARK:  And was there every any agreement or consensus amongst stakeholders about the side payments option?


MR. KOZLIK:  No, it didn't materialize.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Campbell, let me ask you about the last option.


What about the status quo?  Was that an option?


MR. CAMPBELL:  It was an option that we considered, and we considered against, of course, the other range of alternatives that were being looked at.  It was a solution that when we considered it really meant that we would not capture the benefits that I outlined earlier for the 3X proposal.  We recognized that the 3X proposal had no implementation costs and would provide us with -- or essentially no implementation costs, and would provide us with the range of benefits that we described.  And the judgment was that, given the IESO's accountability to make improvements to the market, that this was - that is, the status quo - was an alternative that there were no compelling reasons to adopt it.


We had compelling reasons to proceed with an alternative that would produce benefits, and sticking at the status quo would, of course, avoid those benefits and in our judgment was not consistent with our accountability to make improvements to the market in these circumstances.


MR. MARK:  Now, gentlemen, let me ask you a few questions about some criticisms that have arisen from time to time about the alternative that was selected.  There has been some suggestion that this issue might go away if you move to the day-ahead market.


What do you say about this, Mr. Kozlik?


MR. KOZLIK:  Certainly the day-ahead market that exist in any neighbouring jurisdictions and all that I am aware of in North America, the day-ahead markets represent hedges to the real-time price; effectively they're like contract positions from the day-ahead going into real-time.


As such, they should converge to the real-time price, and, in fact, we see that in other markets.  So if those day-ahead prices do converge to the real-time price, and the real-time price has inefficiencies in it, then those inefficiencies will also spill over to the day-ahead market. 
In any design that is consistent with those markets, I do believe that this issue has to be addressed in any event, despite the fact that we are trying to move towards a day-ahead market.


I might also say that the circumstances that would lead to a successful day-ahead market design in Ontario are being investigated by us right now, and there are many features of the Ontario market that make us realize that we will have to be conducting an extensive investigation about the extent to which we are going to be able to accomplish a day-ahead market in Ontario.


MR. MARK:  Would DAM overtake the need for the change in the ramp rate multiplier if it was not introduced in accompaniment with locational marginal pricing?


MR. KOZLIK:  If it was accompanied by locational marginal pricing, then the ramp rate problem would be addressed by the introduction of locational marginal pricing.


MR. MARK:  And do you have a view, Mr. Kozlik, or even Mr. Campbell, as to the likelihood of the government of Ontario moving to a locational marginal pricing --


MR. KOZLIK:  I defer ‑‑


MR. MARK:  -- regime?


MR. CAMPBELL:  I think it's very unlikely in the foreseeable future.  It was ‑‑ certainly locational marginal pricing has been considered a couple of times, most recently over the course of last fall, and it was made clear at that time that as a matter ‑‑ that the government would not be moving away from the uniform pricing system and adopting a locational marginal pricing system for the province.


MR. MARK:  Now, Mr. Kozlik, there's also been reference in the materials to a version of DAM that was spoken about on a recent occasion by Dr. Carr from the OPA.  You're familiar with that?  


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, I am.


MR. MARK:  And what can you tell us about the suggestion that that idea that Dr. Carr spoke about might resolve the issue without having to change the multiplier?


MR. KOZLIK:  As I understand the design that Dr. Carr was suggesting, it involved the day‑ahead market being a market for slower ramping generation that could move from hour-to-hour levels, and then contemplated the real‑time as being a balancing market for faster ramping facilities to handle the shorter-term variations in supply and demand balances.


That market would require certainly the design of the day‑ahead market itself, but also a very significant re‑think of what the real‑time market was going to be.  I see that as a very large piece of work, and one that is not going to be materializing soon in Ontario.


MR. MARK:  Is it even one that there's been a decision on, whether to pursue it or not?


MR. KOZLIK:  No, there's been no decision at all.


MR. CAMPBELL:  And, Mr. Mark, if I could just add, I think the features that Dr. Carr was looking for when he talks about that kind of model have, at least in part, been replicated by the hybrid market that we have, where a good deal of that base load slow‑ramping generation is already price‑controlled through the global adjustment mechanism.


MR. MARK:  Another criticism that was raised, gentlemen, is the proposition that there's no evidence that generators are under-compensated for ramping costs.  Is that an appropriate criticism, in your view, Mr. Kozlik?


MR. KOZLIK:  I am not addressing the issue of the ramp rate multiplier to address whether or not there is under‑ or over-compensation of generators.  I did make ‑‑ we did make the statement that relative to any other market where there are not ramp rate multipliers, that the market is under-compensating generation.


However, the goal of the pricing improvements that we are after is increases in efficiency.


MR. MARK:  Right.  So is your proposal at all based upon or does it have reference to generator cost recovery or generator profits?


MR. KOZLIK:  No, it doesn't.


MR. MARK:  Is it solely related to price as opposed to cost?


MR. KOZLIK:  It's to create the price drivers that will drive to efficiency.


MR. MARK:  And, similarly, there's a related criticism that the ramp rate solution only pays generators ‑‑ sorry, that a proper ramp rate solution should only pay generators who provide ramping.  What about that criticism?


MR. KOZLIK:  To have the price be not reflective of the needs for the ramping, and therefore some generators being paid lower prices than others, leads to inefficient price signals going to different generators, depending on their circumstance.  Efficiency is best achieved when the costs of dispatch are reflected to all participants in the same way.


MR. MARK:  And would making payments to selected generators be consistent or inconsistent with the present market design?


MR. KOZLIK:  The present market design uses a clearing price methodology.  We do have to make individual payments to generators to compensate for the lack of transmission in the pricing algorithm, but the clearing price methodology is the basis of the market.


MR. MARK:  Now, Mr. Campbell, as we know, of course, there was a recommendation made to the board of directors at the same time to authorize a distribution to customers from the transmission rights clearing account.  


Firstly, can you tell us what that account is and what the sums in that account represent?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  The transmission rights clearing account relates to the transmission rights market, a separate market that we operate.  And what that market provides is the opportunities for traders on the interties to hedge their congestion risk for transactions across those interties.


So the transmission rights clearing account accumulates the funds that are collected first the auctions of transmission rights, then from the congestion rents across the interties, and then pays out or disperses from that total the amounts that are due to the holders of those transmission rights as they mature.  So the transmission rights clearing account, if you will, is a bucket that accumulates and disperses all of those, all of those funds.


Well, that's what it is.


MR. MARK:  And we see in reference the Board materials to the notion of a surplus in that account.  Can you accumulate a surplus?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes, and in fact the fund did accumulate a significant surplus over time, and that surplus is made up of the actual auction revenues that are collected in the course of the operation of the transmission rights market.


MR. MARK:  And what options does the corporation have with respect to the surplus?


MR. CAMPBELL:  The surplus, which, as I say, is these auction revenues collected ‑‑ the auction revenues that are paid by participants in that market, the traders that participate in that market, can be ‑‑ there's really three things that can happen.  One is that those funds can simply be held in that account as an appropriate cushion against the vagaries of that market.  


Obviously, the market can move one way or the other, and it makes good prudent sense to hold a cushion of ‑‑ against those market movements.  So that's one use.


The other thing that can be done is to change what's called the confidence factor with respect to the transmission rights market, which is, in essence, the amount of rights that the IESO is prepared to issue on the interchange ties.  The more rights that one issues, the more likely it is that there are going to be draws on the clearing account, of course.  


So there's a judgment that's made about how much to hold in that account that has to do with the confidence factor or the number of rights that are sold.


The third aspect is that the rules permit the payment of a surplus in that account out to consumers.


MR. MARK:  Now, Mr. Campbell, is there any connection between the amount of the surplus and the ramp rate multiplier?


MR. CAMPBELL:  No.


MR. MARK:  So can you tell me why the recommendation for the disbursement out of the transmission rights clearing account surplus was made concurrently with the recommendation with respect to the ramp rate multiplier change?


MR. CAMPBELL:  The IESO believed that the change to the 3X ramp rate would have negligible impact on customers' bills, but it was absolutely clear to us that some stakeholders simply thought we were wrong in that regard.  And this payment was approved for disbursement in conjunction with the move to 3X to provide an added level of assurance to customers that they would not feel a significant bill impact when this change was made.


MR. MARK:  Now just a few questions in concluding, gentlemen, and not necessarily in any particular order. 

Mr. Campbell, it's been suggested by some that the IESO disregarded the question of possible wealth transfer and customer impacts when evaluating this proposal.  Is that so?


MR. CAMPBELL:  That is not so.  As pointed out at paragraphs G and H – or , I’m sorry - 125 and 126 of our evidence, which is on page 29 of our evidence, as pointed out there, we look at it both from the point of view of the overall efficiency improvements in Ontario, and that's the work that Dr. Rivard spoke to earlier, and we also took the view that it was important to consider wealth transfers and the impact of price on customers, and we have done so.


MR. MARK:  Did you consider, Mr. Campbell, in your analysis, whether and when the OPG rebate, which enters into your customer bill calculation, might change?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes, we did.  And that's pointed out at paragraph 139 of our evidence, which can be found at page 32 of that evidence.


I want to make a distinction here between the global adjustment and the OPG rebate.


The global adjustment of the 80 percent impact accounts for just under 60 of those 80 percentage points.  The global adjustment is certainly, I think, seen by all as, at the moment, a long-range feature for the Ontario market.  The OEB is putting in place a regulatory scheme to deal with that, and so I don't think there's much doubt that at any time in the near term, or well out beyond the 2009 figure that was mentioned, that the global adjustment is going to disappear.  It seems to be a permanent part of the regulatory features of the hybrid market.


MR. MARK:  I just want to be clear on the math.  Does that account for 60 percent of the 80 percent?


MR. CAMPBELL:  No, it's 60 of the 80 percentage points.


MR. MARK:  Okay.


MR. CAMPBELL:  In fairness, it's just under 60.   The remaining 20-some-odd points is covered by the OPG rebate.


Now, in the OPG rebate, I think, as we point out in our evidence, there are a variety of scenarios that could happen.


First, the government could choose to extend the rebate, as they have done already once, in which case the overall mitigation level beyond 2000 - I think it's May 2009 - would remain unchanged.


I fully expect that there will be constituencies who encourage the government to do just that, as there were the last time it was extended.


The second thing that could happen would be the government could choose to have the rebate cease altogether.  In that case, obviously the combined mitigation effect would be reduced.


As we point out in our evidence, if that happened, nothing else happened, no change in coal-burn, then the mitigation would be reduced from the 80 to the just under 60, as I spoke.


The third option, of course, is to remove the cap, but in circumstances where coal-burn in Ontario is declining.  And that could happen either because of a policy decision to run other generation in advance of coal, or simply through the natural policy reduction that's going to happen in coal-burn in the province, and there is, of course, a question as to how quickly that would happen.


But, to the extent that coal use declines and the contracted facilities that are coming into place to replace the coal picks up that difference, then that 60 percent will rise back toward the 80 percent.


To make a judgment about the mitigation between the 60 and 80 percent, you have to take into account:  Is it likely to continue?  What are the forces that are likely to be active in working to have it extended?  And you have to make a judgment about what you see happening to the coal-burn in the province and to the extent it's replaced by the contracted facilities.


When you combine all that together, I think those are the factors you need to weigh in making a judgment as to how long it's going to continue past the It's in place already, relative to 2009.


MR. MARK:  Is that the earliest it would disappear, if it ever did disappear?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Kozlik, at the risk of getting to a level of detail that I may not understand, I just want you to see if you can clarify the issue which we seemed to have some problem with this morning with Dr. Murphy, which is that comparison of was it 1X or was it 3X, and was MIO involved.  We had that particular document, which was at volume 2 of our prefiled, section viii, tab 9.


MR. KOZLIK:  Right.  I believe that's the e-mail from Andy Hee to Paul Murphy?


MR. MARK:  Yes.


MR. KOZLIK:  Mr. Murphy asked Mr. Hee specifically to do an analysis on one particular hour.  And he asked this because it happened to be an hour where there was a price spike in our market as it exists today.  Those actual prices are reflected in the first column, titled "actual price."  These are the 12 intervals in the particular hour.


So, in doing the simulation - which Mr. Hee did for Mr. Murphy as to what the results would be with a 3X ramp rate multiplier, which is, of course, what we recommended to our board - the first thing Mr. Hee did was rerun his models with the 12X ramp rate multiplier that exists today to check whether or not he was getting reasonable outcomes relatively to what actually happened.  And that's what the second column is.


With great confidence that he had a well-calibrated model, he then went on to calculate what would be the price impact with the 3X multiplier rather than the 12X, and that's what the third column is.  That's not anything to do with MIO; that's a straight replacement of a 12X with a 3X in our pricing algorithm.


MR. MARK:  At that particular point in time with a particular capacity.


MR. KOZLIK:  For one exact hour.  Yes.


MR. MARK:  To be clear, this was not run with MIO?


MR. KOZLIK:  This was not run with MIO.


MR. MARK:  Gentlemen, those are my questions -- sorry?  Is there anything any of you want to add?


MR. KOZLIK:  No.


MR. MARK:  Right.  Those are my questions.  My friends in the panel may have some questions for you.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. RUPERT:  I have some questions which I'll hold that the end, but there's one I want to ask now just to help me.  It has to do with the chart that, Mr. Rivard, you took us through.  The top price there of $67/MWh, in the typical kind of transaction like this where you're seeing these uneconomic exports, what kind of generator is that?


DR. RIVARD:  What generator would provide that megawatt?  Remember, it's the shadow price.


MR. RUPERT:  Right.


DR. RIVARD:  So it's the cost of getting another megawatt at that point, so it's really no specific generator that is providing that megawatt.  But it would generally be coming from generators in the region, which will be either -- and this is an average price, so once again, it's difficult to say.  It could be the expensive energy-limited hydro.  It could be some of the gas-fired plants that could be affecting that price.


MR. RUPERT:  To the extent that it is energy-limited hydro that is also subject to the OPG rebate which Mr. Campbell just talked about, if we were looking just at a single transaction, and I realize it's highly stylized to deal with one hour and one transaction, but would it be fair to say that while there is this $26 uplift charge that you have on the chart, that there may well, in fact, be some money being returned to consumers in Ontario via rebate on that if the generator is actually going to be receiving a higher price or not?  If they're receiving -- I guess they're receiving HOEP, or can you tell me? 

DR. RIVARD:  This generator is constrained‑on, and it receives a payment for being constrained‑on and keeps that payment as quite part from the global adjustment -- or, sorry, in this case the OPG rebate.


MR. RUPERT:  I just want to clarify that.  I think you've answered my question.  And so there would be -- even if that generator were one that were subject to the OPG rebate, the fact is the rebate is based upon the spot price it receives in the marketplace, which would be $49 and not the higher price?


DR. RIVARD:  That's right.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, I understand.


MR. MARK:  I just want to make sure there's no misunderstanding.  I thought it was clear in their evidence that the rebate doesn't apply to the uplift charges.


MR. RUPERT:  No, I understand.  I understand.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Just to follow up on that, if you reduce inefficient exports by increasing price, can you reduce efficient exports at the same time? 


DR. RIVARD:  If there are situations where the ‑‑ there was an efficient export and the price was pushed above cost, then that could happen, yes.  But, as I say, our analysis looks at the entire time period, and the balance of these, as the MSP report has said, is they're usually -- 53 percent of the time they're inefficient.


MR. KAISER:  What is the order of cross‑examination?  Do we have parties wishing to proceed before Mr. Rodger?


MS. DeMARCO:  I don't have any questions for this panel, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Any questions?


MS. ERZETIC:  No questions.


MS. AVERY:  We don't have any questions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, any questions?


MR. MILLAR:  I do have a few questions.  I was planning to go after Mr. Rodger, because I thought he might deal with them, but I leave it in your hands, or if Mr. Rodger has a preference.


MR. KAISER:  Your choice.


MR. RODGER:  I'm happy to go first, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Panel, are you familiar with the evidence of TransCanada in this case, the report that was filed on March 9th?  I just wonder if you could turn up page 2 of that report, please.


MR. KOZLIK:  Page 2 of 14?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And starting at line 2, the report reads:

"TransCanada explains that, one, the 12X ramp rate multiplier (the 'Multiplier') is actually applied to the dispatch interval for purposes of the market price calculation; two, the Multiplier is inconsistent with the optimization objective of the market rules; three, ramp is actually an ancillary service and payment for it has nothing to do with the dispatch interval (or the multiplier) presently in use under the market rules."


And then on this page, and also elsewhere, TransCanada makes the claim that, really, this being portrayed as payments for ramp rate is really a bit of a misnomer, that really what we're talking about here has nothing to do with ramping and ramping costs.  Do you agree with that?


MR. KOZLIK:  I would agree.  This is a calculation of the appropriate price in the market.  I leave it at that.


MR. RODGER:  Now, Mr. Campbell, if I could turn you to the decision of the IESO board of directors on this issue.  We filed that as part of the AMPCO application, tab 5.


MR. MARK:  It's actually, in the compendium I handed out today, Mr. Rodger, Mr. Chair, at tab 3, if you wanted to look at it that way.


MR. RODGER:  And what I'd like to do, Mr. Campbell, to start is to take into account the Board's decision yesterday on relevance, but take certain things off the table, and then ask you a couple of questions in the context of that decision of yesterday.


And I just want to refer to the bottom paragraph on page 1, the rationale, which reads as follows:

"In making the decision to change the ramp rate multiplier, the board considered a substantial set of materials, including written comments received on the market rule amendment proposal, additional written comments from stakeholders to the IESO on the subject of the ramp rate multiplier over 2006, IESO's management's responses, the management recommendation as documented in the August 16th, 2006 report entitled 'Addressing the 12X ramp rate multiplier', and the information as set out in the rule amendment proposal published on December 27, 2006."


Now, if you look at the materials that were put before the board of directors on this issue and you remove all these kind of stakeholdering reports and so on, can you advise me as to what was the information of a purely economic nature that the IESO board had before it when it considered as the change?


MR. CAMPBELL:  I think the information of a purely economic nature was as you've heard described here and in our written testimony, with the exception of some of the refinements of his work that Dr. Rivard has taken out.


MR. RODGER:  Because I guess what I'm trying to understand, after we've culled the material over the past 24 hours, and seeing the key reference points in an economic context that the board looked at on these four options that you've described in this report ‑‑


MR. CAMPBELL:  Well, what, of course, the board looked at was the entire set of materials, which included both that and all of the balance of the considerations that related to this decision.  And I think the ‑‑ I think they're fairly summarized in the November 8th memorandum, which is at tab 1 of our exhibit filed today.


MR. RODGER:  I tell you what we're struggling with, Mr. Campbell.  Yesterday, when we had the Board's relevance decision, we looked at the economic test that this Board has to apply, and I'm trying to take all the stakeholdering information away and look at kind of the hard economic numbers that the Board would look at to make its decision, given now that we understand that the stakeholdering side of it is irrelevant, frankly, for the OEB's test.


So I'm trying to link that economic test that this Board has to apply and the specific information before the IESO board that doesn't take into account the extraneous stakeholdering issues.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Chairman, I think there's a problem with lack of clarity in that question.  I'm not sure if Mr. Rodger actually wants the witness to tell him which physical documents were available to the board, or is he asking for an answer which is, What was the substance of the economic analysis that the board had?  


Because if he's asking what documents did the board have access to, taking out stuff we may take out of this record, it's going to be a long task.  I mean, we could do it, perhaps, but I'm not sure I see the utility of it.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger, I'm not sure I'm following your question either.


MR. RODGER:  I guess I'm wondering if there was any separate documentation that just solely addressed economic issues, but not in the context of the stakeholdering.


MR. MARK:  Two comments, Mr. Chair.


In the November 8th memorandum before you in the compendium, and in the September board memo which is in the materials - and I will get you the reference for that shortly - there was a board memo provided to the board, and there were appendices provided to the board, and the board was directed to material which was available on‑line with respect to the work that had been done, because the market pricing working group posted all the analysis and all comments received for public viewing.


The September ‑‑ I just have the reference now.  The September board memo is volume 2, section 5, tab 8.


So my first ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  There's also some information in the attachment to Mr. Campbell's memorandum to the board on November 8th with respect to Navigant studies and ‑‑


MR. MARK:  That's right.  They would have had a myriad of information that was either before them in summary form, before them in appendices, or that they were directed to through links to the IESO's own site where the analysis was posted.


My second comment, Mr. Chair, and Mr. Rodger's remarks reflect a discussion we had last night.  There may be documents in the record which originated with or because of the stakeholdering process, but either are entirely or have within it economic analysis, the substance of this.  Mr. Rodger is suggesting that those documents should be excised from the record entirely, and of course our position is that's not so.  If there's a document which is exclusively about process, it comes out.  But we're not taking out documents about substance which were created during the process.


That's the substance of the question he's getting at.  He's trying to suggest to you, if we take out 99 percent of the documents in this case, because they have something to do with process, tell me what the board had to decide.  And that's not the test we're using for excision of the record in this case.


MR. KAISER:  But also differently, Mr. Rodger, the board wasn't doing a section 33(9) analysis.


MR. RODGER:  No, I understand, Mr. Chair.  In reviewing some of these documents last night, the struggle that we were having is to try and gauge to what extent the board's decision hinged on the output of the stakeholdering process as a compromise end-result, and how much of that was based purely on, kind of, the economic data before them.  That's what we were trying to wade through as we looked at the documents.


I don't know, Mr. Campbell, if you can help us on that front.


MR. MARK:  That's a different question, if he wants to ask that one.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, it is.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Campbell, do you understand the question that's being suggested now?


MR. CAMPBELL:  I think I do.  And the board was certainly aware of the kinds of benefits that were being contemplated as occurring if this were to take place; that is, the benefit side of the equation, the reduction in CMSC and so on.  The board was certainly aware that the costs of implementation were practically nothing so that kind of at the broadest level the cost benefit was very positive.


The board was certainly aware that one of the additional factors it wanted to look at was the potential impact on consumers' bills, and that's has been reflected throughout; it's reflected in this memorandum, and it's reflected in the proposal, as to the degree to which there would be a potential impact on customers' bills.


Short of going through each and every consideration in terms of the overall benefits for the province, and in terms of the potential impacts that were being discussed with respect to consumers' bills, all of those things were actively considered by the board throughout this process.


MR. RODGER:  On page 5 of the IESO board of directors' decision --


MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  -- on the last page, there is reference to the goal of the board, and about halfway down that paragraph, of:

... ensuring enhanced transparency with respect to the energy pricing mechanism in Ontario, and providing the opportunity for stakeholders who did not accept the Board's decision to the OEB for a regulatory review of this market amendment."


Given that that was one of the transparency goals, was there any specific discussion at the board of directors meeting with respect to the specific OEB tests that would have to be met?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  Can you describe those tests?


MR. CAMPBELL:  The company's counsel attends those meetings and advised the board of what the OEB process was, and I spoke to that process as well, but advised the board of the kind of tests that it would face, yes.


MR. RODGER:  And how did you describe the test in terms of the section 1 objectives of the Act to the Board?


MR. CAMPBELL:  I don't know that the discussion would have gone to quite that level of detail of going through each and every one of the objects, but the fact that it was related to the objects of the Act, et cetera, would have been described.


I know there wasn't a specific document put in front of the board on that, but it was discussed at the meeting.


MR. RODGER:  Did you also discuss the concept of what unjust discrimination meant?  In terms of the --


MR. CAMPBELL:  Again, I don't recall any particular discussion of it.  The Board was dealing with it in the context more of what it had to do and the decision it had to make, and the fact that the OEB would be reviewing the matter and here was the kind of test that they would face wasn't the focus of the Board's attention by any means.


MR. RODGER:  If I could also return to this net payments chart which we've referred to a number of times.  This is at the IESO compendium of materials, tab 4.


You've described how the TR clearing account would be used to mitigate price impacts and this $54 million cushion, if I can call it that.  What time period is that amount over?  Is that for 2007?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes, in terms of the numbers, the 6.68 is, of course, an annual number, and the $54 million distribution would be spread over 12 months.  In effect, it's a one-time payment spread over 12 months; it would not extend beyond the 12 months.


This really represents a one-year snapshot for the bottom line of the 47.32, and clearly is not something that could be expected each and every year.


MR. RODGER:  Do you have any sense of what the balance in the TR clearing account will be in 2008?


MR. CAMPBELL:  If I could have a moment.  


My recollection is, at the time -- I couldn't tell you specifically for 2008 because this varies -- but at the time the balance would have been something in the order of 70 to 80 million.  I could dig up the exact number, if you want, because it's in the record.  I know where it is in the record and I can find, but I don't have it at my fingertips.


MR. RODGER:  That's not my point, Mr. Campbell.  I guess my issue is that you have this money in the account today, and it will be mitigating rate impacts over 2007.  But the mitigation must be seen as kind of like a one-shot deal.  There may or may not be funds in that account in subsequent years.


MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes, this is clearly kind of a one-time decision in the sense of this particular surplus being paid out over this particular time.  I think what the board has said here is that as other surpluses accumulate, and as other market evolution measures come along where it may be appropriate to use it, then it sees these kinds of surpluses as being appropriate for use in these circumstances.


MR. RODGER:  But you're certainly not looking at any surplus that may be in this account in subsequent years; that this will be an annual disbursement to help mitigate the change that you're proposing.  That's not the intention of the organization?


MS. CAMPBELL:  No, the only decision that's been made at the moment is to take this amount, pay it out over the 12 months, commencing with when the 3X goes into place.


MR. RODGER:  When this Board is considering the issue of price mitigation, it's clear that there may be increasing price impacts in subsequent years, that you can't always rely on this transmission clearing rights account to kind of cushion the pain as we go forward?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Well, of course our evidence is that there will be no pain going forward, but, subject to that, I think the premise that you're talking about, which is when this series of payments runs out in a year, will it necessarily be continued?  There's no commitment to that.


MR. RODGER:  And I think you mentioned to your counsel in terms of the OPG rebate, it won't disappear before 2009, but after that, who knows?  It could disappear.  We just don't know at this point.


MR. CAMPBELL:  I think experience has shown that when that was supposed to happen last time, it didn't.  I think there will be powerful constituencies that will be suggesting that it shouldn't, but, yes, it could.


MR. RODGER:  And with global adjustment, your evidence was, I believe, that you anticipate that this is going to be here perhaps for the mid or long term, but, again, there's no guarantee of that, either, is there?


MR. CAMPBELL:  I think that is not my evidence.  I think what I said was I was highly confident that it would be in place for the foreseeable future.


MR. RODGER:  Now, Dr. Murphy had a discussion with some of my friends earlier today about the so‑called free rider issue, that there was certain types of generation, particularly base load, that would be paid under this 3X ramp rate.  It would be paid even though they effectively couldn't ramp.  Is that a fair description of what we mean by a free rider in this case? 


MR. KOZLIK:  We would never call them free riders.  They will be paid by the market clearing price, as will all generators.


MR. RODGER:  Have you ever done any calculation as to what, for example, base load nuclear units would receive under a 3X scenario on an annual basis?


MR. KOZLIK:  The majority of base load nuclear generators will not receive anything, because they're operating under regulated prices.


MR. RODGER:  Will any nuclear base load unit receive anything?  The reason why ‑‑


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, we're aware that there is -- Bruce B is operating under a contract which offers a floor price.  However, if the market price is above that floor price, then they receive the market price.


However, Bruce A is on a fixed‑price contract, and all of the OPG nuclear assets are under fixed prices through regulation.


MR. RODGER:  Now, I've completely lost what the reference is with these thousands of pages of documents, but I seem to recall in some ‑‑ I thought it was an IESO board report.  There was a handwritten note that said, "Bruce B $15 million a year corrected".  Could I take that to mean that that would be the payment to Bruce B, $15 million a year?


MR. KOZLIK:  I also couldn't find the reference at this moment, but I believe it was 15.5.


MR. RODGER:  I see.  And that's an annual payment?


MR. KOZLIK:  That would be annual.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Kozlik, you had a discussion with Mr. Mark about your goal of efficiency and efficiency gains.  And I'm just trying to understand that in the context of the other evidence we've heard and the prefiled evidence.  When you talk about an efficiency gain, are you basically talking about price drivers to increase efficiency, price increases?  Is that really the bottom line of what you mean?


MR. KOZLIK:  It isn't limited to price increases.  Price decreases drive efficiency, as well.  Efficiency is the price driving the appropriate behaviour, yes.


MR. RODGER:  And price could either be upwards or downwards in your ‑‑


MR. KOZLIK:  Price should reflect, as much possible, the cost of dispatch to drive efficient actions.


MR. RODGER:  And in the context of our discussion on ramp rate, would it be fair to say that most of those price drivers are going to be price increases rather than price decreases?


MR. KOZLIK:  There are some price increases and price decreases, but overall it averages out to be a price increase.  But we don't expect a price increase, because we expect the exports to adapt sufficiently to mitigate any upward pressure.


MR. RODGER:  Now, you've also described the history of 12X that was to be temporary, that would be replaced at some point and you're looking for an enduring solution.  Is 3X the enduring solutions that you hoped for?


MR. KOZLIK:  We believe that 3X represents the balance that produces the best outcome with the unconstrained price.


MR. RODGER:  So is it a permanent solution, long‑term solution?


MR. KOZLIK:  I don't believe that we'll be revisiting the ramp rate for a long time.


MR. RODGER:  Because in some of the information before the Board, and in evidence such as TransCanada -- I know it's referenced, I just saw it on the page, but the idea that this again, 3X, was a temporary measure, and, first of all, do you agree with that or is this really the end state?  This is the permanent end state?


MR. KOZLIK:  I believe some...


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KOZLIK:  I believe that the record would show that I even said those words back in the August/September periods, where I was hoping that it was a transitional mechanism to a different world.  I have to admit that my outcome, as we stand here today, is less bullish on the ability to move to that world than it was then, mainly because of the fact that back then there was a substantial amount of discussion about the possibility of introducing locational pricing.


But that has been dashed since.


MR. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Kozlik's heart is broken.


MR. RODGER:  I'm sure it could be repaired by the day‑ahead market.


Now, in your discussion about MIO, am I correct when I say that at least at one point in this process, MIO, in the unconstrained consequence, that was your first option?


MR. KOZLIK:  It was.


MR. RODGER:  It was.


MR. KOZLIK:  When we went into this exercise, we thought that that was going to be the best alternative.


MR. RODGER:  And why have you not chosen to pursue that option?


MR. KOZLIK:  For fear of getting even more discussion of the theory of the second best.  I think this is an example of it playing out.  We are in a second-best world, with the fact that transmission constraints cannot be reflected in the price.  And while it had great common‑sense appeal, that by using the same look‑ahead logic in the unconstrained or the pricing algorithm as exists in the physical algorithm, that that would drive efficiencies, when we looked at the results we were very surprised that there was very little efficiencies to be gained with MIO, and somewhat confused.


When we had the benefit of our counsel from our consultant from NERA, Mr. Falk, he was able to help us to understand why it is we may be seeing what we were seeing, and that is that this MIO algorithm being placed in the unconstrained is still significantly different than how MIO would work in the constrained -- and may even be using resources to prepare the system in its unconstrained world that, in fact, aren't even available for operation, and at times could be sending the opposite signal.


So when we took a hard look at MIO in the unconstrained, it was an eye‑opener to us and I think an example of the second-best world we're living in.


MR. RODGER:  Mm‑hm.


MR. KOZLIK:  And when we looked at the 3X option, it produced much better results.


MR. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Rodger, if I could just add to that.  When Mr. Kozlik speaks of the theory of the second best, as folks have taught me, the theory of the second best, as I ‑‑ as it's been explained to me, doesn't mean you don't do it.  It means, study it carefully and understand the consequences of an action before you go in that direction.  And I believe that's what we've done.


MR. KOZLIK:  And if I could add further on MIO, I said in my testimony that there were, at times, as many as five versions of MIO to use in the unconstrained run, and they had very different outcomes.  And even the one that was most aggressive on changing the price wasn't producing the efficiency gains that 3X was.


Given the number of options that were out there, the lack of efficiency, plus the fact that it was going to be a fairly costly endeavour to engineer this into the pricing algorithm, the 3X was a better option.


MR. RODGER:  Could you give us any more detail, Mr. Kozlik, on what you mean by the costly nature?


MR. KOZLIK:  We had estimates, and I believe we shared them with the market pricing working group in a meeting at the Chelsea Inn, end of March, and we estimated it -- it was rough, but between 200 and 500,000 to incorporate it into the unconstrained algorithm.


MR. RODGER:  Up to 500,000.  And how much timewise?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.  I believe that we estimated then it was in the neighbourhood of six months of additional stakeholdering and development work for whatever time the decision was made.


MR. CAMPBELL:  With respect to that estimate, Mr. Rodger, certainly from my perspective, I was very concerned that given that the analysis showed the range of potential price impact -- you've seen the arguments here, in the course of this process, around potential price impact.  And in addition to everything else that Mr. Kozlik has pointed out, there was a concern that we would require the same amount of time to deal with exactly the same kind of issues, plus all of these other disadvantages.


MR. RODGER:  You've also spent time describing this uneconomic export problem, but would you agree with me that as long as we have uniform prices in Ontario, it is unlikely that the uneconomic export problem will disappear?  


MR. KOZLIK:  We will be addressing the uneconomic problem, but we will not be solving the uneconomic problem.  There will still be uneconomic exports possible, as long as we have the wedge between the HOEP and the actual cost of dispatch that you inevitably get with an unconstrained run.


MR. RODGER:  And what is the condition that you would need to have to eliminate the possibility of uneconomic exports?


MR. KOZLIK:  The one that is most obvious is locational pricing.


MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions.  Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. Millar, do you have questions?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I'll be very brief.


Good afternoon, Panel, my name is Mr. Millar, and I'm counsel for Board Staff.  Oh, did you have questions, Mr. Buonaguro?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  My name is Michael Buonaguro and I'm counsel for the Vulnerable Consumers Energy Coalition.


MR. MARK:  Sorry, could you repeat that maybe a bit slower.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Let me clear the decks.  My name is Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  Good afternoon, Panel.


I'd like to start with some questions that tie into some of what Mr. Rodger just went through.


We were talking or you were speaking about that the 3X ramp rate was supposed to be at least at one point was supposed to be a temporary measure.


I believe back in January 2006, and the reference I have is your material, volume 1, section 4, tab 6, slide 14.  It's a slide called "Enduring Solution" and it I'll read it to you:

"An enduring retail price solution is desired:  Reducing ramp rate to a lower value (6X, 3X) as an arbitration solution."


So it appears, at least back in January, you were looking for an enduring solution to the ramp rate, and that  you weren't looking at something like arbitrarily changing the multiple; is that correct?


MR. KOZLIK:  These are slides from January 2005.


MR. BUONAGURO: Yes, January 20th, 2005.


MR. KOZLIK:  That would be the market pricing working group I believe you would be referring to?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  


MR. KOZLIK:  That's correct.  I did enter this at the first meeting of the market price working group, and state that it wasn't my inclination to move to something that wasn't either solidly grounded in the physical realities of what the generators could do -- well, basically that's it.  I did not at that point think we'd be here talking about 3X.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Then I believe in April 2006 - and the reference there is section 4, tab 30, page 18 of your material - I have a quote from the IESO stating that: 

"With so much market evolution ahead of us, the direction we take in addressing is it 12X ramp rate multiplier alone should be recognized as relatively short-lived.  Implementation timelines should be brief and implementation costs should be small."


So there's an indication there of switching to a short-term solution.


MR. KOZLIK:  That was also correct.  That was my mindset at the time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. KOZLIK:  And it's one that I can't share the same opinion of for today, and mainly because of this clear statement that we are not pursuing locational marginal pricing in Ontario at this time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  One final quote, and this is from section 4, tab 42, page 2, paragraph 10, which I believe is the same quote that Mr. Rodger gave:

"Today's decision on immediate actions to address the 12X ramp rate will be a temporary measure."


When you made the decision to go to 3X, it was still contemplated to be a temporary measure?  That's how I understand that.


MR. KOZLIK:  Even at that point, especially at that point, we had just asked the market pricing working group to investigate locational pricing.  That was a request of the SAC, the stakeholder advisory committee, at their July meeting.  They specifically requested market pricing to look at locational pricing.  So that was even more true at that moment in time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So in the earlier quote where there's a reference to market evolution, that's what you're talking about, the potential for a locational market?


MR. KOZLIK:  The movement to locational pricing would definitely fall into the category of market evolution.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that possibility was what was driving you from an enduring solution to a short-term solution?  


MR. KOZLIK:  It wasn't driving us to a short-term solution.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But it made a temporary measure acceptable?


MR. KOZLIK:  It made a temporary -- yes, I would agree with that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think somebody mentioned that your heart was broken --


MR. KOZLIK:  That was my boss.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- that, LMPs, locational marginal pricing - forgive me if I stumble over some of the acronyms - is at least for the near term off the table, I guess we can call it?


MR. KOZLIK:  We're proceeding on any initiative we're looking at, assuming that we're not going to have locational marginal pricing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Now, I obviously have a bit of a script here, but there's a quick question I should ask you before I forget to ask you.


When you're talking about the analysis, or when the Panel is talking about the analysis about exports, was the analysis restricted to exports to New York or did the analysis cover all exports out of Ontario?


MR. KOZLIK:  I believe Dr. Rivard would know more than me about that.


DR. RIVARD:  It looked at exports to New York, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So there is no similar analysis for the rest of exports?  I'm assuming there are some?


DR. RIVARD:  The vast amount of exports that are on our system are to New York, and that was the focus.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  There was some discussion about the 1X MIO multi-interval optimization option, and our understanding is, as late as March of 2006 - and the reference is section 4, tab 10, pages 579, and there are other references to it - that that particular option, the 1X MIO option, was considered the best alternative based on efficiency considerations.  Is that true?


MR. KOZLIK:  That was our expectation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I believe your consultant, NERA, is it?


MR. KOZLIK:  NERA, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Reached a similar conclusion in April of 2006.  And the reference there is section 4, tab 28, page 18, third paragraph.


MR. KOZLIK:  I believe that our consultant hadn't done any analytics on these, and said logically it probably would be the best answer.  But it's also that same consultant who we received the advice of:  Make sure that when living in a second-best world you look closely at the decisions that are being made.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It appeared that, if you could call it ranking, the 1X MIO option continued to be number 1, as far as September of 2006, and that would be in responses to stakeholders document which is found at section 4, tab 48, page 3.


MR. KOZLIK:  Tab 48?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. KOZLIK:  These are comments by a stakeholder, and there is a comment beside it, "IESO management response as agreed."


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But some of the stakeholders were convinced?


MR. KOZLIK:  I believe the IESO management response to that to be an error.  It says "agreed."  No question it says agreed.  However, at that time, seeing what 3X could do relative to 1X MIO is the reason why 3X was our recommendation.


So I -- that ‑‑ I don't agree with that comment.  We made an error there.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So maybe you can help me understand, because the word of the day seems to be "efficiencies."


MR. KOZLIK:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you've said that the 3X is the preferred solution now, because it is most efficient; is that fair?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And when you ‑‑


MR. KOZLIK:  Of the options that were available.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Of the options available.  And I think the alternatives were, in addition to 3X, you had MIO; and I suppose you mean MIO 1X?


MR. KOZLIK:  Can I --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MR. KOZLIK:  As to whether or not it was the most efficient is a tough call.  It's the best balance, in our opinion.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, balance between efficiency and what?


MR. KOZLIK:  Well, as an example, if we were to go to the 1X ramp rate multiplier, there may be many hours when it would be a very efficient solution.  There may be other hours where it isn't because it overshot.


MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say 1X multiplier, do you mean 1X multiplier on a myopic system?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, I do.  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I know enough that I know the difference, that there is a difference.  All right.  So just continue.


MR. KOZLIK:  But we had concerns about when it overshoots and we had concerns about the degree of upward price pressure that it applied relative to what -- 3X.  And, actually, it was in discussions among our whole team, including Mr. Campbell, that we felt that the best balanced solution was the 3X.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I'm going to have to get back to that in a second, but my understanding, from the beginning of your examination‑in‑chief, you mentioned that you have two algorithms that you're working with.  You have a pricing algorithm and you have a costing algorithm; right?


MR. KOZLIK:  A pricing algorithm and a dispatch algorithm.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the dispatch reflects the actual costs, or tries to reflect the actual costs of dispatch?


MR. KOZLIK:  The dispatch algorithm is the one that actually dispatches resources on the system, so it has to reflect the exact physical situation in order to maintain reliability.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I understood that when we talk about efficiency, you are trying to match the pricing algorithm, or whatever the pricing algorithm outputs, to what -- the dispatch algorithm outputs, so they're in synch?


MR. KOZLIK:  That's ‑‑ yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I further understand, or it's been explained to me, that the MIO 1X model, if you were to change the pricing algorithm from myopic, which it is now, to an MIO, and from a 12X ramp rate to a 1X ramp rate, that that would produce the most efficient pricing algorithm insofar as it matches the dispatch algorithm?


MR. KOZLIK:  I'm sorry, I'm going to have to ask you to repeat that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I'll try.  Currently you have a myopic 12X pricing algorithm; right?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you have an MIO ‑‑ well, you have your dispatch algorithm, whatever it is, and I think it's based on MIO.


MR. KOZLIK:  It has the MIO methodology, and of course it operates on 1X.


MR. BUONAGURO:  1X, right.  So, at least in theory, you are moving -- changing the pricing algorithm to MIO 1X, which is what you had suggested at the beginning of this cycle, I guess, in terms of being the best solution -- and I think you're saying you changed your mind.


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But I understand that still, at least in theory, that that would move you closer -- that would move the pricing algorithm and the dispatch algorithm closer to synch and, therefore, be the most efficient; is that not true?


MR. KOZLIK:  It certainly moves them closer to synch in terms of the decision‑making process that they use.  However, the outcomes are still substantially different, and the primary reason why the outcomes are substantially different is because the pricing algorithm is ignoring transmission constraints, and you can use any generator available to the system.  


However, the dispatch algorithm doesn't have that luxury.  So the pricing algorithm, in using an MIO methodology, is at times using generators that are bottled on the system as facilities that it can prepare the system with.  So it's falsely preparing the system, and it's those differences that cause the differences in outcome.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if you're changing the pricing algorithm just by moving to 3X, how does it compare in terms of the dispatch algorithm?  Are you saying that it's superior than moving to MIO 1X?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.  It was a surprise to us, but, yes.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Chairman, I think this witness has been asked this question no less than three times and perhaps several more times.  I am wondering if there's much utility in asking it yet again.


MR. KAISER:  One more time, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, okay.  Are you saying that changing the pricing algorithm to 3X produces pricing results which are closer to your existing dispatch algorithm than if you were to move the MIO 1X?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me where that is in the evidence?


[Witness panel confers]


I can take an undertaking on that.


MR. KOZLIK:  No, no.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.


MR. KOZLIK:  I think it's best expressed in our August 16th document, which is in our materials under section 4, tab 46 that I think I was taken to earlier, and in paragraph 12, where it states that, after the bracket:

"The shape of the prices throughout the day was only marginally changed from the shape using the 12X multiplier.  The conclusion was that the efficiency gains of implementing MIO in the market schedule were going to be marginal."


MR. BUONAGURO:  But, with respect, I don't think that answers my question.  That doesn't ‑‑ I don't think that illustrates how 3X produces prices which are closer to what your dispatch algorithm produces than does the MIO 1X.


MR. KOZLIK:  And the 3X price calculations were attached to the market pricing working group minutes and...


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KOZLIK:  And they were also published for discussion in our webcast.  It's in section VII, tab 5.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe I can try to shorten it.  Are you saying it's not as efficient as 3X because it doesn't change the price very much?  I think that's what that line says.


MR. KOZLIK:  Because it doesn't align the price with the shadow prices that are produced by the dispatch algorithm; that's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  My consultant says he understands.  I'm going to take that. 


I understand also, in terms of evaluating MIO, one of the complicating factors is that there are at least five different ways of implementing it?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But that at the end of the day, in terms of evaluating those five methods as between each other, the preferential one or the best one is the MIO incremental?


MR. KOZLIK:  I think there's a lot more discussion to be had as to what is the best one.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KOZLIK:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Before I start this time, I will check to make sure there's nobody else.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  My name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  I have a couple of clarification questions arising from a question that was asked by the Chair.  I will warn you up front, I'm a complete neophyte in these areas and my questions may in fact reveal nothing by my own ignorance, but please bear with me.  Please don’t be afraid to dumb it down a little.


Let me start with this, just to make sure I have the concept correct here.  I believe that one of the problems that the IESO believes the new ramp rate will help to solve is the issue of inefficient exports to New York; is that correct?


DR. RIVARD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And the way this is supposed to work, if I understand correctly, is that a lower ramp rate will lead to higher HOEP prices, and that will lead to less exports; is that correct?


DR. RIVARD:  The lower ramp rate will put upward pressure on the HOEP.


MR. MILLAR:  That in turn --


DR. RIVARD:  Towards the shadow prices in those regions.  That will drive the arbitrage or the reduction of exports that you're speaking of, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That in turn should reduce exports.


DR. RIVARD:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Kaiser asked you a question relating to the fact that increased pressure on HOEP will also lead to a reduction in efficient exports; is that correct?


DR. RIVARD:  I think the question that was asked was is it possible that there could be efficient exports and that they could actually be reduced as well.  And to the extent that there are situations where the HOEP goes above the actual costs of dispatch, then that would work in the opposite direction.


MR. MILLAR:  Currently about approximately half of the exports are efficient and half are inefficient?


DR. RIVARD:  The market surveillance report show that 53 percent of the trades were inefficient.


MR. KOZLIK:  Trades with New York?


DR. RIVARD:  Trades with New York, yes.


MR. KOZLIK:  From May to October?


DR. RIVARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I may ask my colleague, Mr. Fraser, you filed a cost benefit analysis as part of your prefiled evidence.  I assume you gentlemen are familiar with this document.


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I’m not sure if you can read it on the screen.  I’m just trying to get some use of our monitors here.  If you can't, I assume you probably have copies.  I think it’s filed, I have it under tab I.  I forget where that is.  In fact, it seems to be in better focus now.  If you wish to pull up a paper copy that's fine, but I'm only going refer to a couple of things.


If you look under point 2, number 2, the second-last sentence says, "The estimated average hourly reduction in exports is 65 MW."


Do you see that?


DR. RIVARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Just underneath that you run a calculation where you come to -- at the bottom of that calculation, you get the annual efficiency gain of 6.6 million?


DR. RIVARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Does this cost benefit analysis assume that all of the avoided exports are inefficient?


DR. RIVARD:  The way it's presented here was done on an hourly average to provide the illustration of how the efficiencies would be gained, and so in that sense it would.  The way we'd calculated it was to look at every hour and calculate the estimated response by hour based on the upward pressure on the HOEP, and so it would capture all the possible changes in exports and when the efficiency gains by hour.  That's also reported in our technical appendix, which was, I believe, in our written evidence -- yes, it was in our technical evidence, in our written evidence.


MR. MILLAR:  To make sure I'm clear here, and you may well have answered the question, but as I say, I'm new to this so I need it very simple.  Does this cost benefit analysis take into account the fact that you will be losing some efficient exports?


MR. MARK:  Sorry, that wasn't his testimony.  He's not testified you will lose efficient exports.  He said it could happen.  As I understand the analysis, they don't expect to.  Maybe Dr. Rivard could clarify that.


DR. RIVARD:  Sorry, can you repeat the question, please?


MR. MARK:  My friend Mr. Millar's question included an assumption that when you implement this change, one result will be that you'll be eliminating some efficient export sales.  And I don't think that was your testimony.  You said that could happen, but do you have an expectation as to whether that will happen?


DR. RIVARD:  It's --


MR. MARK:  Is that helpful, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  If I'm incorrect in stating that assumption, thank you, Mr. Mark.  Maybe I'll back up, then.  You've stated it's possible that some efficient exports will not happen now.  Is that likely to happen?  It seems to me currently almost half of them are efficient.  Are we talking about the same proportion of exports that we're going to lose between efficient and inefficient?


DR. RIVARD:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Why is that?


DR. RIVARD:  It also depends on the prices in New York and the shadow price, how big those are as well.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't want to be difficult here, but is it likely that some efficient exports will be lost?


DR. RIVARD:  It's possible, yes.


MR. KOZLIK:  But...


DR. RIVARD:  Sorry, Mr. Kozlik may have a...


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, the mike.


DR. RIVARD:  Mr. Kozlik says it's possible but highly unlike, and I agree.


MR. MILLAR:  To help us out, can you explain why it's possibly but highly unlikely, when close to half are efficient?


MR. MARK:  Dr. Rivard, perhaps I can help.  Do you have a percentage of what export sales in total may be impacted by this?


DR. RIVARD:  What percentage?  It may be a minimal percentage.  I don't have a rough estimate, but a minimal magnitude.  


MR. MARK:  If you'll permit me, Mr. Chairman, just to try and clarify this.  As I understand, it's not your expectation that anything close to 50 percent of export sales will disappear, is it?


DR. RIVARD:  No.  I think I tried to answer this simply:  What we did was an hour-by-hour estimate.  We allowed for the possibility that the there could be inefficient exports.  I can't quantify -- or sorry, at times were efficient and we could lose those efficient exports.  We built this into our hourly model.  When we ran it, we came up in total with $6.6 million worth of efficiency gains.  That would have allowed the possibility that efficient exports could have gone away.  This was a simple presentation to show, in total, what they would be.  So the estimate is 6.6 million, allowing for the possibility that efficient exports go away.


MR. MILLAR:  I think that was my question.


DR. RIVARD:  I can’t tell you the precise number.


MR. MILLAR:  And I think you may have answered it, but I guess what you're telling me is this analysis accounts for the possibility that some efficient --


DR. RIVARD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  -- exports will be lost --


DR. RIVARD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  -- and that's included in this?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, if I could perhaps help to understand the scope.  This analysis is looking at a 65-megawatt reduction of exports.  Mr. Rivard has mentioned that the market surveillance panel estimated that 53 percent of the exports to New York over the period May to October were inefficient.  Over the period May to October, he amount of exports to New York was actually 3.7 terawatt hours.  Now, to understand in terms of megawatts, that's just under a thousand megawatts.  The sort of reduction that he’s talking about is the in the area of 65 on a thousand, or just under a thousand.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and I wasn't really speak speaking to the volume or the quantum.


MR. KOZLIK:  Oh, I'm sorry.


MR. MILLAR:  All I wanted to know was if you considered in this analysis that you will not only be losing inefficient export, you'll probably or possibly, at least, be losing inefficient [sic] exports.


DR. RIVARD:  Right, and I say, it's actually in our technical appendix.  It's actually stated that way.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Thank you.  No more questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MS. NOWINA:  I have a couple of questions.  If I can take you back to where we've been so many times before, the market rule amendment proposal, the calculations.  I just want to refer to that as we look at this.  

Just for my clarification, Mr. Campbell, the transmission rights clearing account, so would you have recommended the reduction in ramp rate to the IESO board if you had not had a surplus in that account?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Absolutely.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So if we look at this calculation and you stop at the line "net costs before transmission rights clearing account payout", that's really the economics of this proposal; is that correct?


MR. CAMPBELL:  Taken on its own, without the transmission rights payment, that's correct.  It's 4/1000ths of a cent per kilowatt hour, if you assume no more than 50 percent arbitrage; and, of course, Dr. Rivard, having refined his analysis is of the view that it would be higher now.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. CAMPBELL:  Stronger.


MS. NOWINA:  But if we remove any assumptions about the transmission rights clearing account, whether or not that would be clear, you end up with those economics and you would have made the proposal on that basis?


MR. CAMPBELL:  That is correct.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Kozlik, regarding Bruce B, I would like to understand a little bit more this $15.5 million payment.  Was that $15.5 million an annual increase in payments to Bruce B if there is a reduction in ramp rate?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Is that $15.5 million part of any of the numbers on this page?  Would it be part of the 49 million?


MR. KOZLIK:  Just one minute.


[Witness panel confers]


On this table, there is a line that is titled, "Post‑GA/rebate gross impact million dollars, 19.75".


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. KOZLIK:  15.5 million of that goes to Bruce Power.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Kozlik.


MR. KOZLIK:  And the impact to the consumer is less, because there is the CMSC savings and IOG savings.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions. 


MR. RUPERT:  Just a couple of quick questions.  Dr. Rivard, you said at some point, I think in response to questions from Mr. Mark, that not only do you think that the impact might be more than 50 percent as a result of the arbitrage, export arbitrage thing, but that this rule change could even go so far as to result in an overall reduction in bills.


Is that overall reduction ‑‑ just to go back to the question Ms. Nowina just had, are you saying that that $6.68 million on that chart could in fact turn into a negative number?  Am I looking at the right number?


DR. RIVARD:  6.68 is the net impact.  Yes, that could turn into a negative number such that consumers' bills would actually go up ‑‑ go down.  So that number would ‑‑ that's correct.


MR. RUPERT:  And that ‑‑ just explain that to me in words how that happens.  So they raise the price, and you're saying that somehow just the magic of the arbitrage reduces the HOEP?  Or is it somehow just getting rid of the CMSC payments and other stuff that would do that?  What would be the primary driver?


DR. RIVARD:  Let's speak in the limit.  And I guess this is presented in Appendix I.  In the limit, arbitrage is perfect, say, so there's no effect at all on the HOEP.  So consumers on their energy bills don't pay any more.  But still, the fact that we've gone to a better ramp rate means that these uplift charges have been reduced.  We don't have to make as many constrained‑on, constrained‑off payments.


So in the limit, while their energy price has not increased, the uplift charges go down so their bill goes down.  I think based on the analysis that we did, we've ‑‑ it's ‑‑ if the price were to ‑‑ the HOEP were to increase by 1 percent or less, we're in the area -- allowing for the global adjustment, we're in the area that the bill reduction would actually go down.


MR. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Rupert, just my ‑‑ I do arithmetic.  I don't do what Dr. Rivard does, but if you take the 50 percent and make it a 100 percent reduction and the arithmetic flows through, you will find it falls out that the effect of the CMSC/IOG savings will make that number positive.


The 19.75 goes to zero and the 13.7 is a benefit, then, that flows to the consumer's bill.


MR. RUPERT:  Yes, I guess ‑‑ I think you've answered the question, but you're saying, in effect, that if it were 100 percent rather than 50 percent of the chart, so that the result that Mr. Campbell just talked about, that result occurred, that the $13.07 million reduction to CMSC payments would be completely unchanged; that the impact of going from 50 percent to 100 percent would have no impact at all on the CMSC/IOG line on your chart?


DR. RIVARD:  Yes, it would just be eliminating those constrained‑on and constrained‑off things, that's correct.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.  Another area of this inefficient or now efficient export question that Mr. Millar just had.  Just so I'm clear on what an efficient export is, and I would like to just refer to your chart.  If an inefficient export is one where the cost of the generator, if you will, has turned on to supply at $67, in your example, is higher than the New York price -- I think that's what we're saying is an inefficiency; right, where it's costing us 67 and we're netting 55 from a province‑wide perspective?


DR. RIVARD:  Right.


MR. RUPERT:  So an efficient ‑‑


DR. RIVARD:  I figured out the problem.  We're sharing the same mike.  Thanks.


MR. RUPERT:  So just I'm clear, an efficient export would be one where the shadow price in the intertie zone is, to use your numbers here, less than $55?


DR. RIVARD:  If the shadow price was less than $55, then it would be an opportunity for an efficient export.


MR. RUPERT:  Efficient.  So let's just assume in this example that the shadow price is 53, and leaving aside the transaction costs, because that doesn't really matter in my example.


If the effect of the ramp rate change were to push the $49 HOEP above the 53 shadow price, is that an example of how this kind of rule change might turn ‑‑ might result in what is currently an efficient export becoming ‑‑ not occurring, I guess, is the ‑‑ is that what would happen?


DR. RIVARD:  If the HOEP went above the shadow price, so above the 53, as in your example, there could be a reduction in exports that would have otherwise been efficient.  But I guess, once again, our data, the HOEP -- based even on our simulations, periods where the HOEP would be 3X, would be above the shadow price, are very, very rare.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.


The last question, and I think this is for you, Mr. Kozlik, and it goes back to a document you just referred to a little while ago.  I know it's in several places.  I have it as tab 3 of the initial AMPCO filing, but it's your ‑‑ and I believe it was your notes, a document presented September 5th, 2006, stakeholder advisory committee, which went through -- it was entitled "Addressing the 12X ramp rate multiplier."


MR. KOZLIK:  Okay.


MR. RUPERT:  And you were actually at the paragraph a bit earlier that I wanted to ask you about, which is at page 3, paragraph 12.


MR. KOZLIK:  Just one second.  Yes, I have it.


MR. RUPERT:  This is the one that talks about three different methodologies for incorporating MIO were discussed.


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  One of them had a reduction in price of 0.5 percent.  One of them had an increase of 0.3 percent, and a third one called the MIO high‑slice price would result in an increase of 2.6 percent.


MR. KOZLIK:  That's correct.


MR. RUPERT:  Now, that sentence that talks about those price changes starts out by saying:

"IESO price simulation results indicate that on average MIO prices were close to the current prices."


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Now, the third of those prices is 2.6 percent, which happens to be, I suspect by sheer fluke, the same number that your analysis of net payments from the 3X ramp rate market starts out with.


MR. KOZLIK:  Sheer fluke.


MR. RUPERT:  Sheer fluke.  In this discussion, though, you've described that, on average, these are close to current prices.  I just want to understand what you were trying to say in here about 2.6 percent.  Are we saying that 2.6 percent is pretty close, or are you referring to something else?


MR. KOZLIK:  I suspect that an element of my editorial comments crept in here.  There are three options here:  Incremental, modified, and high-slice.  It's the high-slice that has, for me, the least theoretical grounding, so when I look at modified and incremental, one was a very slight reduction, one was a very slight increase, and that for me is very little change from the status quo.


MR. RUPERT:  One last question, and that's on the TR account, Mr. Campbell.  What do the market rules permit the IESO do to do?  Money can be kept in the account, it appears, or it can be disbursed to consumers.  Are there other options for that money?  


MR. CAMPBELL:  It can be, the surplus can just be accumulated in the account and held as a cushion against operation of the market, and the other way that that's affected is by dint of changing the confidence factor around the number of TRs that we issue.


So we issue more TRs.  You would want to hold more in the account.  By changing the number of transactions you are permitting to go through the market, that will have an effect on how the Board exercises its discretion in the application of those funds.  It may choose to hold on to them because it is increasing the amounts of rights that are going through the market, and therefore believes that over time it will need a stronger cushion.


MR. RUPERT:  If I recall, on the day, or the day after the board issued an order to stay this rule change pending this hearing of this process, am I right that the IESO announced that the disbursement of the TR account would also not be happening as a result of a stay of this rule change? 


MR. CAMPBELL:  The decision that the board made at the time was simply that on the commencement of the 3X change, in that same month -- this amount would be paid out over 12 months.  Now, if there's going to be a payout, it's going to be to consumers.  The real question is when.


What the board said is we'll make a payment.  It will start there.  And the reason was, as I've explained earlier, that it felt that that was an appropriate timing given level of concern that was being experienced around the potential pricing impact of this, even though we believed it would be minimal.


MR. RUPERT:  Those are all my questions.  Thanks.


MR. KAISER:  Dr. Rivard, I just have one final question, again going back to this famous chart on the cost impacts.


The 2.6 percent increase that we started off with and ended with about a 1.50 a megawatt hour got cut in half by the arbitrage to about 64 cents.  And then you went away and redid some elasticity estimates with Dr. Fuss and others, and the 50 percent increased.  I think you said in your evidence it was closer to a hundred than it was to 50.


In your best judgment, what's the arbitrage impact now in light of the later evidence?


DR. RIVARD:  As I said, I can't give you a precise estimate, but it's closer to the hundred percent.


MR. KAISER:  If we were trying to base, through some calculations or arithmetic, as Mr. Campbell said, would we be safe using 75 percent?


DR. RIVARD:  That's probably a reasonable number to use.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MARK:  I just have a few questions in reply.


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. MARK:


MR. MARK:  Dr. Rivard, you have been asked some questions about the table, and most particularly you were asked some questions by Mr. Rupert about the possibility of the bill impacts becoming positive in the sense of reductions.


At what percentage of arbitrage does it flip?  In other words, at what point?  At 50 percent we have the 4/1000ths of an increase.  At what percent of arbitrage does that number, in fact, turn into a positive bill impact?


DR. RIVARD:  I think my statement was that if the increase in the HOEP is less than a percent, that's when it flips.  It wasn't a statement about arbitrage per se.


MR. MARK:  Fine.  As I read this here in this analysis it says 2.6 percent reduced by 50 percent, so you've essentially an upward pressure of 1.3 cents that feeds into the rest of this analysis.  1.3?


DR. RIVARD:  That's correct.


MR. MARK:  What you're saying is, if that gets down to 1 cent --


DR. RIVARD:  One percent.


MR. MARK:  -- one percent, that that's when you will see the positive bill impacts?


DR. RIVARD:  That's correct.  So, as suggested, if it was 75 percent, it would be clearly past the 1 percent that I told you.  So you would be at the positive.


MR. MARK:  In my back of the envelope, it suggests that the percentage where that flip occurs appears to be somewhere between 60 and 65 percent, rather than 50 percent.


DR. RIVARD:  Yes, okay.


MR. MARK:  And the 60 to 65 percent, you've been asked about certainties.  How certain are you that the arbitrage impact will be at least in the range of 60 to 65 percent?


DR. RIVARD:  I'm confident.


MR. MARK:  Now, you were asked a question by one of my friends, and I apologize for forgetting who, about the free rider issue.  Mr. Kozlik, let me ask you.


The suggestion was that because all generators would receive this new HOEP, that there would be free riders.  Is that the way the system works now anyways?


MR. KOZLIK:  No, and I think in my answer I said we would not consider them free riders.  It's a market clearing price methodology.  


MR. MARK:  Even today under the market clearing price system, does a generator who provides power get the HOEP even if his bid price is lower?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, it does.


MR. MARK:  Now, one last question, Dr. Rivard.  Some of the questions from my friends talk about first the price moving up and then moving down.  In your evidence you talked about upward pressure and downward pressure.  Can you tell us, does this, in fact, happen sequentially where you see a price increase and then you see a price decrease?  Or is it an instantaneous event where you have a settled number?


DR. RIVARD:  Once the exporters or the traders know that 3X will be going in place, the adjustment would be fairly quick and the kind of the equilibrium a gap would be realized.


MR. MARK:  You expect they would act in advance, in terms of they would --


DR. RIVARD:  They would take in the information that the 3X is going to affect the HOEP, put the upward pressure, and certainly have that information in their decision-making process prior to that 3X taking place.  So by the time 3X came into place, they would have factored in the upward pressure on the HOEP, yes.


MR. MARK:  We would see the net result rather than this cycle of up and down?


DR. RIVARD:  I assume there's going to be some initial learning as they learn how the 3X ramp rate affects, but over a short time they would incorporate that in, and we wouldn't see the kind of up and down that you're referring to, yes.


MR. MARK:  How short a time 'til these guys learn what's coming and we get a stable settled price?


DR. RIVARD:  It's difficult to say how short a period of time, but --


MR. MARK:  Days?


DR. RIVARD:  It would happen within days.


MR. MARK:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Mark.  We'll take the afternoon break to this point and come back in 15 minutes with the next panel.


--- Recess taken at 4:10 p.m. 


‑‑‑ On resuming at 4:31 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Chair, the next witness is Mr. Jonathan Falk, and I ask that he be sworn.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


IESO ‑ Panel 2


Jonathan Falk; Sworn

MR. MARK:  Mr. Chairman, I don't intend to go through the CV in oral evidence.  It has been filed and that's acceptable to Mr. Rodger, and Mr. Rodger has also agreed that Mr. Falk can be accepted as an expert in economics, in particular with respect to electricity markets.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Please proceed.


MR. MARK:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  And we have endeavoured to shorten the oral testimony in view of the hour, and I, of course, commend the written evidence to the Board.


EXAMINATION‑IN‑CHIEF BY MR. MARK:

MR. MARK:  Now, Mr. Falk, your report for this proceeding appears at tab 2 of the evidence of the Independent Electricity System Operator, and do you adopt that evidence today?


MR. FALK:  I do.


MR. MARK:  Right.  Now, you did an earlier report for the IESO earlier in 2007.  That appears ‑‑ 2006.  That appears at volume 1 at section 4, tab 28.  And can you tell me, Mr. Falk, what was the nature of your retainer with respect to the first report?


MR. FALK:  Yes.  NERA, the firm I work for, was consultant ‑‑ was called in -- I can't remember whether it was January or February of 2006.  Ken Kozlik called and said that they were seeking advice on how best to deal with the ramp rate in the context of the 12X ramp rate issue in Ontario, and that he wanted us to think about the question to help him sort through some of the issues of what the best way to adjust, if at all, the 12X ramp rate would be, and to prepare a report which summarized our conclusions.


MR. MARK:  And your advice and conclusions in that regard are contained in, as I said before, the March 2007 report?


MR. FALK:  That's correct.


MR. MARK:  Sorry, the May 2006 report, my apologies.


MR. FALK:  May 2006, yes, that's it.


MR. MARK:  And then were you contacted more recently in connection with this proceeding, which contact resulted in the March 9, 2007, report?


MR. FALK:  Yes.  That would have been in early March.


MR. MARK:  And in connection with that report, were you asked to comment on the efficiency gains analysis contained in the IESO evidence in this proceeding?


MR. FALK:  I was certainly asked to read it and to figure out whether or not the methodology in it made sense.


MR. MARK:  Right.  And what conclusion did you come to with respect to the methodology?


MR. FALK:  I think as a method of estimating at least one facet of the efficiency gains from the move from 12X to 3X, that the methods used were appropriate to estimate that facet and the results at least looked to me to be sensible.


MR. MARK:  All right.  And do you have a view as to whether, in terms of the qualitative ‑‑ quantitative direction of the results of the efficiency gain analysis, they appear consistent with your earlier objections and advice?


MR. FALK:  Again, qualitatively, they're certainly working in the right direction.  As to the specific magnitudes, you know, on the assumption that the data is right and the work appears all competently done, I think the quantitative numbers are right, as well, but in the time I had, I certainly didn't check any of that.


MR. MARK:  But, qualitatively, you're satisfied it's moving in the right direction?


MR. FALK:  Absolutely.


MR. MARK:  And with respect to the policy analysis underlying the work done by the IESO in connection with this proceeding, what's your view as to the consistency of that with your previous advice and recommendation?


MR. FALK:  I think it's firmly grounded in the report that I wrote when ‑‑ in May of last year.


MR. MARK:  Now, Mr. Falk, do you have a view as to whether it's advisable to endeavour to align dispatch and pricing algorithms?


MR. FALK:  I think to the extent you can do so, it's probably a good idea.


MR. MARK:  And why is that?


MR. FALK:  Again, by aligning the ‑‑ sorry.  The dispatch algorithm is running the system as efficiently as it can run, and the shadow prices, if you will, the value of an extra megawatt up or down coming off of that system, or the reserves ‑‑ it's actually a co‑optimized system of energy and reserves.  The values coming off of that system signal the true resource costs of providing electricity in Ontario.


So the closer the pricing algorithm is to giving the same result that the true cost algorithm is giving -- and when I say "cost", I'm not talking about the cost to the generators themselves, I don't know anything about that, but I'm talking about the cost to ‑‑ as revealed through the algorithm, through the shadow prices.


The closer it comes to lining up with that, the easier it is to make both short‑run efficient decisions in consumption, as well as longer‑run decisions in both consumption and in production and in decisions to build new units and the specific characteristics that those units have.


MR. MARK:  And does it make sense to do that even in a hybrid market such as the one we have here?


MR. FALK:  I think you have to think about it.  You have to look at what the specifics are and look at the likelihood that there are ‑‑ that there are other distortions that somehow undermine what it is that you think you're doing by making a partial step to alignment.


But, having done that, once you've thought about that problem and thought about it carefully, then to the extent you are coming closer to aligning prices with costs, in a hybrid market or, frankly, in any market, you're doing a good thing.


MR. MARK:  And that process, you said, of being sure to look carefully at consequences, is that the second-best theory we've heard so much about before?


MR. FALK:  We have heard a lot about that, haven't we?  Yes.


MR. MARK:  And your view of the second-best theory, do you share the view of Dr. Murphy that you shouldn't proceed with any incremental change unless you're satisfied that it will improve all distortions?


MR. FALK:  Well, I don't think ‑‑ we certainly ‑‑ that's not the test.  The test is not whether all distortions will be eliminated by any choice you make.  I think, as I heard Dr. Murphy this morning, his statement said you can't prove any particular change, any particular incremental change in a system that contains other inefficiencies.  


It's very, very difficult to prove that that change is a truly beneficial one.  And I think that's a correct proposition.


But we're not talking about the proof of a graduate student that this is a better welfare situation than that.  We're talking about making policy here.  And I think in practice, we're forced all the time to make policy decisions that, based on our best evidence, looks like an improvement to the situation.  And I think that's what we have here.


And all the theory of the second best says is don't just look at one thing; think about all the things, all the effects that something has, and the state that you're in when you start those changes before you make any incremental change.


MR. MARK:  When was your first involvement with the Ontario market?


MR. FALK:  It was in -- I can't recall the exact year.  I believe it was 2000.  NERA was hired to help at the ‑‑ with the market rules as the original market rules were being developed in advance of the market.  


I did a lot of work back then on congestion management settlement credits and penalty functions, and some work on the export ‑‑ the export rules. I was essentially in residence for about two months here working on those questions.


MR. MARK:  And have you continued to have exposure to and involvement in this market since then?


MR. FALK:  I've had some involvement in the market since then on and off.  My firm has had more.  We were involved in the OPA solicitation.  We helped run that auction.  So...


MR. MARK:  So based on everything you know about the system from your previous and current involvement, have you seen any evidence to suggest that the 3X change proposed should not proceed?


MR. FALK:  None.


MR. MARK:  Now, as part of your review, Mr. Falk, I understand you looked at the analysis of the impact on exports.  Do you have a view, Mr. Falk, as to whether the IESO is correct in their assertion that upward price pressure from this change will work to reduce inefficient export sales?


MR. FALK:  Again, qualitatively, it has to be in that direction.  As to the quantitative impact, I've seen the very high elasticities that have been estimated, elasticities on the order of 5, which suggests that the upward price pressure will lead to a substantial drop in exports; at least, substantial relative to the amount of the price increases.


Again, crediting those results, that all looks right to me.


MR. MARK:  Do you have a view on the correctness of Mr. Rivard's conclusion [sic] that the change proposed here will result in a reduction in the CMSC payments?


MR. FALK:  I think it's inarguable that that's the direction it has to go in.  Again, that is simply a function of better aligning all by itself the prices with the dispatch algorithm.


MR. MARK:  One of the options that's been talked about, Mr. Falk, is the side payments option.  Do you have a view on whether or not or how those contribute to efficiency and whether side payments is an option which should be pursued?


MR. FALK:  The first thing that happens is side payments completely take off the table all demand side efficiencies.  Those are now off the table because consumers don't really see those differences in any way that they can take advantage of them through the HOEP.


The second thing that happens is it highly attenuates any ability for dynamic efficiency because it's hard to figure out - again, in the absence of very complicated simulations of this market - whether or not building a particular unit with particular characteristics accomplishes anything.


By contrast, when the price expresses itself through the HOEP, I think you can see those results directly, and so that puts the obvious pressure on for both dynamic demand and supply efficiency and short-run demand efficiency.


MR. MARK:  Thank you, Mr. Falk.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just a couple of questions, Mr. Falk.  Going back to your May 16th, 2006, report, I believe it was your evidence to Mr. Mark that your conclusions in that report are valid today; is that correct?


MR. FALK:  I've read it several times in the last couple of days and I don't see anything I want to take back.


MR. RODGER:  On your March 9th report, you've explained that you've been asked to comment on the efficiency gains analysis of the IESO, but you have not been asked to verify the accuracy of the IESO's analysis; is that correct?


MR. FALK:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And on paragraph 5 on page 1 of your March 9th report, I want to read one passage from paragraph 5, about halfway down, which reads:

"Subsequent investigation by the IESO suggests that costs of moving to a multi-interval optimization algorithm in the market schedule would be extensive and that transition costs could be squandered as the Ontario market evolves to alternative market mechanisms."


Could you give me your understanding of what you mean by "alternative market mechanisms" that the Ontario market is evolving to?


MR. FALK:  I don't know.  We're speculating about the future.  I was not aware, when I wrote that, nor was I aware until a few minutes ago, that Mr. Kozlik's heart had been broken.  Let me put it another way.


Market design is always a moving target.  It's not clear to me that any one mechanism, however permanent you make it, means that it will be there forever.  But what I do know is that spending a bunch of money to do something that doesn't seem to have a great deal of benefit doesn't look like a great idea.


It might be a great idea in the long run.  If we were going to an LMP, for example, an LMP which ought to reflect MIO, then I guess maybe we'd recognize that the change to the ramp rate won't have many benefits now, for the reasons that Mr. Kozlik talked about just a couple of minutes ago.  But we're going there anyway; we might as well spend the money.


If we're not going there, though, and we don't get the benefits out of it, there's no particular reason to spend the money.


MR. RODGER:  Let's assume that Mr. Kozlik is correct, and others, that locational marginal pricing just isn't on in Ontario.  Would that give you regard to rethink this statement where MIO may in fact be a solution at some point for Ontario?


MR. FALK:  Well, unfortunately, then it cuts the other way.  If that's true, then we go back to the other grounds Mr. Kozlik just discussed, which is, on the assumption that we never get LMP, now we have the situation that the lack of locational signals in these prices unfortunately interact with the MIO in such a way that you don't get any  of the benefits.


So now you are spending money with no benefits.


MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Nothing for me, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Mark.


MR. MARK:  That concludes our evidence, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MARK:  I should just say, though, in accordance with the agreement with Mr. Rodger, Dr. Fuss' written testimony is taken as evidence in the proceeding.  There's no need to call him but it's in his evidence.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, we understood that.  Thank you, Mr. Falk.  



MS. DeMARCO:  Just one preliminary matter, Mr. Chair, while Mr. Hamal's making himself comfortable.  You've just received an updated black-lined version of Mr. Hamal's evidence correcting four typographical errors which he'll go through.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. DeMARCO:  No substantive merit.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, with your permission we'll mark that as Exhibit K2.7.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.7:  BLACKLINED VERSION OF EVIDENCE OF MR. HAMAL


MS. DeMARCO:  Panel members, I'd like to introduce Cliff Hamal, an economist with LECG.  Can I ask that Mr. Hamal now be sworn.


APPrO - PANEL 1


CLIFF HAMAL; Sworn


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, I've had discussions with my friends and they also have agreed that Mr. Hamal may be admitted as an economist for the purpose of providing his expert opinion on the economic issues associated with the ramp rate considerations that are the subject matter of this proceeding.  If you're fine with that, Mr. Chair, we will dispose with going through the process of qualifying him.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, that's acceptable.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MS. DeMARCO:


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Hamal, what is your current position?


MR. HAMAL:  I am a principal with the consulting firm LECG.


MS. DeMARCO:  How have you come to be involved in this 3X ramp rate proceeding?


MR. HAMAL:  I was called by members of APPrO, very early, early, probably March 1, and asked to look at evidence on this issue and prepare materials that have been presented to the Board.  This follows work that I did last summer that's been referenced, having to deal with calculating ramp costs.


MS. DeMARCO:  And what materials did you consider in order to do that?


MR. HAMAL:  I considered all the materials that had been presented in this proceeding prior to the date of my filing, plus I considered what I think were all of the market surveillance panel reports.


MS. DeMARCO:  Have you been involved in the preparation of the evidence that's now before the Board? 

MR. HAMAL:  Yes, I have.


MS. DeMARCO:  That evidence is located in our compendium of documents at tab 1, for the Board's reference. 


Does this still represent your view?


MR. HAMAL:  Yes.  There are a couple of typographical errors that I think we'll correct, but this does represent my views.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would you like to take us through those now, Mr. Hamal?


MR. HAMAL:  Certainly.  If you turn to page 12; this is the carry-over paragraph 18.  You'll notice the fourth bullet down at the very end has a typographical error.  It has a ", and" that can be deleted, so that the "NOx." is how it should end, with the footnote 11.  That's the first typo.


On the bottom of that page, in footnote 11, there's an incorrect tab reference.  It references tab IV, 14.  It should be tab VIII, 10.


Continuing on page 15, in the footnote -- the footnotes, plural, there's a couple of page reference errors.  Footnote 14 is to page 147.  It actually should be a two‑page reference, from 147 to 148.


And footnote 15 is incorrect in referencing 147.  It should be a reference to page 148. 


Lastly, on page 17, the carry-over paragraph 25, you'll notice in almost near the very end of that paragraph, there's a reference to the infamous 4/1000ths of a cent, and I have an extra zero in there.  It should be 0.004, deleting one of those zeros, cents/KWh.


So those are the typographical errors in my report.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Hamal.  Do you now adopt that evidence as filed?


MR. HAMAL:  I do.


MS. DeMARCO:  With the Board's indulgence, we do have some very brief direct questions for Mr. Hamal today.


Mr. Hamal, what does your evidence address?


MR. HAMAL:  My evidence addresses the economic issues associated with the choice between the 3X and 12X ramp rate assumption.


MS. DeMARCO:  And can you summarize your general concerns associated with the current 12X ramp rate multiplier, set out in your evidence.


MR. HAMAL:  Yes.  What we have now is dispatch being done with recognition of the actual limitations on the units, but the pricing being done based on 12X ramp rate assumption, which is clearly not reflecting their actual capabilities.  So there is a mismatch.  


There is a mismatch between the prices and the dispatch, and that mismatch leads to a number of inefficiencies and a distortion of the price signals.


I outline this starting in paragraph 1, which is on page 3 of my evidence, and I talk about the distortion of the price signals that result starting in paragraph 6.


MS. DeMARCO:  And what are the specific implications of that price dispatch mismatch for the Ontario electricity system?


MR. HAMAL:  I've identified eight.  Working through my evidence, the customers are not paying the true cost of the electricity they consume.  This is referenced in paragraph 11.


The customers have a diminished opportunity for demand responsiveness as a result, which is in paragraph 14.


There are diminished incentives and the current mechanism is not conducive to conservation, load management and demand side management, which is referenced in paragraph 16 in my evidence.


On the generation side, the signal impedes improvements in the generator operating costs and availability, which is paragraph 15.


If I can pause here for a moment, these combination of elements lead to a discrimination against consumers and generators that want to participant in a market where the prices truly reflect the need for supply and demand at the instant that they'd like to provide it.  So those who would like to be particularly responsive to price signals do not have that opportunity.


Going on, another problem in the market is exports are being subsidized by Ontario customers, which I reference in paragraph 18.


There are increased emissions in Ontario, increased carbon dioxide, sulphur dioxide, and NOx, which I reference in paragraph 18, and the current system detracts from reliability, which I address at the beginning of the end of paragraph 18 and on into paragraph 19.


Finally, the dampening of the natural volatility is likely to lead to increased prices for Ontario consumers over the long term, and I address that in paragraph 17.


MS. DeMARCO:  So, in your opinion, Mr. Hamal, do these concerns warrant a change in the current 12X ramp rate?


MR. HAMAL:  Yes.  Absolutely.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, in your view, are these concerns about the 12X ramp rate valid, even in a hybrid market where many generators are subject to government contracts?


MR. HAMAL:  Absolutely.  We have to recognize the market as it exists.  The current market does have ‑‑ is a hybrid market, but we first need to recognize the nature of those contracts and arrangements with the generators in Ontario.  The vast majority of the generators in Ontario are subject to real‑time price signals.  They have a strong incentive to respond to real‑time price signals.  


The mechanism by which that is done depends upon the individual contracts that are available, but that's the market we have and those are the incentives that they provide.


I address this starting in paragraph 19 and continuing on to paragraph 21 and 22, and I note that I'm not alone in this conclusion.  The market surveillance panel, as we've seen a considerable amount of evidence today, has been addressing this.  


As someone who's stepped back and recently read all the reports, what I noticed is an increasing trend in those reports talking about the detail, the problems, being more and more expansive about, specifically, the effect of the 12X ramp rate assumption, dampening price signals and causing problems to the market.


In my paragraph 20, starting on page 14, I have a very long quote from the market surveillance panel talking about three different areas of problems.


In retrospect, recognizing just how much we've been focussing on the market surveillance panel, I would include the introductory statement, and if you wanted to look, this is on tab 13 of the compendium of documents that I provided, page 147, but I think I can just read it to you.  And it's just the sentence that introduces this paragraph, because it sums it up quite succinctly, I think:

"The market surveillance panel has recently said the real‑time price signals generated by an efficient wholesale market are central to the economic success of the new hybrid market for several reasons..."


and then it goes on to talk about these reasons.


But clearly the market surveillance panel has been quite clear about that.


I have another statement at paragraph 21 quoting from the market surveillance panel and talking about the long‑term investment, because clearly, if you don't have the right price signals, you don't have the right basis for making decisions about the future and decisions -- even under a hybrid market where those decisions are made by regulators or some other agency, you don't have the right signals about what the values of electricity is to the market.


And the market surveillance panel said, and I'm quoting from the bottom of my excerpt here: 

"These signals..." - and of course they're meaning the price signals - "...may also help the OPA and OEB avoid or minimize the potential for over-investment that can occur in a centrally planned regulatory regime.  The cost of this over-investment is ultimately borne by the province's ratepayers through the global adjustment."


And that's the end of that quote.


So they're clearly recognizing the long‑term implications of having distorted price signals, and I agree with this analysis by the market surveillance panel.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  The IESO has proposed a change to a 3X ramp rate through this market rule amendment.  What are your general views on that?


MR. HAMAL:  Oh, I think it should be done.  I think the evidence is quite clear, and, as I begin in paragraph 23 of my evidence, we have done a lot of research and review - and I mean collectively, many of the people in this room and the processes in these province - to look at this option.  


It's been studied.  It's ready to be implemented.  It can be done at effectively no cost, and it can be done now.  And I see no reason for waiting.


MS. DeMARCO:  Have you reviewed the IESO's cost impact analysis information, including in this filing?


MR. HAMAL:  Yes, I have.


MS. DeMARCO:  And what are your views on the IESO's cost impact analysis and conclusions?


MR. HAMAL:  I have looked at that cost analysis starting in 24, paragraph 24 of my evidence, and going all the way through 33.  If I can, I'd like to talk about both the IESO and AMPCO's review of that, as I understand it.


It looks reasonable.  I haven't done a replication or detailed analysis, but it's clear that there are dampening of price signals.  It is clear that there will be some price changes.  It's clear that the kind of adjustments we've been talking about all day today should be made to that calculation.


What I notice is the criticism that's been made by, as I understood it, AMPCO about the arbitrage effect.  I don't think it's correct to ignore that arbitrage effect.  It's not clear to me where AMPCO stands on that at this point, but it is clear to me that there would be an arbitrage adjustment that need be made, and the one that's made looks reasonable and conservative.  It’s clear to me that there should be some adjustment for congestion management, settlement credits, and also for intertie offer guarantees.  I think therefore it's reasonable.


In looking at their analysis, though, I think there is something that's missing, and I don't think it's been given enough focus today.  That is that the efficiencies we're trying to achieve have to do with changes in behaviour.  I'll admit right off that these are hard to predict, exactly what generators and load will do in response to better price signals, but I think the evidence is quite clear that people respond to price signals.  That's what we use price signals for.


So, while I can't quantify it either, I think it's wrong to ignore, and I don't think we should ignore that what we're really trying to do in a large way is change behaviour, to get it more incented to producing electricity when it's needed, to back off electricity when it's not needed, and moving to better price signals is likely to do that.  That's an effect that has been missed in the analysis done that we focussed on today.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Have you received the AMPCO economic analysis filed on Monday, March 26th, 2007?


MR. HAMAL:  Yes, I have.


MS. DeMARCO:  And have you had the opportunity to review that analysis?


MR. HAMAL:  I have.


MS. DeMARCO:  What are your views on the AMPCO economic analysis?


MR. HAMAL:  I have four points I'd like to make, and I would have rather done this in writing because these things get to be complicated, but I'll go through these four items.  I'm, of course, referring to Dr. Murphy's report.


The first point, and we've touched on it already, has to do with the fact that we have a hybrid market.  We do have a hybrid market; that's what exists in Ontario.  There's no denying that.  But the hybrid market leaves price signals for generators to respond, and gives them strong incentives to respond.  If they don't respond, while they may be covered by contracts, and we can look at the clean energy supply contracts in particular, while those are structured in a way that allows for a certain expected return to those generators, if they miss an hour of production when they're supposed to run, when the price says to run, that's money out of their pocket that they didn't get.  They're not going to be made up in some way.  They're going to lose that money that really is essential for them to earn the kind of earnings that was contemplated when they structured those contracts.  So they have a very strong incentive to provide energy.


It's true for many of the other contracts in the hybrid market; not all of them, but many of them.  And so we clearly need to recognize that those price signals have meaning.


The second item I'd like to touch on has to do with the -- I guess it's the second-best effect, and concerns whether there's any proof that it will lead to any greater overall efficiency.  In the middle of page 3 of Dr. Murphy's report, he states:

"There is no reason to believe that an increasing prices by moving to a 3X ramp rate would improve overall efficiency."


I disagree.


Now, what I've try to do is look at this submission to understand what the basis for this is.  The only calculation that's in here, that's referenced, is the improvements on uneconomic exports, which I think we've talked about today, including that is not only net benefit to consumers but the Ontario market overall.


The rest of these changes, there's a lot of talk here about we don't know which way it would go.  And again, I can't speak for Dr. Murphy and his opinion on that.  To me it's quite clear.  We're ignoring an important constraint in the marketplace.  When you ignore an important constraint, you lead to the inefficient outcome.  By moving toward 3X ramp rate I think we will capture some of those efficiencies.  So I disagree with that.  And I wanted to point out what I view as sort of a lack of support for that conclusion.


The third item I want to turn to is on page 4 of his evidence.  It's a statement that I had a great deal of trouble with in reading.

"The IESO's analysis shows that the introduction of a 3X ramp rate plus MIO would result in prices that are essentially the same under the 12X approach with myopic pricing."


This is a statement we've talked about quite a bit.


I frankly am not certain where Dr. Murphy lands, at this point, because at some point we are told that that was not 1X but it was 3X.  Sometimes we were told that it was MIO or it wasn't MIO.  I do have a couple of observations to make.


I now understand, as a result of his testimony this morning, for at least some period of time, the support for that statement was to be found in what I believe is the IESO's original evidence, section 6, I believe.


MS. DeMARCO:  I believe it's section 8, tab 9.


MR.  HAMAL:  That's right.  Section 8, tab 9.  Thank you.


I'll preface this because it's not clear at the end of his testimony whether this was really his reliance or not, but it certainly was mentioned at one point in time.


Again, he's looking at this to conclude that there's no change in going from 3X to 12X.  When you look at this analysis, which is a one-hour, 12-interval analysis, represented by an internal e-mail and not presented as a report, as far as I know, to anyone externally, on its face it looks like a pretty inadequate way to draw a conclusion about the market overall.


The second thing I notice is, and the columns aren't quite clear, but we have a simulated price and then on the right-hand side we have a 3X price as was described by the IESO.


There are no differences here.  So, again, it's correct to say this analysis shows that there's no difference.  But that just means we don't have a good hour to evaluate the effect of going from 3X to 12X.  This really is not telling  about the issues that are before the Board.


If you read the fourth paragraph, the one with the redaction, it says that:

"The last available fossil unit had a certain price, and thus all fossil units were exhausted.  As a result market claim price was met by Hydro resources, which are assumed to have an infinite ramp rate."


Now we understand why there's no difference here.  We've picked an hour where the 3X ramp rate or the 12X ramp rate clearly has no value or meaning because the Hydro units can respond virtually instantaneously.  I don't understand how anyone could rely on this analysis to draw any conclusions.


The second choice of support for this sentence appeared to have been in the IESO's original analysis, section 3.  This is the first volume, tab 4.


Again, I'm reaching quite a bit to say that this is the support for this analysis.  But I'm trying to understand it.


There's a memo at the front, and it ends at page 4.  And the next page is a table "Simulation results from sandbox testing of MIO pricing 1."


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, Mr. Hamal.  For the Board's convenience, could you restate the reference?


MR. HAMAL:  The IESO's filing of February -- the first volume, section iii, tab 4.


MR. RUPERT:  So I'm clear, Mr. Hamal, this is the one that starts out with the draft minutes of the 24th meeting of the market price working group?


MR. HAMAL:  That's right.  


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.


MR. HAMAL:  And it has four pages of text, and then a table.


And, again, this point it sort of has been suggested might support the statement that was made in Dr. Murphy's evidence.  And it looks at the difference between ‑‑ the table at the top, 12X ramp rate MCP, and there's a string of numbers for different days, representative days that were studied.


The next has MIO incremental.  And I had a brief discussion ‑‑ looking at this, you'll see that the top shows the actual numbers.  The lower table shows the differences.  So it gives you an idea if one should be higher or lower.  And the average overall days is a minus 0.5, which appears to be rather small.


I understand that there are some issues with this analysis, about whether it's constrained run or unconstrained run, but clearly there is a small change here, and I think that's one of the problems we're having is the whole effect that's being debated, even at the worst case, which I think makes no sense at all.  2 percent is small.


It's not small when it comes out of someone's pocket, but the changes are all at such a low level that you can't just dismiss these and say ‑‑ you know, that's what we're studying.  We're studying whether it's worth making these small changes of a percent or less than a percent.


What's interesting about this table to me is, if you look at the incremental, it averages minus 0.5, but on individual days, sometimes it's plus, sometimes it's minus.  At one time it's minus 8.  This is significant, and I think that's a message that's being lost here in what we're trying to do. 


The average cost of course is important to consumers, but the signal we're trying to get is the instantaneous amount, and we expect it to go up higher and go down below.  On average, it's pretty close to being the same price it was before, but the value is coming from when the spikes occur going high and low, and getting a response to that.  That's where we're going to get our efficiency gains.  


We're fortunate that we can get the efficiency gains and have effects even analyzed here, which are quite small.


So I don't understand this statement and what support we have for it, because I think -- and I'm back in Dr. Murphy's testimony, and what really strikes me about this ties into the fourth point that I want to address in his submission.


At the bottom of the next paragraph, and this is a number we've talked about quite a bit, and he says, "involves a wealth transfer of $225 million."  Now, I have a lot of issues with that number.  I don't think it's right.  I don't think there's many aspects having to do with arbitrage and congestion management settlement credits, OPG rebates -- there's many things with that that I would take issue with.


But what strikes me about it is, in two paragraphs, he goes from saying there's no price difference and there's a wealth transfer of $225 million.  Now, I don't need any additional backup than what's right here.  As I say, they both can't be right, and I don't know how one can represent both of these issues at the same time.


I think the facts are that there will be price differences in the intervals.  Those price differences in the intervals are important, but we're fortunate, when going to a more efficient outcome here, that they tend to cancel each other off, and the net effect on consumers is actually quite, quite modest.  Those are my comments on this report.


MS. DeMARCO:  So, in conclusion, Mr. Hamal, what is your view on the proposed 3X ramp rate market rule amendment?


MR. HAMAL:  I think there's overwhelming evidence that it makes sense.  It will lead to a more efficient market.  It can be done at low cost and done now, and it should be.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  I offer Mr. Hamal for cross‑examination and questions of the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Rodger.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Hamal, if I could refer you to page 7 of your report, please.  The heading of this page is "The 12X ramp rate impedes the stated Ontario policy goal of having customers pay the true cost of electricity that they consume."


And you have an italicized passage in the middle of the page, and part of it reads:

"In determining the welfare effects of regulation, the first point to note is that a competitive equilibrium achieves a social welfare optimum."


Is this concept commonly referred to as the Pareto optimum?


MR. HAMAL:  I think that's fair, yes.


MR. RODGER:  And how would you define Pareto optimum?


MR. HAMAL:  Without getting overly econometric jargon, it's the best you can do under those circumstances when looking at single changes to the market.


MR. RODGER:  Now, in the second sentence, it reads:

"Thus, if price regulation causes price to deviate from marginal cost in an economy that is currently at a competitive equilibrium, then regulation will result in a suboptimal allocation of resources." 


Can you tell me, sir, if this conclusion still holds if we were starting from a position which is not a competitive equilibrium?


MR. HAMAL:  I don't know -- it seems to me that you're asking ‑‑ I don't understand the question.  If we're not starting from competitive equilibrium in a Pareto optimum, the best we can do --


MR. RODGER:  Mm‑hm.


MR. HAMAL:  Are you asking me, then, if we cause a regulation to deviate from that -- I mean...


MR. RODGER:  Well, I'm looking at this quote in your testimony.


MR. HAMAL:  Let me ‑‑


MR. RODGER:  Go ahead.


MR. HAMAL:  I think you're asking me about second-best solutions, which of course are in my testimony and I talk about it, and they're something we need to be concerned about.


So it is true that if you don't start from a competitive equilibrium that's Pareto optimum - we don't have the perfect world, which doesn't exist - then we need to be concerned about other facts, but it doesn't mean that we ignore making any changes or don't give some thoughtful consideration to trying to make the market better.


MR. RODGER:  All right.  Earlier today I gave you a quote from a textbook entitled "Welfare Economics" by Boadway and Bruce, and the quote that I asked you to look at dealt with this basic problem of ‑‑


MS. DeMARCO:  I don't mean to interrupt my friend, but I wonder if that might go into evidence.


MR. KAISER:  Do we have that, Mr. Rodger?


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K2.8, Mr. Chair.


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, I've just received an excerpt of the quote, and further to our discussions, we asked for the full text to be put in.  So I wonder if that might be put into evidence.


MR. RODGER:  Which full text?


MS. DeMARCO:  The full excerpt that was provided to Mr. Hamal.


MR. HAMAL:  Chapter 4 has in its title "The Theory of Second-Best," and my request was if we were to be asked about that, then we could deal with the full textbook regarding that issue.


MR. RODGER:  I have the full textbook here.


MR. HAMAL:  And I have the excerpt here.


MR. MARK:  I think, Mr. Chairman, the witness has a document which is different than the one Mr. Rodger handed out, and I think the document the witness has should be our exhibit.


MS. DeMARCO:  And I understand that copies of that document have been made and should go into evidence.


MR. MILLAR:  Do we have copies to circulate?  I guess we're striking the current 2.8 or, Mr. Rodger, do you still wish that to be on the record?


MR. RODGER:  That's the only quote I intend to refer to, but the witness certainly can refer to other parts of the chapter if he so wishes.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, for lack of knowing what to do, I will keep Exhibit K2.8 as you circulated it.  Ms. 

DeMarco --


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Millar, if I could suggest, the excerpt from the full chapter is being now circulated, so it is more appropriate for the full chapter to go into evidence as Exhibit K2.8.


MR. MILLAR:  If there's no objection to that, we will then call that Exhibit K2.8, and that is chapter 4 of "Welfare Economics" by Boadway and Bruce; is that correct?


MR. HAMAL:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.8:  CHAPTER 4 FROM TEXTBOOK ENTITLED "WELFARE ECONOMICS" BY BOADWAY AND BRUCE

MR. RODGER:  So the quote that I wanted to refer you to reads as follows --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, due to a small technical problem, I was only able to make a few copies of the chapter on the break.  I have one for now that I can hand up to the Board.  We can provide more.  I simply wasn't able to do it over the afternoon break.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  Why don't you do that?


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm happy to give up my copy, as well, should it assist the Board.


MR. RODGER:  So the quote that I'm taking from this chapter on page 131 reads as follows:

"Unless these policies correct for all distortions and market failures so as to bring about a first best Pareto optimum allocation, the remaining conditions for a Pareto optimum provide, in general, no guidance.  In other words, although it may be desirable to set price equal to marginal cost in, say, a public utility, if all of the other Pareto optimum conditions are satisfied, it may or may not be desirable if any one of the other conditions is not satisfied."


Would you agree with this statement, sir?


MR. HAMAL:  Not taken in isolation.  But I recognize the full context in which this chapter is written, I  agree.  


MR. RODGER:  How would one go about determining when to ignore certain aspects to have economic model you are using and when you would use all of its implications?


MR. HAMAL:  I refer to this chapter to use it as guidance in answering your question.  Frankly, to use it to discuss what we spent a fair amount of time on this morning, this idea that because of the theory of second best somehow means that economists can't give any guidance on what we should do in these circumstances of imperfect markets -- it's been my experience that economists rarely reach that conclusion that they have no guidance they can provide.  This chapter speaks to that.


The chapter is called "Market failure and the theory of second best."  It's chapter 4.  It follows chapters 1, 2, and 3, which talk about a perfect market.  It's important to recognize that up to chapter 3 is talking about a perfect market, so that I could read the following quote.  On page what I think is 103, which is the second paragraph of this chapter, it says:

"It is fairly obvious that as description of actual markets the competitive market assumptions of chapter 3 are unrealistic."

This idea that we need to work with perfectly competitive markets, and that's the only place where we can give guidance, really doesn't reflect the reality of the world we live in.  There are very few perfect markets.


What do we do?  We have a situation where we don't have a perfect market, and we try to make it better; of course we try to make it better.  I don’t know if this is true or not, but someone mentioned there were 150 to 200 changes to this market that have been made since it's opened.  And it's reasonable to expect markets to evolve and to get better.


What I found particularly interesting about this chapter on this issue is page 133.  There's a title, in section 4.2 - this is a section heading that's titled:  "Evaluating efficiency gains small changes."


I'll state right now, that's what I think we're facing, is a small change to the market for an efficiency gain.  It says:

"Although the foregoing discussion implies that second-best welfare economics will be difficult to treat in many cases, the task is not impossible.  One approach that eliminates many of the difficulties associated with the second-best approach is the second better, or nth best approach, where only small changes in a distorted economy are evaluated."


And there's a cite to another document:

"This approach considers only a small differential change in, say, some set of distortions.  The benefits of adopting this approach are three-fold."


Then it goes on to describe that, and I could read this into the record, but if we have this whole document in, I think that's fine.


This says, in response to your question, yes, we have to worry about second best issues.  But where the changes are small, where the changes clearly identify efficiencies, where we give thoughtful consideration to the outcome, then of course economists have views on that, and it can make sense to move in that direction.


MR. RODGER:  One of the themes of your paper is that the 12X ramp rate significantly distorts price signals.  That's the heading on page 5 of your report.  You think that the use of a 1X ramp rate would also distort price signals?


MR. HAMAL:  I'm concerned about a price dispatch mismatch.  Going to 1X would still result in a dispatch.  It certainly wouldn't lead to a fictitious ramp rate assumption.  It sounds like it's going in the right direction, but it doesn't lead to the complete matching and elimination of that mismatch because of the issue of MIO.


MR. RODGER:  So 1X still ruts in some price distortions; is that fair?


MR. HAMAL:  That would be some mismatch, yes.


MR. RODGER:  How would you determine the extent of the distortions caused by ramp rates?  How would you gauge that?


MR. HAMAL:  Ramp rates - I'm going back to the 12X which we have now, and as I discuss in my testimony, I think it's around paragraph 7 - when we use a 12X ramp rate, we're ignoring ramp rate assumptions.  There are a lot of units, not all of them, and certainly there is slow-moving units that don't change very much, but the kind of units that typically respond to price changes, you know, over the course of an hour, can pretty much swing from high load to low load.  That is a ballpark.  That's the kind of capability units have.


When we multiply the ramp rate by 12 we eliminate consideration of ramp rate in setting prices.  Well, that’s not true.  It’s a real constraint that the IESO needs to consider when they dispatch the system.


When I look at the option in front of the Board of moving to a 3X ramp rate, we're moving pragmatically in the right direction, toward recognizing this constraint, and that's the conclusion I reach.


MR. RODGER:  Do I take it from that that it's really not possible, then, to determine the extent of the distortions caused by variation ramp rates, whether it's 12X, 3X, 1X?


MR. HAMAL:  I don't know what you mean by "the extent of the distortions".  The price dispatch mismatch could be calculated.  That price signal distortion could be calculated for sure.


There has been talk about shadow prices and differences between shadow prices and 12X ramp rate pricing, and that would go -- I haven't looked at the detail of that analysis, but that would go a along way, I think, to answering your question.


MR. RODGER:  It's just one line I want to put to you, sir.  It's found in the IESO filing, volume 1, Roman III, tab 26.  This is a NERA slide deck.  And the heading is "Neither myopic dispatch nor 12X" --


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, what page are you referring to, Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Slide 11.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is that the one entitled -- oh.  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  And it's entitled:  "Neither myopic dispatch nor 12X ramp rate reflect actual dispatch."


The third bullet is:

"Both the myopic 1X dispatch and 12X ramp rate are distortions."  


Then the next bullet says:

"In principle, if all elements of pricing were done close to actual dispatch, neither 12X or 1X myopic would produce an efficient result."


Do you agree with those statements of NERA, sir?


MR. HAMAL:  The first bullet is, they're all distortions.  I think that's -- I agree with that.  It's consistent with there being a price dispatch mismatch.


I'm trying to read -- all principles, if all...


 [Witness peruses document]


As I sit here, I'm not sure what is meant by if all principles of pricing were done close to actual dispatch.  I'm just not sure what that means.


MR. RODGER:  So you can't comment on whether you agree?


MR. HAMAL:  I haven't studied this, and sitting here I'm just not sure how to interpret that so I can't comment on that.


MR. RODGER:  Let me ask you it this way.  Are you aware that we have uniform pricing in Ontario?


MR. HAMAL:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  A uniform system of pricing.  Do you think that that causes distortions?


MR. HAMAL:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  Are you familiar with the regulated price plan in Ontario?  The regulated price plan?


MR. HAMAL:  To customers?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. HAMAL:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And does that cause distortions?


MR. HAMAL:  I know less about that.  I believe it causes some distortions on load.  It's not clear to me that that causes distortions to generators.


MR. RODGER:  How about Ontario government policies that regulate prices for most of Ontario's generators?  Do you think that causes distortions in the market?


MR. HAMAL:  That's the hybrid market.  I think it needs to be recognized -- I'm not sure that it causes distortion.  Those are contracts which control how to create different sets of incentives largely for the generators there are in the market to follow price signals, but the details of that would have to be considered depending on what issue we were facing.


MR. RODGER:  How about the existence of market power?  Do you think that creates the potential for market distortions relative to perfect competition?


MR. HAMAL:  I don't ‑‑ you're asking me to accept the principle that there's market power in Ontario as it currently exists.  I do a lot of market power work.  I'm not willing to accept that.


MR. RODGER:  What I'm trying to understand, sir, is, considering all of these imperfections and distortions of the Ontario market, how do you characterize the distortions that result from 12X, in your view?


MR. HAMAL:  I characterize them as a problem in the market that can be fixed now at no cost and result in direct improvements.  I mean, we've got price signals whose job it is to motivate people to respond, and I'll look at this ‑‑ this applies to the conservation side, it applies to the load side, but it also applies to generators.  


And right now, if a generator had a choice between saying my ramp rate is two megawatts a minute or my ramp rate is 3 megawatts a minute, it has almost no incentive to go to the higher, more aggressive number that would give it an obligation to respond greater, because there's no price out there.


So if that was a choice to a generator, it would ‑‑ my advice, as an advisor, would be to pick the 2X.  Why commit yourself to something that could give you a problem?  That's depriving the IESO of supply in that instant, because it's not going to have as many people responsive to price.


And that's a real reliability issue.  That's a distortion that I think we should correct.


MR. RODGER:  And is there a way that you think that the distortions caused by 12X could be ranked against all the other distortions in the Ontario market?


MR. HAMAL:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And how is that?


MR. HAMAL:  We could rank it on the availability of making a correction and the cost of making a correction.  It seems to me this is available to us right now, in this room, to make this correction, and it could be implemented at what I understand to be essentially no cost. 


I'm not aware that any of the other problems in the Ontario market are so readily available for correction.


MR. RODGER:  So, in your view, what would be the top criteria to go through that exercise?


MR. HAMAL:  Well, I'm just ‑‑ one criteria is how available it is and what the costs of implementing it are.  I mean, you know, are there other criteria?  Which provides better benefits, which provides economic value?  I'm sure there's many other ways you could rank options, but I think ‑‑ I'm a practical guy.  We should take practical and pragmatic steps to improving the market.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, sir.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. Millar.


MS. AVERY:  If I could have one clarification question, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. AVERY:

MS. AVERY:  It's in connection with Madame Panel Member's question earlier today, about the IESO estimate that Bruce B might receive another $15.5 million as a result of the proposed market rule amendment.


MR. HAMAL:  Could you speak up, please?


MS. AVERY:  Certainly.  Madame Panel Member earlier today had a question about the IESO estimate that Bruce B might, in itself, receive another $15.5 million as a result of the proposed market rule amendment or the move to 3X ramp rate.


Can you tell me how difficult it is to estimate the impact of a market rule amendment such as this one, and particularly this one, on any one generator?


MR. HAMAL:  I think it's very difficult.  We need to have a lot of information that I haven't seen that hasn't been presented and hasn't been discussed.  I don't know where that number came from, but we'd need to do a lot of review in understanding how you would do such an analysis, if it's even possible.


MS. AVERY:  And would some of that information that you would need to have are the forward contracts themselves and the terms of those contracts?


MR. HAMAL:  Certainly.  To the extent that that supplier is covered under forward contracts, they're not going to see any of the benefits or any of the change in market prices, because they've already sold that output.


MS. AVERY:  And in connection, then, with Dr. Rivard's evidence earlier today that arbitrage may have effectively eliminated any change in the HOEP, how would that affect any analysis about the impacts on any one particular generator?


MR. HAMAL:  Well, that's just another problem of trying to understand where that number came from in the first place.  Obviously, if arbitrage were to eliminate this price difference, then that number would most certainly be wrong, but we don't even know what assumptions go under it.


MS. AVERY:  Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Ms. DeMarco, do you have anything by ‑‑


MS. DeMARCO:  I do not.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Hamal.


MR. HAMAL:  Thank you.


MS. AVERY:  Sir, it appears that TransCanada will be the last panel today, and I will be proffering Bill Taylor or Mr. William Taylor today as our witness to speak to the evidence that has been filed.


I understand it was filed as Exhibit 14, as well as a CV, which was also filed as Exhibit 14, and so if I could have Mr. Taylor go up to the panel table and get sworn in, that would be helpful.  


TRANSCANADA ‑ Panel 1

William Taylor; Sworn

EXAMINATION‑IN‑CHIEF BY MS. AVERY:

MS. AVERY:  Now, Mr. Taylor, before I have you adopt the evidence or the prefiled evidence as your evidence in this proceeding, I'd like for you to clarify for us an error that's found on page 13, line 16, of the evidence.


MR. TAYLOR:  Certainly.  We have one small correction to our evidence on page 13, line 16.  That line starts with, "The market design adopted by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission."


We'd like to change the word "adopted" to "considered." That's the only change we have.


MS. AVERY:  And apart from that one change, then you do adopt the prefiled evidence and your curriculum vitae as your evidence for this proceeding?


MR. TAYLOR:  I do.


MS. AVERY:  Sir, can you please outline for the Board your education and also your role at TransCanada.


MR. TAYLOR:  Certainly.  Briefly, on my education, I have a Bachelor's of applied science degree in civil engineering and a power engineering certificate.  In addition, I've ‑‑ which isn't on my CV, but I've taken some advanced management training at the Harvard Business School, and I've worked at TransCanada for the last 11 years, 22 years in total of energy industry experience.


My title at the present time for TransCanada, my responsibilities are -- relate to our eastern power division.  I'm the vice president of our eastern commercial division, which encompasses responsibilities for TransCanada's operating assets in Ontario, Quebec, the Maritime provinces of Canada, New York State, and the New England states.


I reside in Westborough, Massachusetts, and we operate those operations from our office there.


MS. AVERY:  Now, unless it would be useful for the Board for me to go through his evidence in brief, I would simply proffer Mr. Taylor for cross‑examination at this point.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  No questions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Nothing from me, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.


MR. TAYLOR:  Sir.  It was an easy day's work.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger, Mr. Mark, we've considered the proposal you put forward this morning with respect to argument.  That's acceptable.


MR. RODGER:  Fine.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  So we'll proceed on that basis.


MR. MARK:  So I think the only thing -- the other thing we have to deal with, Mr. Chairman, is this issue of the excision of the evidence.  There have been some efforts which have gone back and forth.  I'm not entirely apprised of the status.  I think they're in Mr. Rodger's hands to comment on the excisions that were identified by the other parties.


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, if I could be of assistance, Mr. Sidlofsky and I were just having a discussion.  A draft document has been circulated, and I think the ball is in my court to verify two small changes to that document, and in five or so minutes I imagine we could probably tender this to you.  So you can see precisely what...


MR. KAISER:  Do you need us to stay for this or not?  Can we leave it on the basis that you'll come back to the Board if there's a problem?  It sounds like you're almost home on this.


MS. DeMARCO:  I think that's fair, from my perspective.  I don't know about --


MR. KAISER:  So, we'll expect you to file that document.


MR. MARK:  If we can solve this in five minutes, I'd rather do it, rather than getting back-sliding.


MR. KAISER:  Do you want us to take a break?


MS. DeMARCO:  You don't even have to leave.  If I can just scoot down there and see.


[Off-the-record discussion]


MR. MARK:  Mr. Chairman, I think they need a couple of minutes to true up a copy.  I think the exercise is done.  I think they need a couple of minutes to true up copy and it's done. 


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, would you like us to read it into the record, or would you prefer to be handed a redacted copy of the document?


MR. KAISER:  The latter would be better.


I think if there's agreement, we accept that you could send us the document.  Just to put on the record that you have something that you, Mr. Sidlofsky, and Mr. Mark agree to.


MR. MARK:  Why don't you do this.  Let's file one copy of it as is, and then I'm sure Mr. Sidlofsky or Ms. DeMarco will file and circulate a typed version of it.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.


MS. DeMARCO:  Or if we could ask Mr. Millar to make a copy and distribute that, that would also be great.  Then we'll file an updated copy at some point.  Not today.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  Why don't you mark one, and let's give this an exhibit number, Mr. Millar, please.


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K2.9.  What will we call this, Mr. Rodger or Ms. DeMarco?


MS. DeMARCO:  It’s the list of materials affected by Board order on relevance, materials to be...


MR. KAISER:  Struck from the record.


MS. DeMARCO:  Affected, I guess, because it's --


MR. MILLAR:  Is it the list of materials being struck or kept on?


MR. MARK:  They'll be either struck or redacted. 

MR. KAISER:  So does this document indicate which portions are to be redacted from those that are not being entirely removed?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, Mr. Chair.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.9:  LIST OF MATERIALS AFFECTED BY BOARD ORDER ON RELEVANCE, MATERIALS TO BE STRUCK OR REDACTED

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, sir, we do have a copy now to hand out.


MR. KAISER:  Right.  Give that to Mr. Millar.  He'll make copies.  


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I don't think there's any need for us to sit while I make copies.


MR. KAISER:  No, that's fine.  I was just ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  I'm not aware of there being anything else, but I'll leave that to my friends.


MR. KAISER:  On this basis, this concludes the hearing.  We look forward to receiving your argument, Mr. Rodger, on Monday, as agreed, and the reply argument was to come in on Wednesday, and your reply was Thursday.


MR. MARK:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Thank you, ladies.  Thank you for getting through this today.


‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:53 p.m. 


















PAGE  

